



University of Groningen

Exploration in red knots

Ersoy, Selin S

DOI: 10.33612/diss.248380062

IMPORTANT NOTE: You are advised to consult the publisher's version (publisher's PDF) if you wish to cite from it. Please check the document version below.

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Publication date: 2022

Link to publication in University of Groningen/UMCG research database

Citation for published version (APA): Ersoy, S. S. (2022). Exploration in red knots: The role of personality in the expression of individual behaviour across contexts. University of Groningen. https://doi.org/10.33612/diss.248380062

Copyright

Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

The publication may also be distributed here under the terms of Article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright Act, indicated by the "Taverne" license. More information can be found on the University of Groningen website: https://www.rug.nl/library/open-access/self-archiving-pure/taverneamendment.

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Downloaded from the University of Groningen/UMCG research database (Pure): http://www.rug.nl/research/portal. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to 10 maximum.

Exploration in red knots

the role of personality in the expression of individual behaviour across contexts

Selin Ersoy

Colophon

The research presented in the thesis was conducted at the Department of Coastal Systems at the NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research, 't Horntje (Texel), The Netherlands, according to the requirements of the Graduate School of Science and Engineering (GSSE), University of Groningen, The Netherlands.

The research was funded by the core funding of NIOZ and the NWO-Veni grant to A.I.Bijleveld (VI. Veni.192.051). The printing of this thesis was funded by the University of Groningen and NIOZ.

This thesis should be cited as:

Ersoy, S. (2022) Exploration in red knots: the role of personality in the expression of individual behaviour across contexts. PhD Thesis, University of Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands.

Layout and design: Robin Weijland | www.persoonlijkproefschrift.nl Cover Design: Susanne van Donk Photographs: Benjamin Gnep (p. 6, 22, 76, 156), Jan van de Kam (p. 48, 68, 126), Peter Prokosh (www.grida.no/resources/1571, p. 98), Selin Ersoy (p. 112) Printing: Ridderprint | www.ridderprint.nl. © Selin Ersoy (selin.ersoy@gmail.com)



Exploration in red knots

the role of personality in the expression of individual behaviour across contexts

PhD thesis

to obtain the degree of PhD at the University of Groningen on the authority of the Rector Magnificus Prof. C. Wijmenga and in accordance with the decision by the College of Deans.

This thesis will be defended in public on

Tuesday 22 November 2022 at 14.30 hours

by

Selin Ersoy

born on 6 June 1990 in Konak, Turkey

Supervisors Prof. T. Piersma Prof. A.G.G. Groothuis

Co-supervisor Dr. A.I. Bijleveld

Assessment Committee Prof. C. Both Prof. J.Z. Shamoun-Baranes Prof. M. Dammhahn



Contents

Chapter 1	
General Introduction	9
Chapter 2	
Exploration speed in captivity predicts foraging tactics and diet in free-living red	23
knots	
Chapter 3	
Learning to be a shellfish forager: variation in exploration and diet differ between	49
juvenile and adult red knots	
Box 1	
Slow-exploring red knots benefit foraging in groups	69
Chapter 4	
Free-living red knots show personality-related movements at night, but not during the	77
day	
Chapter 5	
When slow explorers can be fast: personality-related differences in post-breeding	99
arrival of red knots in the Wadden Sea	
Chapter 6	
General Discussion	113
References	128
(Co-)Author contact information	146
List of publications	148
Summary	153
Samenvatting	152
Samenvatting	133
Acknowledgements	157



CHAPTER 1

General Introduction

Selin Ersoy

Chapter 1

Intraspecific variation in behaviour

Biological diversity has been explained by mutations and natural (and sexual) selection ever since Darwin (Darwin, 1859). While only the differences between different genus and taxa have been discussed from adaptative perspective at first, it became increasingly popular to discuss the differences between closely related species by the 1960s (Lack, 1961) and different populations of the same species by the 1980s (Endler, 1986). Since the 1990s, it has become possible to study and discus differences between individuals in the same population (Wilson, 1998). However, researchers were still mainly interested in the average behaviour of a population, and intraspecific variation in behaviour was assumed to be 'noise' in the data. At the start of the 2000s, it became clear that individual differences in behaviour can be consistent over time and/ or across different contexts (e.g., studies under the framework of 'animal personality', 'temperament', or 'coping style') and hence, are likely to have consistent ecological and evolutionary consequences (Gosling, 2001; Sih et al., 2004).

Individuals of all ages and sexes show behavioural traits that are consistent over time, but differ across individuals, and affect the expression of behaviours in different situations (hereafter 'personality traits'; Réale et al., 2007; Stamps and Groothuis, 2010a). Comparative psychologists and behavioural ecologists have shown that animals differ in personality traits, and that it is a common, cross-taxonomic phenomenon in nature (e.g., humans: Costa and McCrae, 1992; mammals: Koolhaas et al., 1999; Réale et al., 2000; birds: Verbeek et al., 1994; reptiles: Cote et al., 2010a; fish: Bell and Sih, 2007; insects: Tremmel and Müller, 2012; crustaceans: Bridger et al., 2015). The most common personality traits reported in the literature are boldness, exploration, dominance, aggressiveness, and sociability (Réale et al., 2010a) and these traits are commonly quantified in laboratory settings where conditions can be controlled and/or manipulated. In some cases, these personality traits correlate with each other in reoccurring patterns (e.g., positive relationship between boldness and exploration) and create 'behavioural syndromes' (Sih et al., 2004). Personality traits often also correlate with ecologically relevant behaviours such as social information use (Kurvers et al., 2010), foraging site fidelity (Harris et al., 2019), and habitat use (Boon et al., 2008).

The field of animal personality provides a flexible concept that can explain variation in behaviour even when the behaviour is not 'optimal' in some cases (Biro and Stamps, 2008; Réale et al., 2010b). For example, theories based on cost-benefit trade-offs predict that bolder or faster exploring individuals may receive a benefit by outcompeting conspecifics to gain better access to resources, but may also take more risks which makes them more susceptible to predation (Bremner-Harrison et al., 2004; Carter et al., 2010). These theories have been proposed to explain optimization of behaviour from individual level (vs. population level) and describe the "sub-optimal" behavioural tendencies associated with animal personalities (Dall et al., 2004; Dingemanse and Wolf, 2010; Wolf and Weissing, 2010). Different personality traits are expected to represent behavioural phenotypes of equivalent fitness (Wright et al., 2018) and may be expected to show different cost-benefit trade-offs. Therefore, the identification of the variation in consistent behavioural traits, understanding the origin (ultimate cause) of the variation, and how it is maintained (proximate cause) in natural populations should be of high relevance to behavioural ecologists (Hogan, 2017; Laland et al., 2015; Tinbergen, 1963).

Development of personality traits

Even if animals are born and raised under the same conditions, they may still show individual differences in behaviour (Bell et al., 2009; Edenbrow and Croft, 2011; Sinn et al., 2006). For example, genetically identical fish studied in captivity under highly standardized conditions still developed personality traits (Amazon molly, *Poecilia formosa*, Bierbach et al., 2017). How individual differences in personality traits can occur even when every individual (or genotype) is exposed to the same conditions is a question that is still unanswered (Stamps and Groothuis, 2010a; Stamps and Krishnan, 2014, 2017). It has been suggested that individual differences in experience (also reflecting environmental influences) induce positive feedback loops that gradually fix the behaviour of individuals on different developmental trajectories (Dall et al., 2012; Sih et al., 2015). This may be why in the wild, personality traits are found to be more stable in adults than in juveniles (Edenbrow and Croft, 2011; Fratkin et al., 2013; Costa and McCrae, 1994).

An animal's personality trait can develop during ontogeny as a result of individual experiences (Stamps and Groothuis, 2010a, 2010b). For example, Madagascar hissing cockroaches *Gromphadorhina portentosa* became shyer when they were repeatedly exposed to predator attacks compared to individual with no such experience (McDermott et al., 2014). While studies about the role of experience and learning in developing personality traits has advanced in the last decade (since Stamps and Groothuis, 2010b), it

is still unknown how the relation between the genes, epigenetic factors, maternal effects, and personal experiences affect the development of personality (Cabrera et al., 2021).

Feedback between exploration and foraging behaviour

Foraging is essential for most organisms as it directly influences fitness. Individuals can differ in their methods of detecting prey (hereafter 'foraging tactics') if food items induce differences in the behaviours needed to collect them (e.g., Newsome et al., 2009). By foraging for a certain food type, an individual can improve its foraging efficiency to detect, capture, and process this specific food (Heinrich, 1976). The feedback between foraging tactics, food type, and foraging efficiency can create consistent variation in foraging tactics between members of the same population (Luttbeg and Sih, 2010; Sih et al., 2015). The term individual niche specialisation (particularly in terms of behavioural traits associated with foraging behaviour and diet choice) has been used to describe consistent individual variation in resource use (Araújo et al., 2011; Bolnick et al., 2002; Ceia and Ramos, 2015; Odling-Smee et al., 2013).

Animal personality and individual niche specialisation are therefore largely concerned with the same behavioural properties (i.e., among individual consistency) but are applied in different contexts (Bergmüller and Taborsky, 2010; Carneiro et al., 2017; Toscano et al., 2016). For example, exploratory personality (typically measured in open-field test, e.g., Verbeek et al., 1994) may relate to energetic traits (Careau et al., 2008), resource use (Gharnit et al., 2020; van Overveld and Matthysen, 2010) and digestive morphology (Bijleveld et al., 2014; Fürtbauer, 2015). These relationships are likely linked to dietary differences – and thus foraging behaviour – between individuals, and the feedback between foraging behaviour and its dietary outcome is likely to influence the maintenance of exploratory behaviour of an individual.

The spatiotemporal distribution and availability of specific resources can influence the emergence of behavioural traits. Through its role in the expression of a behaviour, the environment influences which behavioural phenotypes are exposed to selection and modified during development (Piersma and van Gils, 2011; West-Eberhard, 2005). This is particularly prevalent when different prey species vary in habitat or behaviour (e.g., Ringler, 1983). For example, passerine birds such as great tits, *Parus major*, select different habitats depending on their chosen prey type, searching for food both on the ground (e.g., nuts) and in the trees (e.g., caterpillars; Hinde, 1952). Eurasian oystercatchers, *Haematopus ostralegus*, modify their speed of movement when using two different foraging tactics to catch different prey types: visual foraging (quicker movements) to catch worms, *Nereis diversicolor*, and tactile foraging (slower movements) to dig up harder-shelled prey, *Macoma balthica*, (Ens et al., 1996). It is likely that the availability and density of the specific resource at the time that young animals start searching food by themselves influences which behavioural tactic they will be using. Through experience in catching certain prey type, individuals can specialise in a corresponding foraging tactic.

Linking personality traits to movement patterns

Movement as it is expressed at an individual level is a measurable result of many underlying structural, physiological, and behavioural mechanisms, which are triggered by environmental context (Spiegel et al., 2017; pers. com. A. I. Bijleveld). As all animals are mobile at some stage in their lives, to procure food, hide from predators, seek mating opportunities, and migrate between habitats (Heape, 1931), local or global movement patterns are great way to study consistent individual differences across contexts. Studying movement differences between individuals in the wild has become possible with technological advances in bio-logging techniques (Nathan et al., 2022; Shaw, 2020) and movement patterns have been shown to vary within species, within populations, and also within individuals (Shaw, 2020). In fact, studies show that individuals are highly repeatable in their movement patterns so that one could define 'spatial personalities' (Stuber et al., 2022). The framework of animal personality and that of movement ecology can complement each other because consistent differences between behaviour can explain how individuals adjust their behaviour in response to spatiotemporal variation in resources (Spiegel et al., 2017; Webber et al., 2020).

Links between personality and movement patterns have been established for boldness and exploration at both small and large scales of space use through theoretical models (e.g., DiNuzzo and Griffen, 2020) and empirical findings (e.g., Schirmer et al., 2019). Foraging-related movement patterns such as site fidelity (Harris et al., 2019), home range size (Michelangeli et al., 2021), and habitat selection (Boon et al., 2008; Leclerc et al., 2016) have been linked to experimentally measured boldness and exploration and they were found to explain how individuals trade off finding new resources and exploiting known resources (Patrick et al., 2017). Experimental studies showed that consistent exploratory behaviour in captivity is also consistent in the field as faster exploring blue tits were more likely to find new feeders in the natal forest than slower exploring blue tits *Cyanistes caeruleus* (Herborn et al., 2010). Dispersal has been linked to personality in multiple studies showing that bolder or faster exploring individuals disperse more readily or further than shyer or slower exploring individuals (e.g., Cote et al., 2010b; Dingemanse et al., 2003). A handful of studies show correlations between personality traits and migratory behaviour; bolder and more explorative individuals were more likely to migrate (partially migrating roach *Rutilus rutilus* Chapman et al., 2011; warblers Mettke-Hofmann et al., 2005) and visit more new sites during migration (great knots, *Calidris tenuirostris*, Chan, 2021). Since exploration as a personality trait is measured by movement traits in controlled settings, it is likely that exploration is associated with movement at both small and large scales in the wild (Bijleveld et al., 2014).

Adaptation to environmental change

From an adaptive perspective, it would be optimal if individuals constantly adjust their behaviour according to current conditions. This could still result in behavioural variation among individuals in the population but without the within-individual consistency in behaviour. However, individual differences in behaviour can have limited flexibility with lower within-individual variation (Réale et al., 2007). This was suggested to be due to the costs of flexibility in a world that changes continuously regardless of an individual's actions or behaviours (Dall et al., 2004). Behavioural responses to changes in the environment are likely to increase the chance of making a mistake or, in case of giving a correct response to a certain situation, take a relatively long time to become established, which can have survival costs for the individual (Dall et al., 2004; Sih et al., 2004).

Consistent among-individual differences in behaviours can help populations respond to changes in the environment through fluctuating selection (Dall et al., 2004; Dingemanse and Wolf, 2010). Studies on animal personality suggest that among-individual variation in behaviour may emerge in the course of evolution (Dall et al., 2012; Nicolaus et al., 2012; Wolf and Weissing, 2010). For example, exploratory individuals are better at locating new food sources (e.g., van Overveld and Matthysen, 2010) and these individuals may be doing better than non-explorers if the environment changes and regular food sources fail (e.g., negative frequency dependent selection; Christie et al., 2018; Kilgour et al., 2018; Wolf and McNamara, 2012). If personality traits evolve

jointly with morphological traits, adaptation of personality to environmental change can further facilitate speciation (Dall et al., 2004; Wilson, 1998).

Aims of the thesis

The aim of this thesis was to identify the variation in consistent behavioural traits, understanding the origin of the variation, and how it is maintained in natural populations. (1) To identify the variation in exploration as a personality trait, I investigated the connection between exploration, foraging behaviour, and diet. (2) To understand the origin of the variation in exploration, I investigated how relation between exploration and diet develops during ontogeny. Specifically, I asked if consistency in exploration behaviour in juveniles increases with the amount of foraging experience. (3) To understand how variation in exploration is maintained in natural populations, I investigated individual movement patterns in different contexts in the wild. (4) To understand whether exploration measured in experimental setups could be extrapolated to a larger and more complex context, I investigated the link between exploration and migratory behaviour.

Study system: red knot

The red knot, *Calidris canutus*, is a long-distance migratory shorebird that breeds in the high arctic tundra (latitude 62–80°N) in June and inhabits intertidal mudflats in temperate and tropical zones during the rest of the year (Piersma, 2007). There are six subspecies of red knot (*rufa, canutus, islandica, piersmai, rogersi, roselaari;* Figure 1) that are distributed around the globe and distinguished by their breeding and nonbreeding ranges, and their migratory behaviour (Piersma, 2007). Population sizes vary largely between subspecies (<20,000 to >400,000 individuals; Wetlands International, 2021) but most have declined in numbers in the last decades (Baker et al., 2004; Boyd and Piersma, 2001). These declines are thought to be caused by a phenological mismatch in the timing of breeding due to arctic warming (van Gils et al., 2016) and/or anthropogenically induced habitat changes in the nonbreeding grounds (Rakhimberdiev et al., 2015).

Our research group has been studying red knots for several decades, providing a thorough understanding of the species' diet, habitat preferences, survival rates, migration routes, and behavioural and morphological flexibilities and limitations (Bijleveld et Chapter 1

al., 2014; van Gils et al., 2005; Kok et al., 2019; Mathot et al., 2017; Oudman et al., 2016; Piersma et al., 1994). Foraging behaviour and diet has been particularly well studied in red knots: they ingest their prey as a whole, which makes it easy to calculate intake rate (van Gils et al., 2007); shell materials can be found in the droppings after digestion, which allows identification of prey species (Dekinga and Piersma, 1993); and an ultrasonographic method was developed, which allows individual measurements of a digestive organ size (Dietz et al., 1999). In addition, it is possible to keep red knots in captivity, and the experimental shorebird facility at NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research was designed to conduct experimental studies in controlled settings. Hence, my PhD thesis benefitted immensely from established field methods, data collection, and facilities and extends the work of previous researchers (Bijleveld, 2015; van Gils, 2004; Kok, 2020; Oudman, 2017; Piersma, 1994; Zwarts, 1997).



Figure 1. Global distribution of red knots. Each of six subspecies and their general migration routes between breeding and wintering areas are indicated by colour. Figure is from Jesse Conklin (Conklin et al., 2022).

Study population and area: red knots in the Wadden Sea

I studied the *Islandica* subspecies of red knots that breeds in the high Arctic of northern Greenland and north-east Canada and winters in the large mudflat areas of western Europe (Piersma, 2007). I collected field data from August 2018 to October 2020 around the island Griend in the western Dutch Wadden Sea (53°15'N, 5°15'E; Figure 2).

Griend and the surrounding mudflats are used by many shorebird species. Particularly during summer months, right after migration from the breeding grounds, shorebirds use Griend to moult their feathers (Piersma et al., 1993).

While red knots feed mostly on spiders and small insects and sometimes on plant material and insect larvae in the breeding grounds (Delany et al., 2009), red knots mainly use tactile foraging and feed on hard-shelled mollusc species found in intertidal substrates in the wintering grounds (Piersma, 2007). Red knots crush prey items in their muscular stomach called gizzard. Gizzard mass is flexible and increases with decreasing prey quality (Dekinga et al., 2001), which is measured by the ratio between mollusc flesh and shell mass (van Gils et al., 2007). Red knots show high individual consistency in exploration behaviour in captivity (Bijleveld et al., 2014; Kok et al., 2019). Experimentally measured exploration behaviour negatively correlates with gizzard mass (Bijleveld et al., 2014), and individuals with small gizzards have larger space use and travel between the Netherlands, England, and Germany, whereas birds with larger gizzards tend to stay in the Dutch Wadden Sea. Experimental manipulation of gizzard mass does not change individual exploratory behaviour (Bijleveld et al., 2014) nor diet choice (Mathot et al., 2017).



Figure 2. Map of the Wadden Sea. The orange square shows my study area around Griend.

My thesis extends previous studies about exploration behaviour in red knots by Allert Bijleveld, Kim Mathot, and Eva Kok, which were conducted at the experimental shorebird facility at the NIOZ. Thanks to them, measuring exploration of red knots in captivity is well established (Bijleveld et al., 2014; Kok et al., 2019, Figure 3). To be able to identify intraspecific variation in exploration in red knots (Aim 1), I wanted to eliminate the effects of captivity and relate experimentally quantified personalities to individual post-release movement and foraging patterns. Therefore, together with my supervisor Allert Bijleveld, we first adapted the existing experimental setup to be used in the field.



Figure 3. Indoor arena to score exploratory behaviour in captivity. The floor of the unit consists of salt water of 30 cm height and 5 identical sand patches $1m \times 1m \times 35cm$ for birds to explore in a room measuring $7m \times 7m \times 3m$.

Exploration assays at the field-site

I used a mobile experimental unit to measure exploratory behaviour under controlled conditions at the field site (Figure 4). The mobile field setup was very similar to the indoor setup at the NIOZ but was smaller (mobile 2m x 2m x 1m, indoor 7m x 7m x 3m). Both the mobile and indoor setup consisted of a sea-water basin and wet sand patches for red knots to "explore". Before using it for sand patches, we sieved the sand to remove shells and other potential food items to avoid triggering red knots' searching behaviour. Essentially, our setups resemble an "open-field test" traditionally used to assay exploratory behaviour and where a bird experiences a novel environment for the first time (Hall and Ballachey, 1932; Perals et al., 2017; Verbeek et al., 1994).



Figure 4. Mobile tent setup to score exploratory behaviour at the field site. The floor of the unit consists of sea water of 20 cm height and 4 identical sand patches 61 cm x 40 cm for birds to explore, tent measures 2 m x 2 m x 1 m.

Thesis outline

In this thesis, I combined personality assays in controlled settings with field observations of foraging tactics, stable isotope for diet analysis and migration timing, and movement tracking to investigate the associations between exploration, foraging, diet, and movement. The chapters of my thesis are organized as self-contained manuscripts that have been or will be submitted to peer-reviewed journals. This inevitably leads to some overlap among the chapters, especially in the methods section of each manuscript. Specifically, my thesis contains the following chapters:

Variation in foraging tactics and diet are usually attributed to differences in morphology, experience, and prey availability. However, personality traits may be linked to foraging strategies because of different energetic cost and gain associated with behaviour and its outcome. In **Chapter 2**, we assessed how exploration measured in controlled settings predicts foraging tactics and diet in the wild. We predicted that faster exploring red knots use faster visual foraging and feed on high quality soft prey (shrimp) while slower exploring red knots use slower tactile foraging and feed on lower quality hard-shelled prey (molluscs).

Behavioural traits that are consistent within, but vary between individuals, can develop through experience during development. Exploration has been shown to associate with foraging strategies and diet, but how these associations emerge during development remains unclear. In **Chapter 3**, we compared repeatability and consistency of exploratory behaviour and diet of juvenile and adult red knots after their arrival from

breeding grounds to wintering grounds. We asked whether the experience of juveniles on a marine diet was correlated with consistency of exploratory behaviour. We predicted that juveniles show a more diverse diet and are less repeatable in exploration with larger within-individual and smaller among-individual variation than adult red knots.

To what extent personality traits measured in artificial context can predict movement behaviour in the wild may depend on the environmental cues under natural conditions. Animals that forage both day and night provide a good opportunity to test whether personality-related movement patterns are context dependent such as visual foraging in view of flock mates and the possibility of aerial predation during the day while these threats and cues are absent at night. In **Chapter 4**, we assessed exploration of red knots in controlled settings and then released the same birds with ATLAS transmitters with continuous fine-scale tracking to compare movements during the day and night. We predicted that faster exploring red knots move more within and between foraging patches than slower exploring red knots at night while the differences between individuals according to their exploration score may be absent during the day.

Individuals living in groups can benefit from using social information about foraging opportunities. Interestingly, individuals can differ consistently in how they locate the food (i.e., finding food by themselves or by observing foraging success of others) and this can be linked to their personality traits. In **Box 1**, we present experiments with captive red knots on the relationship between exploration and foraging success. We first assayed exploration of red knots individually in controlled settings and then we tested whether the speed of finding hidden food would differ between individuals according to their exploration and whether the speed of finding food of those individuals would differ when tested individually or in a group. We predicted that faster-exploring individuals are also faster in finding food than slower explorers, both when tested individually and in a group. And we predicted that all individuals regardless of exploration score would find food faster when in a group than tested individually.

Timing and patterns of migration, even within populations that share breeding sites, show large variation between individuals. Arrival timing of red knots in the Dutch Wadden Sea can be related to later departure from the breeding grounds or the number of stopovers used during migration from breeding to wintering grounds. Exploration has been linked to larger scale movement and also may be linked to migration timing in red knots. In **Chapter 5**, we investigated the link between red knots' post-breeding

arrival timing in the Dutch Wadden Sea and exploratory behaviour. Because males take care of the broods after hatching, we predicted that females arrive earlier than males. We predicted that faster (vs. slower) exploring red knots arrive later in the Wadden Sea because they are expected to use stopovers in different locations before arriving to the wintering grounds.

In **Chapter 6**, the General Discussion, I summarise the main findings from the previous chapters and link them to individual behavioural differences in general. I discuss some of the main conclusions from different perspectives and limitations of my study. I also discuss what new ideas may emerge from this thesis and suggest directions for future studies.

Acknowledgements

I thank Zeynep Erdem for discussions on the individual variation from an evolutionary perspective. Many thanks to Nino Maag for proofreading. I thank Theunis Piersma, Ton G. G. Groothuis, and Allert I. Bijleveld for constructive comments on this chapter.



CHAPTER 2

Exploration speed in captivity predicts foraging tactics and diet in free-living red knots

Selin Ersoy, Christine E. Beardsworth, Anne Dekinga, Marcel van der Meer, Theunis Piersma, Ton G. G. Groothuis, Allert I. Bijleveld

Published in Journal of Animal Ecology (2022) 91: 356-366

Abstract

Variation in foraging tactics and diet are usually attributed to differences in morphology, experience, and prev availability. Recently, consistent individual differences in behaviour (personality) have been shown to be associated with foraging strategies. Bolder or more exploratory individuals are predicted to have a faster pace-of-life and offset the costs of moving more or in risky areas, with higher energetic gains by encountering profitable foraging opportunities and prey. However, the relationship between personality, foraging, and diet is poorly understood. We investigated how exploratory behaviour in red knots *Calidris canutus* is associated with foraging tactics and diet by combining laboratory experiments, field observations, and stable isotope analysis. First, we developed a mobile experimental arena to measure exploration speed in controlled settings. We validated the method by repeated testing of individuals over time and contexts. This setup allowed us to measure exploratory personality at the field site, eliminating the need to bring birds into captivity for long periods of time. After releasing birds within days of their capture, we asked whether exploration speed was associated with differences in foraging tactics and diet in the wild. We found that tactile foraging red knots mainly caught hard-shelled prey that are buried in the sediment, whereas visual foraging knots only captured soft preys located close to or on the surface. We also found that faster explorers showed a higher percentage of visual foraging than slower explorers. By contrast, morphology (bill length and gizzard size) had no significant effect on foraging tactics. Diet analysis based on δ 15N and δ 13C stable isotope values of plasma and red blood cells confirmed our field observations with slower explorers mainly consumed hard-shelled prev while faster explorers consumed more soft than hard-shelled prey. Our results show that foraging tactics and diet are associated with a personality trait, independent of morphological differences. We discuss how consistent behaviour might develop early in life through positive feedbacks between foraging tactics, prey type, and foraging efficiency.

Introduction

Among-individual variation in foraging behaviour and diet has been demonstrated across a wide range of taxa (also called 'individual niche specialisation'; e.g., birds in Harris et al., 2014; insects in Heinrich, 1976; mammals in Tinker et al., 2007). This variation can be attributed to differences in prey availability and habitat, the costbenefit ratio of potential prey, and morphological variation among predators (Hinde, 1959; Kerfoot, 1967; Robinson and Holmes, 1982). Collectively, variation in foraging behaviour provides a basis for adaptation and speciation (Dill, 1983; Knudsen et al., 2010; van Valen, 1965), therefore, understanding the factors that cause and maintain among-individual variation in foraging behaviour is an important topic in ecology (Araújo et al., 2011; Bolnick et al., 2003).

Among-individual variation in foraging behaviour, such as in methods of detecting prey (hereafter foraging tactics), can develop during ontogeny through differences in experience. This is particularly prevalent when different prey species vary in habitat or behaviour (e.g., Ringler, 1983). By foraging for a certain food type, an individual can improve its foraging efficiency to detect, capture, and process it (Heinrich, 1976). This feedback between foraging tactics, food type, and foraging efficiency can create consistent variation in foraging behaviour between members of the same population (O'Brien et al., 1989). Among-individual variation in foraging tactics is often attributed to morphological differences, such as feeding apparatus. For example, proboscis length is negatively related to diet diversity in multiple species of bumblebee (Goulson and Darvill, 2004). Additionally, shorter-billed oystercatchers Haematopus ostralegus (Durell et al., 1993) and bar-tailed godwits Limosa lapponica (Zwarts, 1985) forage on prey closer to or on the surface, whereas longer-billed individuals find prey buried in the sand (reviewed in Durell, 2000). Variation in morphology of the gut has also been related to diet choice (Piersma et al., 1999). In brachyuran crabs, for example, stomach volume is inversely correlated with diet quality (Griffen and Mosblack, 2011).

Foraging behaviour and diet can also be associated with "consistent amongindividual differences in behaviour" (also known as personality, behavioural syndromes, or temperament, Gosling, 2001; Sih et al., 2004; Toscano et al., 2016). For example, shyer wandering albatrosses *Diomedea exulans* (showing little response to a novel object) have larger foraging patches that they exploit for longer period of time than bolder individuals (Patrick et al., 2017). Shyer barnacle geese *Branta leucopsis* scrounge on the food discoveries of bolder geese (Kurvers et al., 2010). Faster exploring great tits Parus major have also been shown to search food in different areas and move greater distances in search of prey (van Overveld and Matthysen, 2010) and faster exploring blue tits *Cvanistes caeruleus* are more likely to find new feeders in the wild (Herborn et al., 2010). According to the pace-of-life framework, explorative and bolder individuals in the "fast" pace-of-life are expected to be less risk aversive, behave less cautiously, and have higher energy expenditure (Réale et al., 2010). The increased energy expenditure of exploratory and bold individuals (reviewed in Careau et al., 2008) could be compensated by an increased energy gain associated with their foraging behaviour. For example, even though there is a high energetic cost to exploration (Careau and Garland, 2012), individuals are also more likely to encounter profitable foraging opportunities and highquality prev types (e.g. Herborn et al., 2010). High cost of exploration and boldness may then have potentially high foraging gain (Bell and Sih, 2007; Brydges et al., 2008). How variation in diet and foraging tactics relate to personality is poorly understood and studying this in free-living animals can help us to understand the causes and consequences of personality traits (Araújo et al., 2011; Réale et al., 2010; Wolf and Weissing, 2012).

The red knot *Calidris canutus* is a useful model system to study the relationship between individual foraging tactics, diet, morphology, and exploratory personality. On the mudflats, red knots are known to be mollusc specialists and mainly use tactile foraging to find hard-shelled prey buried in the sediment, such as edible cockles *Cerastoderma edule* (Piersma et al., 1998). Field observations show that red knots can also opportunistically feed on high quality soft prey located on the surface, such as brown shrimp *Crangon crangon* (Zwarts et al., 1992). Although the specific foraging tactic used to capture soft prey has not been reported for red knots, other shorebird species use visual foraging for this prey type (reviewed in Durell, 2000). Under laboratory conditions, individual red knots are consistent in their exploration of a novel environment (Bijleveld et al., 2014; Kok et al., 2019). Following the pace-of-life framework, we may expect that more exploratory red knots eat more high-quality prey and thus use different foraging tactics. Indeed, more exploratory knots have been shown to have smaller gizzards (muscular stomach) indicating a higher quality diet (Bijleveld et al., 2014). However, a direct link between personality and diet has not yet been demonstrated.

Here, by combining laboratory experiments, field observations, and stable isotope analyses, we ask whether faster exploring red knots eat more high-quality prey than slower explorers, and whether this coincides with the use of different foraging tactics. We first developed a method to measure exploration speed in a controlled setting at the field site shortly after catching, removing the need to transport birds to indoor facilities and keeping them in captivity for longer periods (as in previous studies of this species Bijleveld et al., 2014; Kok et al., 2019). We were then able to catch, assay exploratory personality, and release red knots within a few days after capture (with a WATLAS transmitter, Beardsworth et al., 2021; Bijleveld et al., 2021). Shortly after their release, we tracked and re-sighted the same individuals on the mudflats, video-recorded their behaviour to later calculate the percentage of tactile or visual foraging tactics. We then investigate whether foraging tactic use was related to exploration speed, gizzard size, and bill length, and predicted that faster exploring knots use more visual foraging, have smaller gizzards, and/or shorter bills. We also investigated the relationship between exploration speed and diet using isotope analysis based on δ 15N and δ 13C stable isotope values from blood samples and predicted that isotopic signatures of faster exploring red knots reflect more soft prey in the diet than slower explorers. To assess the changes in diet over time, we compared isotopic signatures of blood plasma that integrate diet across ca. 14 days and of red blood cells that integrate diet signatures across ca. 45 days (Klaassen et al., 2010).

Materials and Methods

Study site and animals

We studied the *islandica* subspecies of red knots *Calidris canutus* which breeds in the high Arctic of northern Greenland and north-east Canada and winters in the large mudflat areas in western Europe (Piersma, 2007). We collected field data from September 2018 to October 2019 in the western Dutch Wadden Sea (53°15'N, 5°15'E) and conducted laboratory experiments at the experimental shorebird facility in the NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research (53°00'12"N, 4°47'23"E). All necessary permits to catch, handle, tag, test, and keep red knots were granted to the NIOZ by the Dutch law and regulation under protocol number NIOAVD8020020171505.

Captures, sampling, housing, and personality tests

In total, 283 adult red knots were caught during four catching events between 14 August - 19 September 2018, and 1 August - 6 September 2019 in new moon periods by means of mist netting in the western Dutch Wadden Sea. Red knots were given a numbered metal ring for individual identification and their biometrics were measured (e.g., bill length). From the brachial vein a small blood sample (\sim 30 µL) was taken for stable isotope analysis. Blood samples were separated into plasma and red blood cells by centrifugation (12min, 7000rpm) and pipetted into separate glass vials and immediately stored in a freezer at the field site. At NIOZ, samples were stored at -20 °C until further analysis. These samples were used to determine the stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) from plasma and red blood cells separately. Samples were freezedried before analysis on a Thermo Scientific (Flash 2000) organic element analyser coupled to a Delta V isotope ratio mass spectrometer via a Conflo IV. A microbalance (Sartorius XM1000P) was used to weigh 0.4-0.8 mg of the freeze-dried samples into 5 x 9 mm tin capsules. Isotope values were calibrated to a certified acetanilide standard (Arndt Schimmelmann, Indiana University), controlled by certified urea and casein standards (Elemental Microanalysis) and corrected for blank tin capsules. Red knots which arrived recently in the Wadden Sea from Arctic breeding grounds with a terrestrial isotopic signature (Dietz et al., 2010) were excluded from these diet analyses (Naveluded=23 from plasma, N_{eveluded}=46 from red blood cells).

The stable isotope ratios of the food sources from the study area were taken from Waddensleutels program that samples intertidal macrofauna across the Dutch Wadden Sea (Christianen et al., 2017). To discriminate the relative contribution of different prey items in the analysis, we grouped hard-shelled prey (common cockle, Mean \pm SD: δ 15N, 11 \pm 1.38; δ 13C, -18.69 \pm 1.26, *N*=341 and Baltic tellin *Limecola balthica*, Mean \pm SD: δ 15N, 11.08 \pm 2.5; δ 13C, -16.03 \pm 2.06, *N*=151) as well as soft prey (brown shrimp, Mean \pm SD: δ 15N, 12.78 \pm 1.04; δ 13C, -14.9 \pm 1.93, *N*=119 and polychaete worm *Nephtys hombergii*, Mean \pm SD: δ 15N, 14.24 \pm 1.43; δ 13C, -14.86 \pm 0.82, *N*=39). By comparing the stable isotope compositions of the plasma and red blood cells with that of potential food items, we were able to analyse the relative contributions of different food items to the diet of birds.

Gizzard size was measured by A.D. using an ultrasound scanner (model Aquilla, Pie Medical Benelux, Maastricht, The Netherlands) as described by Dietz et al. (1999). Measurements of gizzard width and height (cm) were taken to estimate gizzard size in grams using formula -1.09+3.78*(height*width, Bijleveld et al., 2014). Gizzard size was measured within 1 day after capture to be indicative of a bird's organ mass while free-living (Dekinga et al., 2001). Right after ultrasound measurements, the birds were

moved to temporary outdoor aviaries of 2m x 0.75m x 0.4m (LxWxH) made of linen with a net floor covered in dried hemp (Hemparade). These aviaries were placed outside on natural sand/grass and provided with *ad libitum* food (live and dried mealworms) and water (freshwater and seawater). Group sizes in the aviaries were between 8 to 12 birds.

Exploratory personality was measured as response to a novel environment in two different setups: 1) a new method to measure exploration speed within 24 hr after capture in the field-based mobile arena, and 2) an established method to measure explorative behaviour of captive red knots in the lab-based indoor arena (Bijleveld et al., 2014).

Mobile arena

To score the exploration speed of captive red knots at the field site, we used a pyramid shaped mobile unit of 2m x 2m x 2m (referred to as "mobile arena"; Suppl. Fig. S1). The floor of the unit consists of seawater of 20 cm depth in which four identical trays with wet sand (61cm x 40cm x 25cm) were situated. Birds could explore these artificial patches in which no food was offered. A GoPro (Hero Black) camera was mounted at the ceiling to record the movement trajectories at 2 frames s⁻¹ and another GoPro (Hero+) camera recorded behaviour from the side at 30 frames s⁻¹ (Suppl. Video S1). To standardise the procedure and motivate birds equally for the personality tests (like Bijleveld et al., 2014), we placed them individually into a holding pen without access to food. After 2 h, we started the experiments by gently placing the bird on the sand patch in the experimental unit. Individual trials lasted 20 min per bird.

To calculate exploratory movement of individuals from videos recorded by the ceiling camera, we used video tracking software *idtracker* (Pérez-Escudero et al., 2014). The software produced position data (x- and y-coordinates) for every frame (each 0.5 s) during 20 min that a bird spent in the mobile arena. Between two subsequent frames, we used the distance between estimated positions to calculate speed. Errors in the positioning algorithm were filtered by excluding speeds higher than 200 cm/s. An individual's exploration speed was calculated as the average speed during each 20 min trial. An example video with tracks can be found in Suppl. Video S2.

We investigated the repeatability of the exploration speed measured in the mobile arena to validate its consistency over time and context. At the field site, we tested 57 birds twice in the mobile arena with on average 5 days in between tests (range 3-7

days). Thirty of these birds were then brought into longer-term captivity at NIOZ for establishing long-term repeatability. At NIOZ, these birds were housed in flocks of 14 individuals in aviaries measuring 4m x 2m x 2.5m lined with white Trespa foil (Trespa International B.V. Weert, The Netherlands). They were provided with running saltwater along a coated concrete surface, as well as a stretch of sand covered with 5 cm water. The birds were fed *ad libitum* with trout-feed pellets (Produits Trouw, Vervins, France) and had unlimited access to saltwater and freshwater for drinking and bathing. Because of health problems that developed in captivity (Milot et al., 2014), a few birds were not used in all of the long-term measurements. To investigate the long-term repeatability in exploration speed measured in the mobile arena, we tested birds for a third time within 136 days after first capture on average (range 135-137 days, N=29), and for a fourth time within 176 days after first capture on average (range 175-177 days, N=25, Table S1). These repeated measurements in captivity were conducted in the mobile arena and with identical settings as to those at the field site (i.e., with a 2-hour acclimation period, inside the pyramid-shaped arena).

Indoor arena

To investigate if exploration speed as measured in the mobile arena was comparable to the well-established method measuring exploratory behaviour of captive red knots (Bijleveld et al., 2014; Kok et al., 2019), we additionally tested 24 red knots in the established method (from now on it will be referred to as "indoor arena"; Table 1, Suppl. Fig. S2). Indoor arena measurements were conducted 43 days after capture when red knots have adjusted to their captive conditions. The experimental arena in this method measured 7m x 7m x 3m and was filled with 30 cm seawater. Five similar trays 1m x 1m x 35cm were filled with wet sand and placed above the water surface for the birds to explore. The trays that contained no food were placed approximately 90 cm from the walls. Experimental birds were isolated, and food was removed 2 h before the tests started. Five minutes before the testing, the bird was introduced into a side aviary adjacent to the experimental arena. The side aviary leads into the experimental arena through a sliding door that can be opened and closed remotely via a pulley mechanism. After the door was opened, the bird either flew themselves or after 5 min, it was gently herded into the experimental arena. Individual trials lasted 20 min. A GoPro Hero+ camera was fitted such that it recorded the behaviour from the side. An observer, who was blind to the birds' previously measured exploratory behaviour, watched the video recordings of each trial in slow speed and recorded the time that the focal bird spent exploring (probing and walking) using *Cowlog* event coding software (Pastell, 2016). For more details on the experimental procedure see Bijleveld et al. 2014.

To compare measures of exploration between the mobile and indoor arena, exploration in the mobile arena was scored as mean speed and exploration in the indoor arena was scored as proportion of time spent on walking and probing (following the established method from earlier studies Bijleveld et. al., 2014, Kok et al., 2019). To compare how well speed correlates with behaviour, we additionally scored exploration as the proportion of time spent probing and walking as well as mean speed for 75 red knots from their first trial in the mobile arena.

Foraging behaviour in the field

To investigate how exploration speed relates to the use of different foraging tactics, we caught and tested 126 red knots one time in the mobile arena in the summer of 2019. Right after the personality tests, red knots were released with unique combinations of colour rings and with a time-of-arrival (WATLAS) radio-tag weighing ~4g (approximately 3% of red knot body mass) to retrieve their locations in the Wadden Sea (Beardsworth et al., 2021; Bijleveld et al., 2021). The tagged birds were located through a website (www.nioz. nl/watlas) where the location of the tagged birds could be seen on a map in real-time. Observers approached the flock of red knots (up to ~200m) and searched for the focal bird with a 10x40 Swarovski telescope. Once the focal bird was found, observers filmed the bird using a video camera (Sony Camera A6000) attached to the scope. Focal birds were filmed for 20 min or up to the moment they flew away. Observations of foraging behaviour were conducted during the low-tide period when large mudflat areas are available for red knots to forage. In total, recordings were collected from 38 different individuals. The distribution of the exploratory scores of these individuals can be seen in comparison with all birds exploratory scores in Suppl. Fig. S3.

The videos were processed with event logging software *Boris* (Friard and Gamba, 2016). Before starting the behavioural coding, the list of videos was randomized. To prevent observer bias, the observer was blind to the bird's exploratory score. The ethogram in which all relevant behaviours are described can be found in Supplementary Table S1. In the field, red knots spend 74% of their time foraging on the mudflats during low-tide periods (Suppl. Fig. S4). For the foraging tactic analysis, we restricted the analysis to the periods when the birds were actively foraging, so visual and tactile

foraging added to 100% of the foraging time. We defined two types of foraging tactics: 'tactile foraging' when a bird is probing continuously with the bill into the substrate (Piersma et al., 1998), and 'visual foraging' when a bird is scanning the area in front of it and pecking at items seen on the substrate surface (Barbosa, 1995, see Suppl. Video S3). In cases that we could identify the ingested prey (N=136), we categorized it as hard-shelled prey ($N_{hard-shelled}$ =73, e.g., cockles or Baltic tellins) or soft prey (N_{soft} =63, e.g., brown shrimp or polychaete worms) to investigate the relationship between foraging tactics and diet.

Table 1. Controlled experiments and field observations were collected from red knots. Two different approaches were followed in two different field seasons. We validated the mobile experimental arena in 2018 with repeatedly testing wild caught birds at the field site short term (first two repeats within 5 days \pm 2.2 after capture) and then in captivity long term (third and fourth repeat within 176 days \pm 1 after capture). We additionally tested 24 of these birds in the indoor arena. In 2019, wild caught red knots were tested in the mobile arena and immediately after released back to their natural habitat and tracked to record their foraging tactics in the field.

	Location	At the field site			In captivity			In the field
Year	Treatment	Catch	Mobile arena 1 st Repeat	Mobile arena 2 nd Repeat	Mobile arena 3 rd Repeat	Mobile arena 4 th Repeat	Indoor arena	Foraging observation
2018	Number of birds	111	111	57	29	25	24	-
	Repeatability short term (5 days ± 2.2)		R= 95% CI (0	0.7,).56, 0.82)				
	Repeatability long term (176 days ± 1)	<i>R</i> = 0.54, 95% CI (0.4, 0.66)						
2019	Number of birds	173	126	_	-	-	-	26

Statistical analysis

All data analyses were carried out in R statistical software v. 4.0.3 (R Core Team, 2013). We analysed the exploration personality of N_{2018} =111 and N_{2019} =126 individuals in N_{2019} =246 and N_{2019} =126 experimental trials (Table 1). Red knots that swam in the arena for more than 10 consecutive min (N_{mobile} =14, N_{indoor} =6) were removed from the arena because of welfare concerns for the bird (i.e., the risk of drowning or difficulty to thermoregulate with wet feathers), and its data excluded from the study. In the field,

some videos had poor quality (due to distance between observer and the bird, and weather conditions) and the behaviour could not be scored. Therefore, these videos were excluded from the analysis. Final sample size for analysing the foraging tactics was N=32 videos from N=26 individuals. We were not able to calculate individual repeatability of foraging tactics because too few individuals had more than one recording (N=6). In those cases, we averaged recordings for each individual and weighted with the video length.

After checking for collinearity, overdispersion, and model assumptions (homogeneity and normality of residuals), we formulated four models using the *lme4* package. First, a linear mixed-effects model to quantify repeatability of exploration speed measured in the mobile arena. We used mean speed as the response variable, the number of the repeated measure as a fixed effect and individual identity as a random effect. Mean speed was log10 transformed to meet normality assumptions. Adjusted repeatability Rwas calculated with the *rptR* package (among-individual variance divided by the total phenotypic variance) and confidence intervals and significance were calculated with parametric bootstrapping (Nakagawa and Schielzeth, 2010). Second, a linear mixedeffects model to compare the individuals' scores in the mobile arena (as log10 mean speed) and the indoor arena (as logit proportion of time spent walking and probing behaviour). We used behaviour in the indoor arena as the response variable and the speed in the mobile arena as a fixed. Third, a linear mixed-effects model to compare speed with behaviour using the data from the first trial in the mobile arena. We used the logit proportion of time spent walking and probing behaviour as the response variable and the log10 of mean speed as a fixed effect. Fourth, we ran a quasibinomial generalized linear model with logit link function to test the effects of bill length, gizzard size, and exploration speed (log10 mean speed cm/s) measured first time in the mobile arena on the response variable percentage of foraging tactics that were visual observed from the videos taken in the field. To investigate whether a particular foraging tactic (tactile and visual) resulted in ingesting certain prev types (soft and hard-shelled), we ran a nonparametric Chi-square test.

The relative contribution of potential prey types (soft and hard-shelled) to the diet of individual red knots was estimated using an isotopic Bayesian mixing-model programmed in the R-package MixSIAR (Stock and Semmens, 2016). For the diet analysis, we decided to use the Bayesian approach, because Bayesian models estimate diet contributions while accounting for variability in both prey and consumer isotope data (Moore and Semmens, 2008; Parnell et al., 2010). Furthermore, continuous fixed

effects (in our case, exploration speed) can be implemented in the model using the MixSIAR package (see Stock et al., 2018 for further details). The MixSIAR model combines three different datasets and requires input of at least two stable isotopes (here δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) of a consumer, its prey, and a diet-tissue trophic discrimination factor. We used δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N of blood plasma (and red blood cells in separate analysis with identical parameters Suppl. Figs S8-S9) of red knots and as prey sources, we used mean and standard deviation of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N from groups of hard-shelled and soft prey. We did not measure discrimination factors ourselves therefore, we used general discrimination factors (for avian plasma: Δ^{15} N: 2.82 ± 0.14‰ and Δ^{13} C: -0.08 ± 0.38 ‰; red blood cells: Δ^{15} N: 2.25 ± 0.2‰ and Δ^{13} C: -0.2 ± 0.39 ‰ Caut et al., 2009). These values (Fig. 2.a) were then used to construct MixSIAR models with first exploration speed (log10 mean speed cm/s) measured in the mobile arena as a continuous fixed effect. We checked for convergence diagnostics and set the model to run for 100,000 iterations with 3 chains and discarded the first 50,000 iterations.

Results

Exploration speed measured in the mobile arena one day after catching was highly repeatable within 7 days at the field site (R = 0.7, 95% CI (0.56, 0.82), P < 0.01, N = 57; Table 1). Long-term repeatability in the mobile arena was also high within three trials in 136 days (R = 0.6, 95% CI (0.44, 0.73), P < 0.01, N = 29), and within four trials in 176 days (R = 0.54, 95% CI (0.4, 0.66), P < 0.01, N = 25; Table 1). The first exploration speed (log10 mean speed cm/sec) measured in the mobile arena was positively correlated with the proportion of time spent walking and probing measured in the indoor arena 43 days after capture at NIOZ (Intercept = -3.46, Slope = 5.34, SE = 1.36, Adj. R² = 0.38, P < 0.01, N = 24; Suppl. Fig. S5). Automated scoring of exploration speed (mean speed log10 cm/s) was positively correlated with manual coding of proportion of time spent walking and probing (logit), Intercept = -3.64, Slope = 6.19, SE = 0.69, Adj. R² = 0.61, P < 0.001, N = 75, Suppl. Fig. S6).

In the field, red knots caught hard-shelled prey only by using tactile foraging (100%) and caught soft prey mostly by using visual foraging (97%) and rarely by tactile foraging (3%, $\chi^2 = 134.35$, P < 0.01, Fig. 1.a). The percentage of visual foraging tactics that were observed in the field was positively correlated with the exploration speed measured in the mobile arena: faster exploring red knots showed significantly higher percentage of

visual foraging than slower explorers (Table 2; Fig. 1.b). Bill length and gizzard size did not explain the variation in the observed foraging tactics (Table 2).

Stable isotope ratios (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) from plasma and red blood cells were highly correlated (Pearson's r for δ^{13} C= 0.77 and δ^{15} N= 0.68) which indicates consistency in diet over the ca. 14 days before blood sampling to the ca. 45 days before (Klaassen et al., 2010). Results from MixSIAR analysis using plasma that integrates diet from the past ca.14 days (Fig. 2) were similar to those using red blood cells that integrates diet from the past ca. 45 days (Klaassen et al., 2010; Suppl. Figs S8-S9). Stable isotope analysis of red knots with measured exploration speed in the mobile arena confirmed our field observations that faster exploring red knots have soft and hard-shelled prev in their diet while slower exploring red knots relied heavily on hard-shelled prey (Fig. 2.b). MixSIAR analysis using plasma showed that on average, red knots proportionally consumed more hard-shelled prev (Median = 0.59, 2.5 % CrI = 0.5, 97.5 % CrI = 0.68) than soft prev (Median = 0.41, 2.5 % CrI = 0.32, 97.5 % CrI = 0.5). The model also predicted the proportion of soft prey as a function of exploration speed. For slower exploring red knots, the model estimate of $p_{hard-shelled new}$ is 0.76 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.61, 97.5 % CrI = 0.88) and $p_{soft prev}$ is 0.24 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.12, 97.5 % CrI = 0.39). For faster exploring red knots, model estimate of $p_{\text{hard-shelled prev}}$ is 0.4 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.22, 97.5 % CrI = 0.58) and $p_{\text{soft new}}$ is 0.6 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.42, 97.5 % CrI = 0.78). The posterior distributions of model estimates for slower and faster exploring red knots can be found in Suppl. Fig. S7.

ue

0.13

0.27

Table 2. Effects of exploration speed (log10 mean speed cm/sec), gizzard size, and bill length on
the percentage of visual foraging tactics observed in the field. Significance (p) is based on Wald
statistics under the null hypotheses that the estimate is zero.

statistics under the null hypotheses that the estimate is zero.							
Variable	Estimate	SE	p-vala				
Intercept	1.1	4.04	0.81				
Exploration speed	2.26	0.65	< 0.01				
Gizzard size	0.17	0.18	0.37				

-0.15

Bill length
Chapter 2



Figure 1. (a) Different foraging tactics (visual and tactile) leads to ingestion of different types of prey (soft and hard-shelled). Knots using visual foraging only ingested soft prey while knots using tactile foraging ingested mainly hard-shelled prey (97%) and rarely soft prey (3%). (b) Exploration speed (log10 mean speed cm/s) measured in the mobile arena for the first time (x axis) predicts the percentage of visual foraging observed in the field (y axis). Probabilities and 95 % confidence intervals are predicted by a GLM with quasibinomial error distribution.



Figure 2. (a) Stable isotope ratios of carbon (δ 13C, x axis) and nitrogen (δ 15N, y axis) that were used in the MixSIAR diet analysis. Black dots are stable isotope values from the plasma of individual red knots. Stable isotope values of prey items are shown with mean \pm SD as soft and hard-shelled prey. (b) Diet proportions estimated using individual plasma stable isotope samples with MixSIAR (y axis) as a function of exploration speed (log10 mean speed cm/s, x axis) showing that slower explorers depend upon hard-shelled prey while faster explorers consume both soft and hard-shelled prey. Lines depict posterior medians, and shading displays the 95% Bayesian credible intervals.

Discussion

We found that slower explorers use only tactile foraging and eat mainly hard-shelled prey, while faster explorers use both tactile and visual foraging tactics and consume both soft and hard-shelled prey. We show that exploration speed was highly repeatable over time and in different contexts for wild-caught red knots. Bill length and gizzard mass did not explain differences in the use of foraging tactics. Our results demonstrate a direct link between personality traits, foraging tactics, and diet, independent of morphological differences (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Conceptual diagram showing the links between foraging tactics, diet, exploratory personality, gizzard size, and bill length. Positive and negative symbols indicate the relationship. Arrows indicate the direction. If the link is found in a different study (indicated in grey), the original study is referred.

Previous research on red knots foraging on mudflats has shown that red knots are mollusc specialists that mainly feed on hard-shelled prey that are buried in the sand and found by touch rather than sight (Piersma et al., 1998). In accordance with this, we observed that red knots primarily relied on tactile foraging, however faster exploring birds also used visual foraging that resulted in combined diet of soft and hard-shelled prey. Soft prey, such as shrimp, have higher energetic value and lower digestive processing costs than hard-shelled prey (van Gils et al., 2003) but catching soft prey requires more active visual foraging and handling these prey takes longer than hard-shelled prey (van Gils et al., 2005). By adding soft prey in the diet, faster exploring knots may offset the higher energetic cost of their movement with higher quality soft prey gain in a foraging context. While we did not investigate energy expenditure, our finding that exploration speed in red knots was correlated with prey quality matches with the pace-of-life literature and warrants further study.

During foraging, faster explorers used visual foraging up to 10% of the time. Yet stable isotope analysis predicted that the amount of soft prey in the diet of the fastest exploring birds could reach up to 60%. This discrepancy between video observations in the field and diet analysis by stable isotopes could be explained in two ways. Firstly, finding individuals in the field was difficult (N=26 re-sightings out of 126 individuals for which we had blood samples for isotope analysis), and there was a tendency to resight slower red knots more often in the wild (as seen in Suppl. Fig. S3). Individuals with a higher exploratory personality have been shown to cover more ground when foraging in other species, such as great tits (van Overveld and Matthysen, 2010). Since our observations were conducted on a large intertidal mudflat, if faster explorers change location more frequently or forage further from land, they may be less likely to be observed. From the video observations, we may therefore have underestimated the percentage of visual foraging used in the population. Secondly, while spending small amounts of foraging time searching for soft prey, the contribution of energetically rich soft prey to the birds' total biomass intake, and thus isotopic signal, could be proportionally much larger (van Gils et al., 2007).

Individual differences in morphology are often associated with the use of different foraging tactics (Barbosa and Moreno, 1999; Hespenheide, 1973). In our study, however, bill length was not associated with the percentage of foraging tactic use. This is similar to findings from a study on great knots *Calidris tenuirostris*, which showed that bill length was not related to diet, however birds that ate softer prey had smaller gizzards (Zhang et al., 2019). We expected that birds that spent more time using the visual foraging tactic, thus with a higher proportion of soft prey in their diet, would also have smaller gizzards (Dekinga et al., 2001; Fig. 3). Contrary to our predictions, we did not find an association between small gizzard size and the percentage of visual foraging tactic use. This may be because even faster exploring individuals, with the highest percentage of visual foraging, still consumed on average 40% hard-shelled prey based on the stable isotope analyses.

Likewise, the slower exploring birds also consumed 24% soft prey. Perhaps these mixed diets were large enough to reduce individual differences in gizzard size.

While many personality studies show repeatable behaviour between contexts in controlled conditions, few studies (e.g., Fraser et al., 2001; Harris et al., 2019) show a link between the behaviour measured in standardized experiments and behaviour in the wild (Carter et al., 2013). We showed that exploration speed is repeatable between contexts in controlled artificial conditions (notably without food), and that it correlates with ecologically relevant foraging tactics in the wild. Exploration speed and foraging tactics may be correlated because different foraging tactics themselves are associated with different movement speeds (Barbosa, 1995). In red knots, tactile foraging with continuous probing of the sediment is a relatively slow behaviour. In contrast, using a visual foraging tactic can involve quick scanning of the surface, which results in faster movement. Our standardised measurement of exploration speed as a personality trait therefore closely relates to foraging movement, which can be an inherent part of these foraging tactics. However, we show that exploratory movement in controlled conditions was repeatable in the absence of food. Moreover, the slow explorers often stood still during the trials and did not probe more than fast explorers (Suppl. Video S1), which indicates that the standardised measure of exploration does not directly reflect probing behaviour as measured in the field. Interestingly, exploration speed predicts probing behaviour in the field. This suggests that foraging tactic itself is repeatable regardless of the environmental variation. Indeed, the correlation between isotopic signatures of plasma and red blood cells suggests consistency in diet, but whether foraging tactic itself is repeatable is unknown. To clarify the repeatability and thus flexibility of foraging tactics in the field with environmental variation, future studies should aim to repeatedly observe the same free-living individuals.

Our results raise the question of where and how the consistent individual differences originate. Among-individual variation could, for example, arise from differences in environmental influences or experience between individuals (Stamps and Groothuis, 2010). Especially the positive feedback between behaviour, learning, and increased efficiency can gradually set individuals on different developmental trajectories and thus cause consistent individual differences in behaviour (Sih et al., 2015). There are, for instance, studies indicating that the prey environment experienced during early life, shapes an individual's foraging tactics (e.g., Heinsohn, 1991; Slagsvold and Wiebe, 2007). Competition between conspecifics is suggested to be a major factor affecting

diet specialisation, foraging tactics, and the emergence of personality traits (Bergmüller and Taborsky, 2010). When competition for food is high, conspecifics can, for instance, reduce the amount of conflict by feeding on different types of food (e.g., Parent et al., 2014). Through positive feedback between learning to detect, catch, and process food, this differentiation in diet can favour behavioural consistency and maintain amongindividual variation. When, to what extent, and by which mechanisms consistent individual differences develop during ontogeny needs to be studied further and will likely provide interesting insights into the origin and maintenance of among-individual variation between the members of the same population.

Acknowledgements

We thank Natuurmonumenten for permission to conduct this research on Griend. We thank field assistants, volunteers, and students for helping with data collection, in particular Luc de Monte, Haley Shephard, Dieke de Boer, Maartje van Deventer, Daphne Haanen, Job ten Horn, Roeland Bom, Emma Penning, Benjamin Gnep, and Nino Maag. We thank Ronald van Bommel for technical assistance with the stable isotope analyses. For the prey isotope data, we thank Waddensleutels, and in particular Sander Holthuijsen. We thank the crews of RV Navicula and RV Stern for sailing us around the Wadden Sea. We thank Sara R. Pant for valuable comments on the manuscript. We thank Ying Chi Chan for her suggestions on the design of the mobile arena. We thank Roel Bakker for building and maintaining the mobile arena. We also thank the anonymous referees and the associate editor for their constructive comments. This study was funded by the core funding of NIOZ and the NWO-Veni grant to AIB (VI. Veni.192.051).

Data Availability Statement

Data is available at the Dryad Digital Repository: doi: 10.5061/dryad.vmcvdncts (Ersoy et al., 2022).

Authors' Contributions

SE and AIB designed the study. SE collected and analysed the data. SE drafted the first version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to writing of the final manuscript. None of the authors have a conflict of interest.

Supporting Information



Figure S1: Mobile arena to score exploration speed at the field site. The floor of the unit consists of sea water of 20 cm height and 4 identical sand patches 61cm x 40cm x 25cm for birds to explore.



Figure S2: Indoor arena to score exploratory behaviour in captivity. The floor of the unit consists of salt water of 30 cm height and 5 identical sand patches 1 m x 1 m x 35 cm for birds to explore in a room measuring 7 m x 7 m x 3 m.

Chapter 2



Figure S3: Histogram of individuals with measured exploration scores. The distribution of the exploratory scores of individual red knots which were followed in the field (in yellow) and all red knots with exploratory score (in grey).



Figure S4: All observed behaviours in the field. Observed behaviours from low tide field observations: foraging 74%, cleaning 11%, moving 0.9%, resting 0.2%, vigilance 0.1%, handling 0.1%.



Figure S5: Correlation between mobile and indoor arena. Correlation between the results from the same individuals measured in newly developed mobile method (x axis) on exploration speed (mean speed log10 cm/s) and the established indoor method (y axis) on exploration behaviour (proportion of time spent searching and walking) in red knots. Probabilities and 95 % confidence intervals are predicted by a GLM with gaussian error distribution.

Chapter 2



Figure S6: Correlation between speed and behaviour. Correlation between different techniques to score exploration personality on movement scores (mean speed log10 cm/s on the x axis) and behavioural scores (proportion of time spent probing and walking on the y axis). Probabilities and 95 % confidence intervals are predicted by a GLM with gaussian error distribution. y = -3.64 + 6.19 x, R = 0.62.



Figure S7: MixSIAR Posterior distribution for plasma. Posterior distribution of model estimates for slower exploring knots (on the left) and faster exploring knots (on the right). Diet estimated from plasma stable isotope samples. For slower exploring red knots, the model estimate of $p_{hard-shelled prey}$ is 0.76 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.61, 97.5 % CrI = 0.88) and $p_{soft prey}$ is 0.24 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.12, 97.5 % CrI = 0.39). For faster exploring red knots, model estimate of $p_{hard-shelled prey}$ is 0.4 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.22, 97.5 % CrI = 0.58) and $p_{soft prey}$ is 0.6 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.42, 97.5 % CrI = 0.7).



Figure S7: MixSIAR Diet analysis for red blood cell. (a) Biplot of carbon (δ 13C, x axis) and nitrogen (δ 15N, y axis) stable isotope values. Black dots are isotopic signatures of individual red knots from red blood cell. Different prey items plotted on; soft preys (brown shrimp Crangon crangon and polychaete worm Nephtys hombergii) and hard-shelled preys (cockle Cerastoderma edule and balthic tellin Limecola balthica). (b) Posterior distributions for red knot diet proportions (estimated using blood cell stable isotope samples) as a function of exploration speed (log10 cm/s) measured in the mobile arena for the first time. MixSIAR model predicted that on average, red knots proportionally consumed more hard-shelled prey (Median = 0.67, 2.5 % CrI = 0.56, 97.5 % CrI = 0.75) than soft prey (Median = 0.34, 2.5 % CrI = 0.23, 97.5 % CrI = 0.44). Slower explorers depend upon hard-shelled prey while faster explorers consume both soft- and hard-shelled prey. Proportion of diet estimated from the Bayesian mixing model for isotope analysis MixSIAR. Lines depict posterior means, and shading displays the 95% credible intervals.



Figure S9: MixSIAR Posterior distribution for red blood cell. Posterior distribution of model estimates for slower exploring knots (on the left) and faster exploring knots (on the right). Diet estimated from red blood cell stable isotope samples. For slower exploring red knots, the model estimate of $p_{\text{hard-shelled prey}}$ is 0.77 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.51, 97.5 % CrI = 0.94) and $p_{\text{soft prey}}$ is 0.23 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.65, 97.5 % CrI = 0.49). For faster exploring red knots, model estimate of $p_{\text{hard-shelled prey}}$ is 0.51 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.23, 97.5 % CrI = 0.79) and $p_{\text{soft prey}}$ is 0.49 (Median, 2.5 % CrI = 0.51, 97.5 % CrI = 0.51, 97.5 % CrI = 0.94).

Behaviour	Description		
Aerial Vigilance	Looking up by tilting the head		
Ingesting	Ingesting prey item (cockle/white shellfish, shrimp, worm, not specified)		
Kleptoparasitism	Prey item stolen by other bird (common gull, another knot, blackheaded gull, other)		
Walking	Moving to another location. Can be slow or fast, also on one leg. During foraging only count walking when >2 sec when bird moves in certain direction and head is up > 90° angle		
Flying	Taking off by flapping and then moving to another location		
Tactile searching	Looking for food buried in the ground, the bill forming a 45° angle with the horizontal, probing in the sand		
Visual searching	Looking for food on the surface, head is 45° to 90° angle, head moves actively to look around		
Handling	Handling prey items. Prey needs to be visible or obvious ingestion at the end of handling		
Social interference from focal bird	Any kind of social interaction from focal bird to another bird		
Social interference from other bird to focal bird	Any kind of social interaction from another bird to the focal bird		
Resting	Standing still with its head under its feathers, can be on one leg		
Standing	Standing on one or two legs with the bill in a 90° angle, without moving, for >2 sec		
Preening	Cleaning and/or rearranging its feathers with the bill, by flapping or shaking, scratching with its foot, stretching wings and legs		
Ground Vigilance	Head turning side to side with the bill in a 90° angle. Only if >1sec		
Bathing	The bird is in the water washing itself		
Miscellaneous	Behaviour that does not fit the descriptions above		
Out of sight	The bird cannot be seen by the observer		

 Table S1: Ethogram of all videos recorded behaviours in the field.

Exploration speed in captivity predicts foraging tactics and diet



CHAPTER 3

Learning to be a shellfish forager: variation in exploration and diet differ between juvenile and adult red knots

Selin Ersoy, Christine E. Beardsworth, Elif Duran, Theunis Piersma, Ton G. G. Groothuis, Allert I. Bijleveld

Manuscript

Abstract

Behavioural traits that are consistent within, but vary between individuals, can develop through positive feedback between behaviour and its outcome during development. Exploration, a commonly used personality trait, has been shown to associate with foraging strategies and diet, but how these associations emerge during development remains unclear. Here we compared exploration and diet variances of juvenile and adult red knots Calidris canutus islandica that breed on tundra and migrate to spend the nonbreeding season on European intertidal mudflats. Juveniles, having grown up on tundra arthropods, are confronted with intertidal marine prev for the first time when they reach the mudflats. This fact enabled us to ask whether the first experiences of juveniles on a marine diet correlates with development of exploratory behaviour. We conducted repeated tests of exploration from juvenile and adult red knots in controlled settings, and used stable isotope analyses to estimate diet, and the number of days that juveniles had been eating marine invertebrates after arrival from the tundra. We found that juvenile red knots have more diverse diet than adults, and that juveniles are less repeatable in exploration than adults. Increased repeatability from juvenile to adult stage was due to a reduction in within-individual variance, with among-individual variance remaining stable. Time since the switch from a tundra to a marine diet did not explain the within-individual variation in the repeated exploration tests of juveniles, suggesting that plasticity is still available in their first weeks on the wintering grounds. The diversity in diet between juvenile and adult red knots and the decline in within-individual variation in exploration in juveniles support the idea that feedbacks between learning to detect, catch, and process food at an early age can favour consistency in exploration behaviour later in life.

1. Introduction

Personality traits that are consistent within, but vary between, individuals have been shown to be associated with dispersal (Cote et al., 2010) and foraging behaviour (Araújo et al., 2011; Sheppard et al., 2018; Toscano et al., 2016) that may affect fitness (Réale et al., 2010; Smith and Blumstein, 2008). How these associations arise is elusive and require studies on their developmental origin. Personality traits have been suggested to reflect genetic variation (Dingemanse et al., 2002; Drent et al., 2003; Van Oers et al., 2004); however, heritability is often found low (Araya-Ajoy and Dingemanse, 2017; Dochtermann et al., 2015; Stirling et al., 2002), illustrating that personality traits develop under the influence of the environment (Groothuis and Trillmich, 2011). For example, genetically identical fish still develop consistent among-individual variation (Amazon molly, *Poecilia formosa*, Bierbach et al., 2017). It has been suggested that differences in experience (also reflecting environmental influences) induce positive feedback loops that gradually fix the behaviour of individuals on different developmental trajectories (Sih et al., 2015; Urszán et al., 2018; Wolf and Weissing, 2012).

Individuals may gradually diverge from one another in behavioural tendencies as they age and have different experiences (i.e., fanning-out pattern, Stamps and Biro, 2016); juveniles are therefore usually found to have lower among-individual variation than adults (e.g., Kim et al., 2012). While among-individual variation increases with age, within-individual variation decreases with age and individuals become more consistent in behaviour (e.g., Carlson and Tetzlaff, 2020). Individual differences in experience and the feedback between behaviour and its outcome are likely to affect this divergence and consistency of behaviour (Stamps and Groothuis, 2010). For example, studies indicate that the prey environment experienced during early life can shape an individual's foraging behaviour (e.g., Heinsohn, 1991; Slagsvold and Wiebe, 2007). Positive feedbacks between learning to detect, catch, and process food can lead to behavioural consistency and divergence (O'Brien et al., 1989). Indeed, foraging behaviour and personality traits such as exploration (magnitude of space use in novel environment) and boldness (approaching to a novel object) has been linked in several studies (e.g., Kurvers et al., 2010; van Overveld and Matthysen, 2010; Patrick et al., 2017). However, how foraging behaviour, diet, and personality interacts during development remains poorly studied.

Repeatability in individual-level traits is the most used measure in animal personality studies. Repeatability R is often measured as a ratio of among-individual variation

divided by the sum of among- and within-individual variation. Personality studies comparing adults and juveniles in behaviour use these *R* ratios in either a longitudinal approach (i.e., measuring the same individual over different life stages), a cross-sectional approach (i.e., comparing individuals belonging to different life stages), or a combination of both approaches. While comparing repeatability can be useful for understanding the relative magnitude of variation, different variance components give different information on behaviour (Wilson, 2018). For example, within-individual variation reflects the individuals gain different experiences (Delaney et al., 2020). Therefore, investigating factors affecting within- and among-individual variation as well as repeatability during development is helpful for understanding the mechanisms by which consistent differences arise (Dingemanse et al., 2022; Dochtermann and Royauté, 2019).

Under laboratory conditions, adult red knots (*Calidris canutus islandica*) show high repeatability in their exploratory behaviour of a novel environment (Bijleveld et al., 2014; Ersoy et al., 2022; Kok et al., 2019) and this is correlated with foraging tactics and diet in the wintering grounds (Ersoy et al., 2022). Slower exploring adult red knots mainly use tactile foraging and eat hard-shelled prey (e.g., cockles, *Cerastoderma edule*) while faster exploring adult knots use both tactile and visual foraging and eat softer prey (e.g., brown shrimp, *Crangon crangon*) and hard-shelled prey (Ersoy et al., 2022). The links between exploration, foraging tactics and diet makes red knot a good study species to investigate how foraging behaviour, diet, and personality interacts during development.

Red knots breed on the high Arctic tundra of Northern Greenland and Northeast Canada and migrate to intertidal mudflats of Western Europe for the nonbreeding season (Piersma, 2007). Adult females leave the breeding grounds when the eggs have hatched, adult males when the young are independent, and the juveniles leave latest when ca. 35 days old (Nettleship, 1974). Red knot chicks feed only on soft prey such as terrestrial arthropods and larvae that requires visual foraging in their first month of life on the Arctic tundra (Schekkerman et al., 2003). Juvenile red knots encounter hard-shelled benthic prey for the first time in the wintering grounds. Unlike their prey in the Arctic, this prey type requires tactile foraging to detect (Piersma et al., 1998). It is therefore likely that the differences in foraging tactics and diet that we find in adult red knots are determined in the wintering grounds. Through positive feedback between foraging tactics and diet, first experiences of catching different prey as a juvenile could later develop into consistency in foraging tactics and exploratory behaviour (Bijleveld, 2015;

Sih et al., 2015). However, a study on captive red knots showed that repeatability of exploration did not differ between juveniles and adults, nor significantly increased with age over time (Kok et al., 2019). Juvenile red knots were captured ca. a month after their arrival to the wintering grounds, kept in aviaries in controlled environment, and repeatability was reported from the four repeated assays conducted throughout a year in Kok et al. (2019). Lack of differences in exploration between juveniles and adults could be due to captivity effect (a conclusion by Kok et al., 2019) because juveniles in captivity may have missed the opportunity to practice their foraging strategies in the wild thus receiving no feedback in their behaviour. Therefore, measuring exploration at the field site right after capture together with estimating diet in the wild may help us to understand the developmental origin of exploration in red knots.

We conducted repeated tests of exploration behaviour of juveniles and adults in controlled settings at the field site and used stable isotope analyses of blood cells and plasma to estimate diet in the wild and the number of days that the juveniles were in the Wadden Sea after arrival from the tundra (Dietz et al., 2010). We expected juveniles to try different marine prey types thus show larger variation in diet than adults. We expected juveniles to be less repeatable in exploration with larger within-individual and smaller among-individual variation than adult red knots. Days since the diet switch from tundra to marine may influence the juvenile consistency in behaviour thus, we expected juveniles that were tested for exploration soon after arrival in the wintering grounds would have a higher difference between repeats than individuals that were caught and tested more days post-migration.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Capture Events

We used data collected between 2018 and 2021. In all years, we used night-time mist netting for ~1 week during new moon periods in the Western Dutch Wadden Sea (53°15'N, 5°15'E). Red knots were given a numbered metal ring for individual identification and their age was classified based on plumage characteristics (juvenile (<6 months), second-calendar year (6-18 months) or adult (>18 months; Prater et al. 1977). We focused on juveniles (young of the year) and adults and did not work with birds that were identified as second calendar year birds (N=13). Data collected from 57 adult red knots in 2018 were presented earlier in Ersoy et al. (2022) and used here for

comparison of exploration speed between juveniles and adults (see section: 2.5 below). As we captured few juveniles in most years, we accumulated data from 1-3 September 2019 (N=4), 3 October 2019 (N=16), 16-18 October 2020 (N=9), and 6-12 September 2021 (N=44) and used for analyses comparing exploration speed between juveniles and adults (see section: 2.5 below). In September 2021, we also captured 45 adult red knots. Juveniles (N=44) and adults (N=45) from that catching event were used in analyses comparing diet variance between juveniles and adults (see section: 2.3 below). Juveniles from September 2021 were also used in analyses investigating the factors influencing the difference between the exploration test repeats (see section: 2.6 and 2.7 below).

2.2. Stable Isotope Measurements

Blood samples (~80 μ L) for stable isotope analyses were taken from individuals during catching event in September 2021. The samples were separated into plasma and red blood cells by centrifugation (12 min, 7000 rpm) and pipetted into separate glass vials and immediately stored in a freezer at the field site. In the lab, samples were freezedried before analysis on a Thermo Scientific (Flash 2000) organic element analyser coupled to a Delta V isotope ratio mass spectrometer via a Conflo IV. A microbalance (Sartorius XM1000P) was used to weigh 0.4-0.8 mg of the freeze-dried samples into 5 x 9 mm tin capsules. Isotope values were calibrated to a certified acetanilide standard (Arndt Schimmelmann, Indiana University), controlled by certified urea and casein standards (Elemental Microanalysis) and corrected for blank tin capsules. We did not always have enough plasma samples to finalise isotope analysis (N_{excluded} = 8; juveniles N_{final}=37, adults N_{final}=44).

2.3. Diet

For the diet comparison between juveniles and adults in the Wadden Sea, we used stable isotope values of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N from blood samples that were collected in September 2021 from juvenile and adult red knots. Red blood cell isotope values reflect diet from the past ca. 45 days while plasma samples reflect diet from the past ca. 14 days (Klaassen et al., 2010). In this study, we used only values for plasma because most of the red blood cell samples of our red knots contained signatures from the Arctic breeding grounds, while none of the plasma samples had signature from breeding grounds.

To compare the variance in diet between adult and juvenile red knots, we used the R-package SIBER and calculated the standard ellipse area as a measure of diet width for each age group (Jackson et al., 2011). Standard ellipse area is a bivariate measure of the distribution of individuals in trophic space; each ellipse represents the core dietary niche of each group (Jackson et al., 2011). To account for variation in sample sizes, we calculated a Bayesian estimate using Markov chain Monte Carlo simulation with 4,000,000 iterations with 1,000,000 burn in and with two chains for each group with default priors. Overlap between ellipse areas and extent of overlap proportion were also calculated to indicate the extent of resource sharing.

2.4. Short-term captivity

After taking biometric measurements, the birds were moved to temporary outdoor aviaries of 2m x 0.75m x 0.4m (LxWxH) made of linen with a net floor covered in dried hemp (Hemparade). These aviaries were placed at the field site on natural sand/ grass ground and provided with *ad libitum* food (live and dried mealworms) and water (freshwater and seawater). Group size in the aviaries were between 8 to 12 birds. Exploratory behaviour was measured twice with on average 4 days in between (range: 2-6 days). After completing the behavioural assays, all birds were released back to their natural habitat with unique colour coded rings in the Wadden Sea. All necessary permits to catch, handle, tag, test, and keep red knots were granted to the Netherlands Institute for Sea Research (NIOZ) by the Dutch law and regulation under protocol number NIOAVD8020020171505.

2.5. Exploratory behaviour

The exploratory behaviour of adults (N = 57 from 2018) and juveniles (N = 67 from 2019, 2020, 2021) was measured after 24 hr in captivity. The assays took place in a field-based arena (see Ersoy et al., 2021 for a detailed description of the method). Briefly, a pyramid shaped mobile unit of 2m x 2m x 2m was filled with seawater (20 cm depth) and contained four identical trays (61cm x 40cm x 25cm) of wet sand on which birds could explore. No food was offered during the experiment. A GoPro (Hero Black) camera was mounted at the ceiling to record the movement trajectories at 2 frames s⁻¹. To standardise the procedure and motivate birds equally for the personality tests, we placed them individually into a holding pen without access to food. After 2 h, we started

the experiments by gently placing the bird on the sand patch in the experimental unit. Individual trials lasted 20 min per bird.

To calculate exploratory scores for individuals from videos, we used video tracking software *idtracker* (Pérez-Escudero et al., 2014). The software produced position data (x- and y-coordinates) for every frame (each 0.5 s) during 20 min that a bird spent in the mobile arena. Between two subsequent frames, we used the distance between estimated positions to calculate speed. Errors in the positioning algorithm were filtered out by excluding speeds higher than 200 cm/s. An individual's exploration speed was calculated as the mean speed during each trial.

To compare repeatability, within- and among-individual variance in exploration speed between juveniles and adults, we built a Bayesian multilevel model with the brms package (Bürkner, 2017). Exploration speed, the response variable, was log10 transformed to correct for overdispersion prior to the analysis. Age group (juvenile or adult) was added as a fixed effect to test for an influence on the intercept and again in the dispersion part of the model (i.e., sigma) to test for an effect on the residual variance (i.e., to investigate within-individual variance). Individual ID nested in age group was added as a random effect to estimate separate variance components by age for the among-individual variance. We run the model using three Markov chains for 50,000 iterations with 10,000 burn in iterations, and a thinning interval of 40. Uninformative default priors were used on all parameters. Models converged as indicated by *Rhat* values of 1.0, effective sample size measures (Bulk > 2641, Tail > 2432), and assessment through visual inspection of the trace plots. Among-individual variance (V_i) was extracted from the posterior samples of the standard deviation for random effects. Withinindividual variance (V) was extracted from the posterior samples of the dispersion part of the model (i.e., sigma). Repeatability was calculated as the among-individual variance divided by the sum of among- and within individual variances. Repeatability and variance components of adults were subtracted from the corresponding values of juveniles to investigate the magnitude of differences between the age groups (Δ).

2.6. Estimating days since juvenile switch diet from tundra to marine

Measuring the change in isotopic ratios in body tissue after a diet switch is a common technique to estimate arrival date (Hobson, 2008). We adopted the single tissue model using carbon isotope (δ^{13} C) to estimate time since diet switch (Klaassen et al., 2010):

Start and end values were taken from Dietz et al. (2010); the start value indicates where the migration started hence, we took Arctic tundra value ($\delta^{13}C = -24.7$), and end value indicates where the migration ended accordingly, we took the Wadden Sea value ($\delta^{13}C = -14.0$). We took the turnover rate value for red knots ($\lambda = 0.046$) from Klaassen et al. (2010). We fitted individual carbon isotope ($\delta^{13}C$) values from red blood cells of our juvenile red knots. The result of this function was the days since the diet switch, so to estimate arrival date we subtracted the outcome from the date of capture. Finally, we extracted arrival date from capture date to find the number of days since juveniles' arrival in the Wadden Sea.

2.7. Variation in exploration test repeats in juveniles

We were interested in the factors affecting the absolute difference between the exploration speed (log10 cm/s) measures in juveniles, however we added the data on the real difference between two exploration measures in the Supplementary Material S1. We built a Bayesian linear regression model using *brms* to test whether the absolute difference between the exploration test repeats (log10 cm/s) in juveniles (response variable) can be predicted by the number of days since arrival in the Wadden Sea. We ran the model with using three Markov chains for 50,000 iterations with 10,000 burn in iterations, and a thinning interval of 40. Uninformative default priors were used on all parameters. Model converged as indicated by *Rhat* values of 1.0 and assessment through visual inspection of the trace plots. All statistical analyses were performed with R version 4.1.2 (R Core Team, 2014).

3. Results

3.1. Does diet differ between juveniles and adults?

The posterior estimates of the standard ellipses that represents the core dietary niche of each group revealed that juveniles (Median 95% CI = 1.5 $\%^2$ (1.07; 2.06)) have larger diet variance than adults (Median 95% CI = 0.88 $\%^2$ (0.76; 1.04), Figure 1). Overlap between the standard ellipse areas of juveniles and adults was high (4.71 $\%^2$, Ellipse area _{Juveniles} = 9.37 $\%^2$, Ellipse area _{Adults} = 5.36 $\%^2$). The proportion of juveniles' ellipses overlap with adults was 0.50 and the proportion of adults' ellipses overlap with juveniles was 0.88 (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Stable isotope values (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) of plasma are from juvenile (green) and adult (orange) red knots. (a) Standard ellipses drawn to represent standard ellipse area of each age group. (b) Density plot showing the credible intervals of the Bayesian standard ellipse areas. Black dots represent their median, and the shaded boxes representing the 50%, 75% and 95% credible intervals from dark to light colours.

3.2. Do repeatability and variance components of exploration differ between juveniles and adults?

Juvenile and adult groups of red knots did not differ on their overall scores of exploration speed (Table 1, Suppl. Fig S2). Exploration speed of juveniles was less repeatable and had higher within-individual variance than for adults (Table 2, Figure 2). However, there was no difference between adults and juveniles in among-individual variance (Table 2).

 Exploration speed (log cm/s)

 Predictors
 Estimates (95% Cl)

 Intercept
 0.55 (0.49 – 0.61)

 Age (Juvenile)
 -0.04 (-0.14 – 0.04)

 Sigma: Age (Adult)
 -2.08 (-2.27 – -1.88)

 Sigma: Age (Juvenile)
 -1.66 (-1.88 – -1.40)

 Marginal R² / Conditional R²
 0.009 / 0.573

Table 1. Results from analyses comparing juvenile and adults in exploratory behaviour.

Table 2. Table compares repeatability and variance components in exploration speed by age groups. Magnitude of the difference in variability in between age groups is shown with Δ . Posterior medians and 95% credible intervals estimated from a Bayesian mixed model. Bold font indicates credible intervals do not overlap with zero.

Variance and ratio	Age gi	Difference Δ	
	Juveniles	Adults	Adult – Juvenile
	Median (95% CI)	Median (95% CI)	Median (95% CI)
Repeatability (R)	0.43 (0.23; 0.62)	0.7 (0.55; 0.83)	0.27 (0.03; 0.52)
Within-individual variance (V_w)	0.04 (0.02; 0.05)	0.02 (0.01; 0.02)	-0.02 (-0.04; -0.01)
Among-individual variance (V_i)	0.03 (0.01; 0.05)	0.04 (0.02; 0.06)	0.01 (-0.01; 0.04)



(c) Among-individual variance



Figure 2. Comparison of variance components and ratios of exploration speed between age groups. Posterior distribution of (a) repeatability of age groups (R), the difference in repeatability ($\Delta R = R_{adults} - R_{juveniles}$), (b) within-individual variance of age groups, the difference in within-individual variance ($\Delta V_w = V_{w_adults} - V_{w_juveniles}$), (c) among-individual variance of age groups, the difference in among-individual variance ($\Delta V_i = V_{i_adults} - V_{i_juveniles}$). Posterior medians and 95% credible intervals estimated from a Bayesian mixed model.

3.3. Do the days since diet switch explain the variation in exploration in juveniles?

The absolute difference between the exploration test repeats differed between juveniles and ranged from 0.01 to 0.66 (Median = 0.18). Estimated number of days since diet switch from tundra to marine (i.e., days since arrival in the Wadden Sea) ranged from 14 to 33 days (Median = 21.5) and did not explain the difference between the exploration test repeats (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Absolute difference between the two (log10 cm/s) exploration speed measures of juveniles (y axis) in response to the number of days since arrival in the Wadden Sea. Data is from juveniles caught in September 2021.

4. Discussion

In this study, we investigated how foraging behaviour and diet associates with exploratory personality during development. We found that juvenile red knots have more diverse diet than adults, and that juveniles (vs. adults) showed lower repeatability with higher within- but not differing among-individual variation in exploration trait. Number of days since diet switch from tundra to marine areas did not explain the intraindividual variation in the exploration scores for juveniles. We discuss how the feedback between learning to detect, catch, and process food at early age can favour behavioural consistency later in life.

Changes in repeatability with age could be caused by changes in within- only, amongonly, or within- and among-individual variances combined. Repeatability (R = 0.70) in adult exploration scores in our study was higher than for juveniles (R = 0.43). We did not find any differences in the among-individual variation in exploration between age groups. Thus, the increase in repeatability between juveniles and adults is likely to be explained by a decrease in within-individual variation during development. Indeed, other studies also found a decrease in within-individual variation leading to increased repeatability with age (e.g., in sea anemones, Actinia equina, Osborn and Briffa, 2017 and mosquitofish, Gambusia holbrooki; Polverino et al., 2016). The value for repeatability in juveniles (R = 0.43) in this study was similar to another study that measured exploratory personality of red knots captured as juveniles then raised and tested in captive conditions over two years period (R = 0.48, Kok et al., 2019). In that captivity study, juvenile's repeatability in exploration increased with age from first (juvenile age R = 0.48) to second year (adult age R = 0.60). Although this increase was not statistically significant (Kok et al., 2019), it was close to the effect size of the birds in this study. A repeatability 0.4 can be considered as a repeatable behaviour in animal personality studies (Baker et al., 2018). Together with this relatively high repeatability of juveniles, and the lack of differences in the among-individual variation between adult and juveniles, we conclude that part of juvenile personality has already developed before we captured them. Thus, development of exploratory personality would have taken place on the tundra breeding grounds or within the first week in the marine areas. However, our findings on the decrease in within-individual variation between age groups shows that experiences that juvenile gain in their first month in the wintering grounds are important and influences the consistency of exploratory behaviour later in life.

We found that within the first month after arriving on the wintering grounds, juveniles are more likely to eat a variety of prey types than adults. Juvenile red knots — unlike adults — have been observed eating atypical food items (e.g., algae) in atypical locations (e.g., harbours) in the Wadden Sea (observed in two separate years, unpublished data, Suppl. Figure S3). A reduction in diet variation from juvenile to adult stage in the Wadden Sea could have three potential non-mutual explanations: (1) Competition for food on the Wadden Sea mudflats may be high; juveniles may be pushed out from the

mudflats by competitively superior adults, so they search food in alternative places and find different types of food (e.g., Cresswell, 1994). Indeed, a study on *canutus* subspecies of red knots wintering in Mauritania showed that juveniles feed separately from adults and they do so in more dangerous locations (van den Hout et al., 2014). (2) Food searching is only possible when the water retreats on mudflats and juveniles might be less successful at catching shellfish than adults in the limited period on mudflats. It could be that juveniles also search for food during high tide period in atypical locations. (3) There may be larger variation in the areas used by juvenile red knots and the food that they encounter there (Piersma et al., 1993). Ultimately, survival of those juveniles that eat different types of food may be low.

The amount of feedback between the foraging behaviour and its outcome, i.e., foraging experiences juvenile gain in the marine environment, may influence the consistency of exploratory behaviour. We expected the amount of time spent in the Wadden Sea would explain the within-individual variation in juvenile exploration. However, juvenile red knots that were tested for exploration soon after arrival in the wintering grounds did not have a higher difference between repeats than individuals that were caught and tested more days post-migration. In our study, we did not catch and test the same juvenile in different time periods, instead we collected data from different juveniles that arrived in the wintering grounds in different times. Thus, we did not account for the individual variation in learning between juveniles. Speed of learning through feedback between detecting, catching, and processing food can vary between juveniles, thus the amount of time is needed for behaviour to become consistent may not be the same for all juvenile red knots. For example, young ones mostly learn from watching experienced adults in social foraging animals (Heyes, 1994; Watts, 1985); juvenile red knots that forages in the same flock with adults may be more likely to learn certain foraging strategies faster.

In conclusion, larger within-individual variance in exploration scores of juveniles (vs. adults) together with their diverse diet in our study shows that free-living juveniles are likely to practice their foraging strategies in the wild. The feedback they receive between foraging behaviour and its outcome during the first weeks in the wintering grounds later develops into consistency in both foraging tactics and exploratory behaviour. However, each juvenile is likely to differ in how fast they apply these feedbacks in their behaviour. The environment that the juveniles experience together with the switch from tundra to marine diet may initiate the changes in the foraging behaviour. Through its role in

repeated exposures, the environment an individual experiences can mould the behaviour during ontogeny (West-Eberhard, 2005).

Acknowledgements

We thank Natuurmonumenten for permission to conduct this research on Griend. We thank field assistants and volunteers for helping with data collection, in particular, we thank Anne Dekinga, Job ten Horn, Luc de Monte, Calu Noriega Hoyos. We thank Ronald van Bommel and Marcel van der Meer for technical assistance with the stable isotope analyses. We thank the crews of the NIOZ research vessels RV *Navicula* and RV *Stern* for safely transporting us around the Wadden Sea. We thank Raphaël Royauté for directing us to the method that we were able to compare variance ratios of different groups in the same dataset. We also thank Eus de Groot for his observations on juvenile knots foraging on algae. This study was funded by the core funding of NIOZ and the NWO-Veni grant to AIB (VI.Veni.192.051).

Authors' Contributions

SE and AIB designed the study. SE, CEB and ED collected the data. SE analysed the data. SE drafted the first version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to writing of the final manuscript. None of the authors have a conflict of interest.



Supplementary Materials

Figure S1. Real difference between two exploration speed (log10 cm/s) measures (y axis), estimated days since arrival in the Wadden Sea. Individual points above zero indicate that juveniles were faster in their first exploration measure than second measure, and values below zero show that juvenile were faster in second exploration measure than first measure.



Figure S2. Repeated measurements of exploration speed (log10 cm/sec) on adults and juveniles.



Figure S3. Anecdotal observations from juvenile red knots eating algae on Harlingen harbour in 2019 and 2020. Some juveniles were tagged so we could retrieve their location in the Wadden Sea (left panel). Many thanks to Eus de Groot for taking red knot pictures in Harlingen (right panel).

Learning to be a shellfish forager



BOX 1

Slow-exploring red knots benefit from foraging in groups

Selin Ersoy, Aileen Roncoroni, Allert I. Bijleveld

Individuals living in groups can benefit from using social information on foraging opportunities, which may ultimately lead to increased survival rates (Clark and Mangel, 1986). Individuals that live in groups (e.g., schools of fish, flocks of birds) have been shown to locate food through observing conspecifics that results in an increase in their foraging success (Buckley, 1996). Interestingly, individuals can differ consistently in how they locate the food (i.e., finding food by themselves or by observing foraging success by others; reviewed in Valone, 2007). Consistent behavioural traits (also known as personality traits; Verbeek et al., 1994) could be one of the factors associating with individual differences in food finding strategies. For example, faster exploring great tits Parus major in controlled settings are more likely to discover new feeders in the natural habitat than slower explorers (van Overveld and Matthysen, 2010) and slower barnacle geese Branta leucopsis scrounge on the food discoveries of faster geese (Kurvers et al., 2010b). Faster exploring individuals may be more likely to find food successfully themselves when foraging alone (vs. in a group) while slower explorers may be more successful at finding food in group foraging scenarios (vs. alone). Understanding how exploratory behaviour links to foraging behaviour when foraging in groups could give insights on the individual differences in foraging success (Marchetti and Drent, 2000). Here, we conducted experiments to investigate the relationship between exploratory behaviour and foraging success (i.e., speed of finding food) in group foraging scenarios of captive red knots Calidris canutus.

Red knot are shorebirds that forage on patchily distributed shellfish in large groups of up to 15,000 individuals in the wild (Piersma et al., 1993). Red knots can detect the foraging success of conspecifics and scrounge on the food discoveries of others (Bijleveld et al., 2015), however, they do so while avoiding physical encounters with conspecifics (Bijleveld et al., 2012). In laboratory experiments, red knots have been shown to differ consistently in exploratory behaviour (Bijleveld et al., 2014). Exploratory behaviour could be one of the individual behavioural traits that is associated with successful food finding while foraging with conspecifics in group. In laboratory experiments using captive red knots, we asked how the speed of finding hidden food in experimental arena is affected by 1) exploratory behaviour, 2) number of conspecifics, and 3) how these two variables interact.

Fifty red knots of the *islandica* subspecies were captured with mist-nets in the Dutch Wadden Sea near the island of Griend (53°15'N, 5°15'E) in October 2019 and then transported to the shorebird facility in the NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea

Research ($53^{\circ}00'12.1$ "N, $4^{\circ}47'23.3$ "E). We first assayed the exploratory behaviour of red knots in the indoor arena under controlled conditions (with the same method used in Chapter Two, Bijleveld et al., 2014; Kok et al., 2019). In short, we tested the birds inside an arena ($7m \times 7m \times 3m$) filled with 30 cm seawater and containing food-free wet sand patches ($1m \times 1m \times 35cm$), and we recorded the trials with a camera placed on the ceiling. The individual's movements were later tracked with an automated tracking software (idTracker, Pérez-Escudero et al., 2014). We calculated the movement speed of the bird. The log10 of the mean speed (m/s) was used as a measure for exploration speed.

We then created an experimental indoor foraging arena (7 m x 3.15 m x 3 m) where food was patchily distributed and hidden in trays (Figure 1). All trays were empty apart from one that was randomly assigned, and individuals needed to search each tray to find the food. We tested each individual by themselves (i.e., number of conspecifics = 0) and with increasing number of conspecifics in group (0 to 3). We ran a total of 200 experimental trials (50 birds x 4 trials). We first tested the birds individually in the experimental arena (N_{trial} = 50) and then with other randomly assigned individuals that had exploration speed (log10 cm/s) ranging from -0.15 to 0.93, forming groups of two (N_{trial} = 50), three (N_{trial} = 50) and four (N_{trial} = 50). To eliminate the effect of the time of the day on the experimental results, we randomly assigned the order of trials per day. In the group experiments, we only analysed the focal bird's behaviour (i.e., not the partners'). The time from the bird to enter the experimental arena until the bird discovered the food patch was defined as "searching time". In case birds did not search for the food patch or did not find it, experiments were ended after 10 minutes.

To analyse the data of the foraging experiments, we used a linear mixed-effect model using the *lme4* package in R after checking for collinearity, overdispersion, and model assumptions (homogeneity and normality of residuals) (Bates et al., 2011). The response variable was the searching time in seconds and was log10 transformed to meet normality assumptions. We added exploration speed (log10 cm/s) obtained from the exploration assays, number of conspecifics (cont. 0-3), and interaction between the two as fixed effects. To control for repeated measures on individuals, we added 'focal bird ID nested in group' and the 'location ID of the food patch' as random effects.


Figure 1: Illustration showing the experimental arena with the location and labels of the food patches. Only one of the patches randomly assigned had food in it. Illustration by Aileen Ron-coroni.

We found that, food searching time decreased with increased number of conspecifics in the group (Table 1), showing that all individuals became faster in food-finding when in a group. Slope of food searching time and number of conspecifics was different for different values of exploration speed (Table 1); slope of slow explorers declined, and slope of fast explorers increased with increasing number of conspecifics in the group (Figure 2b). This can be interpreted that the slowest explorers became faster in finding food with increasing number of conspecifics in the group, but that the fastest exploring birds took longer to find food with increasing number of conspecifics in the group (Figure 2).

Table 1. Results from the statistical analysis performed through a linear mixed-effect model investigating the factors explaining the food searching time in experiments. Bold font indicates confidence intervals do not overlap zero. ICC is the intraclass correlation coefficient, N indicates sample size.

	Searching time (seconds)
Predictors	Estimates 95% CI
Intercept	1.88 (1.70, 2.06)
Exploration score (log10 mean speed cm/s)	-0.52 (-0.93, -0.11)
Number of conspecifics (cont. 0-3)	-0.17 (-0.25, -0.09)
Exploration score: Number of conspecifics (cont. 0-3)	0.28 (0.07, 0.49)

	Searching time (seconds)	
Predictors	Estimates 95% CI	
Random Effects		
Residual	0.15	
Among-BirdID	0.08	
Among-Food location	0.03	
BirdID nested in group	0.01	
ICC	0.39	
N _{BirdID}	50	
N Food location	14	
Observations	200	
Marginal R ² / Conditional R ²	0.079 / 0.436	

Table 1. Continued

This study provides insights on how foraging success of single individuals can be influenced by the presence of other individuals in a way that depends on their personality. Faster exploring red knots were fast at finding food when tested alone but slower explorers became faster with increasing number of conspecifics in group. Taking together, our results suggests that the relation between personality and foraging success is not fixed but depends on the foraging context (Marchetti and Drent, 2000). Faster exploring individuals that are better at finding food may attract slower individuals in their foraging areas that may increase competition for food. However, faster explorers may also gain greater benefits from being in group because foraging in a group reduces predation risk (Elgar, 1986). Individuals with different personalities may therefore have different costs and benefits associated with their different tactics that nevertheless result in overall equally successful strategies.



Figure 2. Exploration speed (log10 cm/s) interacting with number of conspecifics (0-3) predicts food-searching time (in seconds). (a) For red knots tested individually (number of conspecifics = 0, slope of black line), faster explorers found food in less time than slower explorers. With the increasing number of conspecifics (1, 2 and 3, slopes of red, green, and blue lines, respectively), slower explorers found food in less time than faster explorers. (b) Continuous exploration score is separated into three groups for visualisation purposes only: 20 individuals with higher exploration speeds are labelled as "fast", 20 with lower exploration speeds are considered "slow", and the 10 in the middle constitute the mean exploration score of the group. Slope of slow explorers declined, and slope of fast explorers increased with increasing group size.

Slow-exploring red knots benefit from foraging in groups



CHAPTER 4

Free-living red knots show personality-related movements at night, but not during the day

Selin Ersoy, Pratik Gupte, Christine Beardsworth, Allert I. Bijleveld

Manuscript

Abstract

Movement can be a measurable result of behavioural mechanisms that are triggered by the environmental context. Movement patterns can consistently differ across individuals within the same population, and personality traits measured in controlled settings sometimes link to movement patterns in the wild. However, the link between personality and movement is not always evident. This could be because the behaviour of an individual is triggered by environmental factors, such as storms, group foraging or predation risk, and personality-related movement patterns can differ between different contexts. Shorebirds that forage both during the day and the night provides an opportunity to test whether personality-related movement patterns differ between two very different contexts. Whereas daylight provides an abundance of visual cues for foraging opportunities such as flock mates or landmarks, as well as the risk of aerial predation, these are largely absent at night. Differences in predation risk and visual cues between day and night could mean that personality differences are masked by these challenges or conversely, amplified. To test the relationship between personality trait and movement in two different context (day and night), we captured free-living red knots Calidris canutus and assayed their exploration speed in controlled settings. We then released the same birds with ATLAS transmitters and investigated their movement within and between residence patches (areas where birds are stationary or walking). We found that red knots are moderately repeatable on their movement speed in residence patches (R = 0.26). All red knots moved further between residence patches and had higher within-residence patch duration, distance, and displacement distance, at night compared to daytime. We also found that faster exploring red knots differed in these movement patterns at night more than slower explorers; specifically, faster (vs. slower) exploring knots moved further between residence patches and travelled more, stayed longer, and displaced further in a residence patch at night. The number of residence patches visited per low tide did not differ between day and night, but faster (vs. slower) exploring red knots visited fewer residence patches at night. In contrast, none of the residence patch movement parameters during the day correlated with exploration scores. The differences between day and night may be explained by personality being masked by the abundance of visual cues for foraging opportunities such as flock mates or landmarks, as well as the risk of aerial predation. The absence of threats and cues at night would facilitate the expression of personality-related movement behaviours.

1. Introduction

Animal movement varies from fine-scale foraging movements to larger-scale migratory movements. Movement patterns can differ across individuals within the same population, and this difference is found to be consistent in behaviours such as foraging site fidelity (Harris et al., 2019), distance travelled per day (Hertel et al., 2021), and stopover use during migration (Hasselquist et al., 2017). Consistent differences in behaviour over time and across contexts among individuals within the same species has been studied within the framework of 'animal personality' and has been shown to be a common, cross-taxonomic phenomenon in nature (Réale et al., 2010; Sih et al., 2004). This consistency across contexts is often studied in a laboratory setting, but field data linking personality traits that are assayed in controlled settings to behaviour in the wild are limited (Carter et al., 2013a). This may be because following wild animals in their natural environments can be technologically challenging. In recent years, technological advances in animal tracking have allowed systematic collection of individual movement data (Jetz et al., 2022; Nathan et al., 2022), and advanced spatial analyses have revealed previously unknown processes on individual differences in space use (Webber et al., 2020). However, movement behaviour of an individual in the wild often depends on the environmental context and/or on the accuracy of the movement data. Linking personality traits that are assayed in controlled settings to movement behaviours of free-living animals is therefore an important step in understanding behaviour in the wild (Spiegel et al., 2017).

Experimentally measured personality traits are sometimes found to correlate with movement behaviour in the wild (e.g., Harris et al., 2019; Patrick et al., 2017; Schirmer et al., 2019) but this link is not always evident (e.g., Carter et al., 2013b; Cote et al., 2013; Luna et al., 2019). This could be because individuals usually face different environmental contexts in the wild (e.g., predation, food availability, social dynamics). For example, dispersing mosquitofish *Gambusia affinis* are less social than resident mosquitofish when there is no predation risk, but they do not show personality-related dispersal behaviour when there is a predation risk; then both dispersers and residents show similar personalities (Cote et al., 2013). Visual cues can be an important determinant of the behaviour in the wild such as when animals can see that they are under risk of a predation or when their foraging success depends on reliable social information (Engeszer et al., 2004; Lima and Dill, 1990). For example, shy chacma baboons *Papio ursinus* scrounge

on the food discoveries of bold baboons when the food is hidden, but they do not show personality-related foraging decision when they can see the food (Carter et al., 2013b).

Movement can be a measurable result of behavioural mechanisms that are triggered by the environmental context and thus, provides a good opportunity to test whether personality traits that are assayed in controlled settings are context-dependent in the wild. Shorebirds that forage both during the day and the night offer a possibility to test whether personality-related movement patterns differ between two very different contexts. Whereas daylight provides an abundance of visual cues for foraging opportunities such as flock mates or landmarks, as well as the risk of aerial predation, these are largely absent at night. The red knot *Calidris canutus islandica* is a migratory shorebird that breeds in the high Arctic of northern Greenland and north-east Canada and winters in the mudflats of the Wadden Sea in western Europe (Piersma, 2007). Under laboratory conditions, red knots differ consistently among individuals in their exploratory behaviour (Bijleveld et al., 2014; Ersoy et al., 2022; Kok et al., 2019) and exploratory movement speed is repeatable over time in controlled settings (R = 0.67, Ersoy et al., 2022). Faster exploring red knots eat higher quality, soft prey and have a smaller gizzard muscle (Bijleveld et al., 2014; Ersoy et al., 2022). Red knots with smaller (vs. bigger) gizzards have shown to move larger areas such as between England, Germany, and Netherlands (Bijleveld et al., 2014) thus, faster (vs. slower) exploring individuals may be expected to use larger space in the wild.

In the Wadden Sea, there are two low tide periods per day (24 h 50 m). On the mudflats, red knots forage in large groups (up to flocks of 15,000 individuals, Piersma et al., 1993) on a highly heterogeneous and patchily distributed prey (Bijleveld et al., 2016; Kraan et al., 2009, 2010; Oudman et al., 2018). Red knots mainly forage on buried hard-shelled prey which they find by touch while probing the sediment (van Gils and Piersma, 1999). When a prey is detected, they briefly handle and swallow it whole (Suppl. videos from Ersoy et al., 2022 and Bijleveld et al., 2015). During foraging, they can observe each other and detect the foraging success of conspecifics (Bijleveld et al., 2015). Besides gathering information about food patches, foraging in large groups also brings safety in case of predator attacks such as from peregrine falcons *Falco peregrinus* (Piersma et al., 1993). In line with previous research, we may expect personality to influence movement parameters (Bijleveld et al., 2014). However, this might depend on the environmental context. Red knots may behave similarly during the day, regardless of personality score. This is because red knots forage with very large numbers of flock

mates who are unlikely to share the same personality score thus, dampening the effect of personality on movement parameters. Equally, when a predator is present, all individuals may react similarly (Cote et al., 2013) to avoid being singled out by a predator (Page and Whitacre, 1975) thus, masking the effects of personality on movement parameters. However, reduction in light levels during the night may mean that red knots might not be able to use flock mates as indicators of foraging possibilities and predation risk is low because peregrine falcons are not active during the night. Thus, the absence of these environmental drivers at night may amplify the effect of personality on movement parameters at night.

In this study, we tested the relationship between a personality trait and movement parameters in two different context (day and night). First, we captured free-living red knots *Calidris canutus* and assayed their exploration speed in a controlled setting. We then released the same birds with ATLAS transmitters and investigated their movement during the day and the night. Residence patches represent areas where the birds are stationary or slow moving (i.e., between flight movements; Barraquand and Benhamou, 2008) and therefore indicating potential foraging activity during low tide. We specifically looked at movement within and between residence patches. As red knots show high repeatability in their movement speed in captivity (Ersoy et al., 2022), we also expected high repeatability in movement speed within residence patches (Stuber et al., 2022). We investigated how the experimentally measured personality trait – exploration speed – interacts with day and night residence patch movement parameters. We predicted that faster exploring red knots would move more frequently and larger distances during low tide than slower exploring red knots. We attempted to assay this by assessing different temporal and spatial scales of movement; specifically, displacement and total distance travelled within a residence patch, duration of residence, number of residence patches visited and displacement distance between residence patches. We expected this effect to be more prominent at night than during the day.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study system

We collected data from red knots in three field seasons during August to October in years 2018 to 2020 on Griend mudflats in the western Dutch Wadden Sea (53°15'N, 5°15'E). For this study, in total 250 adult red knots were caught through mist-netting

81

during 7 catching attempts in the new moon nights of August 2018 (N= 38), September 2018 (N= 70), August 2019 (N= 27), September 2019 (N= 13), October 2019 (N= 62), August 2020 (N= 8), and September 2020 (N= 32). Red knots were given a numbered metal ring for individual identification and their biometrics were measured. They were then moved to temporary outdoor aviaries of $2m \ge 0.75m \ge 0.4m$ (LxWxH) made of linen with a net floor. These aviaries were placed on natural sand/grass ground and provided with *ad libitum* food (live and dried mealworms) and water (freshwater and seawater). Group sizes in the aviaries were between 8 and 12 birds.

2.2. Exploratory behaviour

Exploratory personality was measured in a field-based mobile arena to measure exploration speed within 24hr after capture with identical method published in Ersoy et al (2022). The birds that were caught in 2018 and 2019 were also used in Ersoy et al. (2022). To score the exploration speed of red knots at the field site, we used a pyramid shaped mobile arena of 2m x 2m x 2m. The floor of the unit consists of seawater of 20 cm depth in which four identical trays with wet sand (61cm x 40cm x 25cm) were situated. Birds could explore these artificial patches in which no food was offered. A GoPro (Hero Black) camera was fixed to the ceiling to record the movement trajectories. To standardize the procedure and motivate birds equally for the personality tests, we placed them individually into a holding pen without access to food for 2 hours prior to the experiment. After 2 hours, we started the experiments by gently placing the bird on the sand patch in the experimental unit. Individual trials lasted 20 minutes per bird.

To calculate exploratory movement of individuals from videos recorded by the ceiling camera, we used video tracking software *idtracker* (Pérez-Escudero et al., 2014). The software produced position data (i.e., x- and y-coordinates) every 0.5 s during the 20 minutes that each bird spent in the mobile arena. Exploration speed is calculated as mean speed between consecutive positions (cm/s) per trial. Errors in the video-based position tracking were filtered out by excluding unrealistic speeds higher than 200 cm/s.

After measuring individual exploration, red knots were released on Griend mudflats (where they were captured before) during the low tide period at the end of the day with unique combinations of colour rings and with ATLAS tags (Toledo et al., 2022) weighing 4.4 g (ca. 3.3% of red knot body mass) to retrieve their locations in the Wadden Sea (Beardsworth et al., 2022; Bijleveld et al., 2021; Nathan et al., 2022). All necessary

permits to catch, handle, tag, test, and keep red knots were granted to the NIOZ by the Dutch law and regulation under protocol number NIOAVD8020020171505.

2.3. Tracking movement

We used the Wadden Sea ATLAS (Advanced Tracking and Localization of Animals in real-life Systems) tracking system (hereafter WATLAS, Bijleveld et al., 2021) to track red knots on Griend, an important shorebird roosting and foraging site (Piersma et al., 1993). WATLAS is a regional-scale, high-throughput movement tracking system that focuses on the mudflats surrounding Griend. WATLAS comprises an array of receivers that continuously detect tag transmissions. When a transmission is detected, the receiver records the arrival time. These arrival time measurements are sent to a centralized server where location estimates can be computed when at least three receivers detect the signal (see Bijleveld et al., 2021 for further details on WATLAS; and Weiser et al., 2016 for similar systems). In our study, the tags transmit every three seconds in 2018 and every six seconds in 2019 and 2020, and birds were localized as long as they were within the receiver array.

We removed localizations recorded in the 24 hours immediately following release, to prevent the stress of capture and experimentation from biasing further analyses. We first subsampled 2018 data in six seconds to bring these to the same tracking interval as 2019 and 2020 data. To exclude errors in the localization data, we pre-processed these following a protocol we had developed in our study system and for high-throughput animal tracking generally (Beardsworth et al., 2022; Gupte et al., 2022). Briefly, we first targeted large-scale errors and filtered out localizations where the error estimate (provided by the WATLAS system) in the x axis (VARX) and the y axis (VARY) was less than 5000, and where movement speed between localizations was > 30 ms⁻¹. We then accounted for fine-scale errors by taking a 5-point moving median of the x and y coordinates.

2.4. Residence patch identification

We used the tracking data (localization every six seconds) to identify residence patches for our birds (Barraquand and Benhamou, 2008; Bijleveld et al., 2016; Gupte et al., 2022). We calculated residence patches per bird between two consecutive high tides if it had > 100 localizations. Three or more localizations within a 75m buffer of each other

and lasting two minutes were classified as a residence patch. For situations with missing localizations, residence patches were additionally differentiated if the speed between consecutive localizations was above 3 m s⁻¹, or if the gap between localizations lasted longer than 180 minutes. For each residence patch, we then computed the following metrics: the median coordinates, the entry and exit coordinates, their associated absolute times, the number of localizations, the duration, and the distance travelled within each patch (as summed distance between localizations) and the linear displacement distance in a patch (from entry to exit localization). Example figure showing residence patches in a map can be found in Suppl. Fig. S1.

Observational study data showed that red knots spend ~ 80% of time foraging when mudflats are exposed (Ersoy et al., 2022). In this study, we used residence patches only from periods when mudflats were exposed and available for foraging, which corresponded to water levels below 50 cm NAP (hereafter called 'low tide', Suppl. Fig. S2). We used the water-level data that is recorded by Rijkswaterstaat at West-Terschelling harbour (53.361 N, 5.216 E). Because of the distance from this location to our study site Griend (12.3 km), we added a 30 min offset to the water level. To investigate the movement difference between day and night context, we additionally selected residence patches that started and ended in day or night only, excluding the twilight period. Day and night were assigned using the *solarpos* function from the *maptools* (v1.0-2) R package to calculate the position (in degrees) of the sun in relation to the horizon (>0 = day; <-18 = night) at Griend.

2.5. Data analysis

We analysed residence patch data from 186 red knots that were assayed in exploratory behaviour and released with WATLAS tags (Suppl. Fig. S3) between mid-August to late-October in study years 2018, 2019, and 2020 around Griend area in the Dutch Wadden Sea. We have identified in total 46,206 residence patches (28,341 in 2018, 3,892 in 2019, and 3,943 in 2020) with a mean of 248 residence patches per bird (*Median* = 149, *Min* = 22, *Max* = 1033). In all years, nights were shorter than days, which resulted in a lower number of residence patches at night than during the day. Specifically, number of low tides at night was $N_{tide_{2018}}$ =81, $N_{tide_{2019}}$ =115, $N_{tide_{2020}}$ =90 and during the day was $N_{tide_{2019}}$ =103, $N_{tide_{2019}}$ =146, $N_{tide_{2020}}$ =111. The numbers of individuals tracked at night were $N_{birdID_{2018}}$ =68, $N_{birdID_{2019}}$ =76, $N_{birdID_{2020}}$ =45 and during the day was $N_{birdID_{2018}}$ =71, $N_{birdID_{2019}}$ =92, $N_{birdID_{2020}}$ =55. The mean duration of residence patches at night was 67 min

and during the day was 45 min. Individuals did not differ in the number of localizations between day and night according to their exploration speed.

We first investigate whether foraging-related movement speed of an individual is repeatable. We used mean speed per low tide as response variable to make the repeatability of movement behaviour comparable to our exploration measurements in controlled settings (mean speed of 20 min trial). We built a mixed model with *gaussian* distribution and response variable was log10 transformed prior to the analysis to fit normality assumptions. To measure the repeatability from mixed model, we added Bird ID as random effect and night/day ratio and the mean water level of the tide as fixed effects. None of the Bird ID was repeated in different years. Repeatability (*R*) was calculated by dividing among-individual variation by the sum of among- and within-individual variation (Nakagawa and Schielzeth, 2010). We report how both within-individual (i.e., residual) and among-individual variance components contributed to the overall repeatability.

We then examined how an experimentally measured personality trait – exploration speed - predicts residence patch movements of free-living red knots during low tide using mixed models with gaussian distribution. In all models, we controlled for available area for foraging on the mudflats because the available area the birds can go to on intertidal mudflats changes depending on the water level and the height of the location. To calculate the available area, we used the bathymetry data (includes information about the depths and shapes of underwater terrain) for our study area (Griend) from Rijkswaterstaat, we then counted the number of raster cells (20x20 m), which reflected the total available area exposed and available for foraging (Suppl. Fig. S2). We controlled for day and night period differences (as nights were always shorter than days in our sampling periods) with adding ratio between length of night over length of day as a covariate. We corrected for tide status ('incoming' or 'outcoming') as all birds are pushed by the water to the beach with incoming tide when water level increases, but this tidal force on birds' movement is absent in outgoing tide when water level decreases. We additionally assumed that localization measurements taken from the same individual, tide and year are more similar to each other than expected by random, i.e., they are not independent. Therefore, we added the factors 'Bird ID', 'Tide ID', and 'Year' as random effects.

Chapter 4

Model 1, we fitted multivariate mixed effect model with multiple response variables (within-residence patch parameters: distance in patch (m), duration in patch (min), displacement distance in patch (m)). Response variables were log10 transformed prior to the analysis to fit normality assumptions. The three behaviours were on different scales (distance and displacement distance in metres, residence duration in minutes). For better model fitting we scaled the behaviours, meaning that we centred each variable at its mean value and standardize it to units of one phenotypic standard deviation. Exploration speed measured in experimental setup (log10 mean speed cm/sec) interacting with day-night status (categorical; 'day' or 'night') in addition to available area, night/day ratio, and tide status (categorical; 'incoming' or 'outgoing') were added as explanatory variables together with random factors (Bird ID, Tide ID, Year). To estimate the correlation between response variables on the Bird ID level, we specified in the model that all varying effects of Bird ID should be modelled as correlated.

Model 2, displacement distance between residence patches (m) was calculated as the linear distance travelled from exit to entry localizations of consecutive residence patches was fitted as a response variable and was log10 transformed prior to the analysis to fit normality assumptions. Exploration speed measured in experimental setup (log10 mean speed cm/sec) interacting with day-night status (categorical; 'day' or 'night') in addition to night/day ratio were added as explanatory variables together with random factors (Bird ID, Tide ID, Year).

Model 3, number of residence patches visited per low tide was calculated by counting the number of residence patches of a bird visited per low tide and correcting for the total duration of residence patches that bird was tracked in that low tide. The number of patch visits was log10 transformed prior to the analysis to fit normality assumptions. Exploration speed measured in experimental setup (log10 mean speed cm/sec) interacting with day-night status (categorical; 'day' or 'night') in addition to available area, night/day ratio, and tide status (categorical; 'incoming' or 'outgoing') were added as explanatory variables together with random factors (Bird ID, Tide ID, Year).

We fitted all models using R package *brms* (Bürkner, 2017) based on the Bayesian software *Stan* (Carpenter et al., 2017; Stan Development Team, 2018). We run the models using two Markov chains for 5,000 iterations with 1,000 burn-in iterations, with a warmup of 5,000, and a thinning interval of 4. Given that response variables were transformed prior to the analysis, we used uninformative default priors on all parameters.

Model converged as indicated by *Rhat* values of 1.0 and assessment through visual inspection of the trace plots. All statistical analyses were performed with R version 4.2.1 (R Core Team, 2014). We additionally ran *post hoc* comparisons for the interaction terms 'Exploration speed: Day/Night' using *emmeans* R package (Length, 2022).

3. Results

Individual repeatability of mean speed in a residence patch was 0.26 (0.18, 0.32 95%CI), among-individual variance 0.07 (0.06, 0.07 95%CI) and within-individual (i.e., residual) variance was 0.20 (0.19, 0.21 95%CI).

Model 1 with within-residence patch movement parameters (distance (m), duration (min), displacement distance (m) in a residence patch, Table 1) showed that at the population level, individuals had higher values at night than during the day, and that day-night movement revealed an interaction with exploration speed that was measured in captivity. Specifically, a *post hoc* comparison showed that at night, faster exploring red knots moved further, stayed longer, and displaced further within a residence patch than slower exploring red knots (Figure 1). In contrast, individuals that differed in exploration speed in captivity did not differ in within-residence patch movement parameters during the day. The area available on mudflats predicted the displacement distance within a residence patch (positively) but did not predict distance travelled and duration in a residence patch. During outgoing tide, red knots travelled further and stayed longer but displaced shorter in a residence patch than incoming tide. The correlation analysis between three response variables on the individual level showed that distance and duration in a residence patch are positively correlated while displacement in a residence patch did not correlate with other response variables.

Model 2 on displacement distance between patches (Table 1) showed that individuals travelled further between patches at night than during the day, and that day-night movement revealed an interaction with exploration speed measured in captivity. Specifically, a *post hoc* comparison showed that at night, faster exploring red knots moved further between residence patches than slower exploring red knots (Figure 2). In contrast, individuals that differed in exploration speed in captivity did not differ on the displacement distance between patches during the day. During outgoing tide, red knots travelled further between residence patches than incoming tide.

Model 3 on number of residence patches visited per low tide (Table 1) showed that day-night movement revealed an interaction with exploration speed measured in captivity. Specifically, a *post hoc* comparison showed that at night, faster exploring red knots visited smaller number of residence patches than slower exploring red knots. In contrast, individuals that differed in exploration speed in captivity did not differ on the number of residence patches visited per tide during the day (Figure 2).

Table 1: Results for the effects of exploration speed interacting with day-night, available area, tide status, and night/day length ratio on distance travelled (m), duration (min), and displacement distance (m) within residence patch (Model 1), and exploration speed interacting with day-night, available area, tide status, and night/day length ratio on the displacement distance travelled between patches (Model 2), and exploration speed interacting with day-night and night/day length ratio on number of patch visits per low tide (Model 3). *Post hoc* comparison shows marginal means of linear trends and *contrasts* which shows general contrasts of factor levels. Bold font indicates 95% Bayesian Credible Intervals does not overlap zero.

	Model 1		Model 2	Model 3	
	Distance in residence patch (log10 m)	Duration in residence patch (log10 min)	Displacement in residence patch (log10 m)	Displacement between residence patches (log10 m)	Number of residence patches visited (log10 n per low tide)
	Estimate	Estimate	Estimate	Estimate	Estimate
	95% CI	95% CI	95% CI	95% CI	95% CI
Population-Level E	Effects:				
Intercept	-0.06	-0.10	0.11	2.30	0.39
	(-0.24, 0.13)	(-0.50, 0.22)	(-0.24, 0.43)	(1.97, 2.50)	(0.16, 0.60)
Exploration speed (log10 cm/s)	-0.03	-0.02	-0.04	-0.01	0.04
	(-0.10, 0.04)	(-0.09, 0.04)	(-0.14, 0.05)	(-0.04, 0.02)	(-0.02, 0.09)
Day-Night [night]	0.34	0.35	0.58	0.16	0.00
	(0.29, 0.39)	(0.30, 0.40)	(0.54, 0.64)	(0.14, 0.19)	(-0.03, 0.03)
Night/day ratio	-0.07	-0.03	-0.07	-0.04	-0.01
	(-0.16, 0.02)	(-0.11, 0.05)	(-0.17, 0.02)	(-0.08, 0.01)	(-0.09, 0.07)
Area available	0.00	-0.02	0.05	0.00	
(scaled)	(.000, 0.01)	(-0.03, -0.02)	(0.05, 0.06)	(0.00, 0.01)	
Tide status	0.12	0.20	-0.18	0.05	
[outgoing]	(0.11, 0.14)	(0.19, 0.22)	(-0.19, -0.16)	(0.05, 0.06)	
Exploration speed (log10 cm/s) : Day-Night [night]	0.14 (0.06, 0.22)	0.10 (0.02, 0.19)	0.11 (0.02, 0.19)	0.06 (0.02, 0.10)	-0.11 (-0.16, -0.05)

	Model 1			Model 2	Model 3
	Distance in residence patch (log10 m)	Duration in residence patch (log10 min)	Displacement in residence patch (log10 m)	Displacement between residence patches (log10 m)	Number of residence patches visited (log10 n per low tide)
	Estimate 95% CI	Estimate 95% CI	Estimate 95% CI	Estimate 95% CI	Estimate 95% CI
Group-Level Effect	ts:				
Bird ID (Number o	f levels: 186)				
Explained variance (sd) cor(distance	0.09 (0.07, 0.11) -0.03	0.07 (0.06, 0.09)	0.1 (0.08, 0.12)	0.04 (0.03, 0.05)	0.05 (0.04, 0.06)
in patch, displacement in patch)	(-0.31, 0.23)				
cor(distance in patch, duration in patch)	0.57 (0.37, 0.72)				
cor(displacement in patch, duration in patch)	-0.06 (-0.35, 0.23)				
Tide ID (Number o	f levels: 410)				
Explained	0.14	0.15	0.17	0.09	0.15
variance (sd)	(0.13, 0.16)	(0.14, 0.17)	(0.16, 0.19)	(0.08, 0.10)	(0.14, 0.16)
Year (Number of levels: 3)					
Explained variance (sd)	0.14 (0.03, 0.44)	0.22 (0.04, 0.75)	0.24 (0.04, 0.95)	0.11 (0.02, 0.57)	0.15 (0.02, 0.75)
Family Specific Parameters:					
Residual variance (sigma)	0.97 (0.96, 0.97)	0.95 (0.94, 0.95)	0.96 (0.95, 0.96)	0.43 (0.43, 0.43)	0.34 (0.34, 0.35)
Explained variance by predictors					
Conditional R ²	0.06 (0.05,0.06)	0.07 (0.07, 0.08)	0.10 (0.09, 0.10)	0.07 (0.07, 0.08)	0.18 (0.16, 0.19)

Table 1. Continued

	Model 1			Model 2	Model 3
	Distance in residence patch (log10 m)	Duration in residence patch (log10 min)	Displacement in residence patch (log10 m)	Displacement between residence patches (log10 m)	Number of residence patches visited (log10 n per low tide)
	Estimate 95% CI	Estimate 95% CI	Estimate 95% CI	Estimate 95% CI	Estimate 95% CI
Post hoc compariso	ons of estimate	ed means			
Exploration speed (log10 cm/s) ~ Day		-0.03 (-0.09, 0.02)		-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.09)
Exploration speed (log10 cm/s) ~ Night		0.08 (0.01, 0.17)		0.05 (0.03, 0.09)	-0.07 (-0.13, -0.02)
Contrasts					
Day - Night		-0.12 (-0.12, -0.04))	-0.06 (-0.01, -0.02)	0.11 (0.06, 0.12)

Table 1. Continued

4. Discussion

Our study showed that red knots in the field are moderately repeatable on their movement speed within residence patches (R = 0.26). Compared to movement patterns during the day, at night all red knots travelled further, stayed longer, and displace further within and between residence patches. We found that the differences in movement patterns between faster and slower exploring red knots as measured in captivity were particularly pronounced during the night. Specifically, faster exploring knots travelled further, stayed longer, and displaced further within residence patches with further displacement distance between residence patches at night than slower explorers. Faster exploring red knots visited fewer residence patches at night than slower exploring knots while slower explorers did not differ in number of residence patched visited between day and night. During the day, individual exploration scores did not explain variation in movement parameters.



Figure 1: Exploration speed measured in controlled settings (log10 cm/s) interaction with daynight on the distance travelled (upper figure), duration (middle figure), and displacement distance (lower figure) within a residence patch. At night, faster exploring red knots travelled longer, stayed longer, and displaced further in a residence patch than slower exploring knots. Individuals with different exploration score did not differ in their movement behaviour during the day. The figure shows raw data with smoothed conditional mean lines provided by R package *ggplot2*.



Figure 2: Exploration speed measured in controlled settings (log10 cm/s) interacting with daynight on the number of residence patches visited per low tide (upper figure) and displacement distance travelled between patches (lower figure). At night, faster exploring red knots visited less patches and travelled longer between residence patches than slower exploring knots. Individuals with different exploration score did not differ in their movement behaviour during the day. The figure shows raw data points with smoothed conditional mean lines provided by R package *ggplot2*.

Personality traits may be more consistent in standard experimental setups where conditions are controlled but in the wild, animals can show flexible behaviour in response to changing environmental cues (McElreath and Strimling, 2006). For example, under predation risk, animals may show flexible behaviour and abandon their personalityrelated behaviours (Cote et al., 2013). Particularly, for red knots that forage on open mudflats where they cannot use cover, it may be safer to move with the group than alone under predation risk (Beauchamp, 2014; Eccard et al., 2021). Therefore, personalityrelated movements may be masked under predation risk in red knots. Additionally, group living animals may have social cues available that influences where and how individuals move (Carter et al., 2013b; van de Waal et al., 2013). Red knots may be more likely to follow each other during foraging because they can observe the foraging success of their conspecifics (Bijleveld et al., 2015). We found that individuals are repeatable on their movement speed in the wild (mean speed in patch per low tide R = 0.26) but repeatability was not as high as it was found in captivity (mean speed in 20 min experiments R = 0.67, Ersoy et al., 2022) indicating environmental (including social) factors may mask the expression of personality in the wild. In this study, we could not control for environmental and social variation to investigate individual consistency in the wild (Williams and Safi, 2021). In fact, explained variation (R^2) in all our models was very low indicating that there are large amounts of variation we could not account for. This could potentially be explained by the presence of conspecifics and/or predation risk during foraging.

Many shorebirds follow the tidal cycle and forage during low tide both day and at night (Gaston, 2019; Mc Neil and Rodriguez, 1996). Since they mainly feed on macrozoobenthic organisms that live under the sand and are found by touch rather than sight, many shorebirds are little affected by the diel cycle. However, like other movement studies on shorebirds (e.g., Burton and Armitage, 2005; van Gils and Piersma, 1999; Jourdan et al., 2021), we found that red knots move on the ground more at night than during the day. This could be because moving large distances at night may be risky as they may not be able to see and use landmarks or other individuals to find a profitable foraging area. Additionally, the presence and activity of predators such as peregrine falcons *Falco peregrinus* that hunt small shorebirds – including red knots –may decrease the amount of movement of red knots during the day (vs. night) as those falcons are usually not active at night (Rejt, 2001). The absence of threats and cues at night could therefore explain the differences in movement behaviour between day and night, and further amplify or mask the expression of individual behaviour.

Chapter 4

It has been suggested that individuals show behavioural flexibility in foraging behaviour in the wild when they can see and use information on food patches, but personality influences foraging decisions where the visual cues are missing (Carter et al., 2013b). For example, an experimental study on chacma baboons showed that shy individuals are more likely to scrouge on the food discoveries of bold individuals when the food is hidden in experimental arena, but personality does not affect foraging decisions under natural foraging conditions where individuals can collect visual cues in the environment (e.g., seeing where the fruits are on the tree; Carter et al., 2013b). In an experimental setup where the food was hidden, slower (vs. faster) exploring red knots found food slower when they were tested individually but became faster in group foraging scenarios (Box 1 in this thesis), suggesting that red knots use social cues to find food while foraging in group, but they rely on their personality-dependent foraging decisions when social information about food patch is missing (when tested alone). This may manifest in day and night foraging movement differences in the wild, as we found that red knots do not differ in their movement patterns during the day (when social information on food patch quality is available or when predators are active) but they do show personality-related movement patterns at night when visual cues are likely to be missing.

Faster exploring individuals have been shown to move larger distances when foraging compared to slower exploring individuals in other species (e.g., great tits *Parus major*; van Overveld and Matthysen, 2013; bullhead *Cottus perifretum*; Kobler et al., 2009). In line with other studies, we found that faster (vs. slower) exploring red knots move larger distances at night as they travelled longer within a patch and further within and between residence patches. Our results suggest that exploration measured in captivity relates to exploration in the wild at night, thus predicting the distance moved in the wild at night. Accordingly, we expected faster exploring red knots would visit higher number of patches visited per tide which we did not find any support for. In contrast, we found the opposite of what we expected during night-time movements, where faster exploring red knots visited less patches. This could be because hopping patch to patch may be energetically costly or risky at night therefore, faster explorers may prefer to explore more on the ground than moving between patch to patch. Investigating how faster exploring red knots trade-off between exploring on the ground and exploring between patches may provide interesting opportunities for future research.

In conclusion, our results suggest that personality may emerge in the absence of cues such as when tested alone in experimental setups or when foraging at night with low visibility, and that personality may be masked when individuals respond to cues in their environment such as when foraging with conspecifics or under predation risk (Carter et al., 2013b; McElreath and Strimling, 2006). A control for social and ecological environment would elucidate to what degree the exploration of an individual is consistent across different contexts and to what degree it is influenced by changing environmental cues.

Acknowledgements

We thank Natuurmonumenten for permission to conduct this research on Griend. We thank all volunteers and students for helping with data collection. Particularly, we thank Anne Dekinga, Job ten Horn, Luc de Monte, Roeland Bom, Emma Penning, and Benjamin Gnep for help building the array of receivers and maintaining WATLAS throughout the season. We thank Ran Nathan, Sivan Toledo, Frank van Maarseveen, Bas Denissen and many others for their help designing and maintaining the WATLAS tracking system. We thank Ton G. G. Groothuis for discussions on the personality across contexts, and his valuable comments on the manuscript. We also thank Theunis Piersma and Franjo Weissing for discussions on the early stage of the study. PRG was supported by an Adaptive Life Grant by the Groningen Institute for Evolutionary Life Sciences. This study was funded by the core funding of NIOZ and the NWO-Veni grant to AIB (VI.Veni.192.051).

Authors' Contributions

SE, PRG, CEB and AIB conceived the study. SE conducted personality experiments and with AIB tagged the individuals. PRG and AIB developed the residence patch calculations from movement data. SE analysed the data. SE drafted the first version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to writing of the final manuscript. None of the authors have a conflict of interest.



Supplementary Materials

Figure S1: Example map from an individual red knot shows the residence patches used in low tide period around the Griend mudflats. Tracking starts when bird is roosting during high tide period (pink patch, duration 142 min), moves through southwest of the island and ends on high tide roost (black patch, duration 119 min). For our analyses, we excluded the high tide roosting period.



Figure S2: We used residence patches only during low tide periods when mudflats were exposed for foraging, which corresponded to water levels below 50 cm NAP. To calculate the area available (y axis), we used the bathymetry data for our study area (Griend) from Rijkswaterstaat and summed the number of 20x20 m aster cells that were available at certain water levels (x axis).



Figure S3: Histogram of individuals with measured exploration scores. The distribution of the exploratory scores of individual red knots which were tracked with WATLAS on Griend mudflats (in yellow) and all red knots with exploratory score (in grey).



CHAPTER 5

When slow explorers can be fast: personality-related differences in post-breeding arrival of red knots in the Wadden Sea

Selin Ersoy, Ton G. G. Groothuis, Theunis Piersma, Allert I. Bijleveld

Manuscript

Abstract

Timing and patterns of migration, even within populations that share breeding sites, show large variation between individuals. Variation in migration timing can have important carryover effect such as early arrival to the wintering sites can be related to advantageous position in roost site and territories, and earlier primary moult helps individuals to gain their flight efficiency earlier and escape 'predator wave' in autumn. Whether personality might explain part of this individual variation in migration timing has received little attention. We studied the post-breeding migration timing of red knots Calidris canutus islandica that breed in the High Arctic and asked whether arrival timing in the Dutch Wadden Sea was related to exploration speed (a personality trait). Red knots start primary moult in their wintering range, and that earlier primary moult helps avoid predation from peregrines that arrive in autumn. An individual's exploration speed was assayed in temporary confinement days after capture in the Wadden Sea, and arrival date to the Wadden Sea was estimated with isotope measurements of blood that was sampled right after catching. We validated the arrival dates estimated from isotopic signatures with the progress of primary moult. Because males take care of the broods after hatching, we also investigated differences in arrival timing between the sexes. As predicted, we found that moult scores of primary feathers were correlated with estimated arrival dates, and that females arrived in the Wadden Sea ca. 10 days earlier than males. Arrival timing was also correlated with exploration speed: faster exploring red knots arrived two weeks later than slower exploring red knots. Sex and exploration speed did not show an interaction with arrival date. Individuals that arrive earlier to the wintering grounds are also likely to be early in moulting. Early moulting in summer could help individuals to escape "predation wave" in autumn. Therefore, advantage of arriving earlier to the wintering grounds would represent a carryover effect.

Introduction

Migration timing and patterns do not only vary among species, but also within species. Long-term tracking data show great diversity, with individuals having their own timing and/or use of staging sites (e.g., Senner et al., 2019; Stanley et al., 2012; Vardanis et al., 2011). Variation in migration timing can have important seasonal carryover effect such as early arrival to the non-breeding sites can be related to advantageous position in roost site and territories (Harrison et al., 2011; Leyrer et al., 2012) and earlier primary moult lower the consequences on predation danger of the decreased flight efficiency due to moulting thus helps individuals to escape predator attacks (van den Hout, 2009; Piersma et al., 1993a). Ecological factors and individual differences have an effect on this variation (Jonzén et al., 2006; Walther et al., 2002), however, the behavioural mechanisms influencing migration timing remain to be elucidated (Knudsen et al., 2011). In view of personality-related differences in movement patterns (Chapman et al., 2011; Dingemanse et al., 2003; Kobler et al., 2009), personality traits (consistent among-individual differences in behaviour), might also explain some of the variation in migration timing of an individual.

Personality traits such as exploration (magnitude of space use in a novel environment) or boldness (propensity to take risk) have been linked to movement behaviour and space-use in the wild, but mainly on small spatial scales. For example, faster (vs. slower) exploring individuals visit more areas and find new feeding places (bullheads *Cottus perifretum* Kobler et al., 2009, blue tits *Cyanistes caeruleus* Herborn et al., 2010). Bolder great tits *Parus major* tend to disperse farther than shyer great tits (Dingemanse et al., 2003). A handful of studies show correlations between personality traits and migratory behaviour. For example, bolder individuals are more likely to be migratory while shyer individuals are more likely to be resident (partially migrating roach *Rutilus rutilus* Chapman et al., 2011; warblers Mettke-Hofmann et al., 2005). Explorative great knots, *Calidris tenuirostris*, compared to non-explorative individuals, visited more new sites during post-breeding migration (Chan, 2021). Because exploratory and bolder individuals tend to have larger space-use and visit more areas, we may expect them to use more staging sites thus differ in migration timing (Bijleveld et al., 2014).

The Red knot *Calidris canutus* is one of the migratory shorebird species that breed in the Arctic tundra, and uses intertidal mudflat areas in temperate and tropical zones during the rest of the year (Piersma, 2007). Female red knots leave the breeding grounds Chapter 5

right after the eggs are hatched and males provide care for the chicks until the young are independent (Myers, 1981). The *islandica* subspecies spends most of the nonbreeding season on the extensive intertidal flats of the Wadden Sea and other European estuaries (Quaintenne et al., 2011). During northward migration most of the population use western Iceland or northern Norway as staging sites, before they continue to migrate north to breed on the Arctic tundra of north-eastern Canada and northern Greenland (Piersma, 2007). During southward migration red knots can skip Iceland as a potential refuelling site and migrate nonstop from the tundra breeding grounds to the Wadden Sea (Dietz et al., 2010; Kok et al., 2020). If they use Iceland to stage during southward migration, the average staging time is 12-15 days (Dietz et al., 2010; Wilson and Morrison, 1992). Upon arrival to the wintering grounds, like the Wadden Sea, red knots switch their diet from tundra arthropods to marine shellfish (Piersma et al., 2010, 2013) and that earlier primary moult helps avoid predation from peregrines that arrive in autumn (van den Hout, 2009; Piersma et al., 1993a).

Here, we asked whether arrival timing of migratory red knots in the Dutch Wadden Sea was related to exploration behaviour. We first estimated arrival time (i.e., days after switching from a tundra to marine diet) based on isotope values from blood samples and we validated our arrival time estimation with primary moult start date. Second, we investigated how arrival time differs among individuals with different exploratory personality. We predicted that exploratory individuals would use more staging sites during migration and thus arrive to the Dutch Wadden Sea later than slower explorers. Lastly, because males take care of the broods after hatching (Nebel et al., 2000; Whitfield and Brade, 1991), we investigated whether males arrive in the Wadden Sea later than females.

Materials and Methods

Catching, sampling, housing

During two catching events in the western Dutch Wadden Sea (53°15'N, 5°15'E) on14 August and 10-13 September 2018 (new moon periods), 131 adult red knots were caught by means of mist netting. The birds were given a numbered metal ring for individual identification and moult was scored for all primary feathers in the right wing from 0 (old primary) to 5 (new primary). To obtain a primary moult score (ranging between 0 and 50), the ten primary moult scores were summed per individual. From the brachial vein a small blood sample (~80 μ L) was taken for molecular sexing and stable isotope analysis. Blood samples were separated into plasma and blood cells by centrifugation (12min, 7000rpm) and pipetted into separate glass vials and immediately stored in a freezer at the field site. In the laboratory, samples were stored at -20 °C until analysis. These samples were used to determine the stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) from plasma and red blood cells separately.

Right after measurements, the birds were moved to temporary outdoor aviaries of 2m x 0.75m x 0.4m (LxWxH) made of linen with a net floor. These aviaries were placed on natural sand/grass ground and provided with *ad libitum* food (live and dried mealworms) and water (freshwater and seawater). The group size in aviaries varied between 8 and 12 birds.

Exploration assays at the field site

To score the exploration personality of red knots at the field site, we used a pyramid shaped mobile unit of 2m x 2m x 2m (referred to as "mobile arena"; see (Ersoy et al., 2022) for detailed explanation of the setup). The floor of the unit consists of seawater of 20 cm depth in which four identical trays with wet sand (61cm x 40cm x 25cm) were situated. Birds could explore these artificial patches in which no food was offered. To standardise the procedure and to motivate birds equally for personality assays, we placed them individually into a holding pen without access to food for two hours. We started the experiments by gently placing the bird on the sand patch in the experimental unit. Individual trials lasted 20 min per bird. To calculate exploratory movement of individuals from videos recorded by the ceiling camera (GoPro Hero Black), we used video tracking software *idtracker* (Pérez-Escudero et al., 2014). The software produced position data (i.e., x- and y-coordinates) every 0.5 s during 20 min a bird spent in the mobile arena. Errors in the tracking were filtered out by excluding speeds higher than 200 cm/s and applying a median smoother with a window of 3 locations. Exploration speed is calculated as a bird's mean speed (cm/s) per trial.

Right after exploratory assays, all red knots were released back into their natural habitat with unique combinations of colour rings. All necessary permits to catch, handle, tag, test, and keep red knots were granted to the NIOZ by the Dutch law and regulation under protocol number NIOAVD8020020171505.

Isotope analysis

At NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research, blood samples were freezedried on a Thermo Scientific (Flash 2000) organic element analyser coupled to a Delta V isotope ratio mass spectrometer via a Conflo IV. A microbalance (Sartorius XM1000P) was used to weigh 0.4-0.8 mg of the freeze-dried samples into 5 x 9 mm tin capsules. Isotope values were calibrated to a certified acetanilide standard (Arndt Schimmelmann, Indiana University), controlled by certified urea and casein standards (Elemental Microanalysis) and corrected for blank tin capsules.

Estimation of arrival date in the Wadden Sea

Measuring the change in isotopic ratios in body tissue after a diet switch is a common technique to estimate arrival date (Hobson, 2008). We adopted the single tissue model using carbon isotope (δ^{13} C) to estimate arrival date (i.e., time since diet switch, Klaassen et al.,2010):

Start and end values were taken from Dietz et al. (2010); the start value indicates where the migration started hence, we took Arctic tundra value ($\delta^{13}C = -24.7$), and end value indicates where the migration ended accordingly, we took the Wadden Sea value ($\delta^{13}C = -14.0$). We took the turnover rate value for red knots ($\lambda = 0.046$) from Klaassen et al. (2010). We fitted individual carbon isotope ($\delta^{13}C$) values from red blood cells of our adult red knots (Suppl. Figure S1). The result of this function is the days since the diet switch, so to estimate arrival date we subtracted the outcome from the date of capture. Finally, we transformed arrival dates to continuous days since January 1st.

Estimation of moult start date

Because red knots need their flight feathers for migration, adults moult their primary feathers after arrival to their wintering grounds in the Dutch Wadden Sea (Dietz et al., 2013). They start moulting both wings from their first primary feather to the last (tenth) primary feather. To estimate the date at which primary moult started, we selected birds with active moult on their first primary feather (N=46). We back-calculated the date at which the first primary moult started using the primaries scored by observer, capture date, and moult duration for the first primary feather. We used different values for different sexes because female red knots are heavier and larger than males, resulting in

more feather mass to replaced and thus affecting moult duration (females 16 ± 1.9 days, males 15 ± 2.5 days for first primary feather; values are taken from Dietz et al., 2013). We transformed first primary moult start date to days since 1 January.

Statistical analysis

We excluded one adult male for which the arrival date was more than 60 days before capture, suggesting that either he did not leave the Wadden Sea for a migration to the Arctic, or there was a mistake in the isotope analysis. To validate our arrival date estimation based on isotope analyses, we first formulated a linear regression model to test whether days since first primary feather moult predicts the estimated arrival day to the Wadden Sea. Then, to investigate the factors influencing arrival date, we formulated generalised linear models using the *lme4* package (Bates et al., 2015). After checking for collinearity, overdispersion, and model assumptions (homogeneity and normality of residuals), we fitted a mixed model with gaussian error distribution to investigate the effects of sex (categorical; male or female), exploration speed (log10 mean speed cm/s) and the interaction between the two on the estimated arrival day to the wintering grounds in Wadden Sea. All data analyses were carried out in R statistical software v. 4.2.1 (R Core Team, 2013).

Results

The number of days since the start of first primary feather moult was correlated with the estimated arrival day in the Wadden Sea (Intercept 95 % CI = -20.02 (-91.6 – 51.6), Estimate 95 % CI = 1.05 (0.72 – 1.38), $R^2 = 0.46$; Figure 1). Red knots started moulting their first primary feathers within five days after arrival in the Wadden Sea (Figure 1).

Red knots arrived in the Wadden Sea between 11 July and 24 August. Females arrived ca. 10 days before males (Table 1). Estimated arrival day in the Wadden Sea was associated with exploration speed (log10 cm/s); fastest exploring red knot predicted to be arrived 14 days later than slowest exploring red knot (Table 1, Figure 2b). The statistical model did not reveal significant interaction between exploration speed and sex. To check the robustness of our results, we additionally ran the model without individuals with extremely low (< -0.1) and high (> 1.2) exploration speed (log10 cm/s). However, results did not change, and we present the results without these individuals in Suppl. Table S1 and Figure S3.

Chapter 5



Figure 1. Relationship between arrival date and start of primary moult. The start of moult was calculated from observed primary moult scores (x-axis) that correlated with estimated arrival day to the Wadden Sea based on carbon isotope δ 13C (y-axis). Each dot depicts a different individual. Dashed line shows slope =1 and intercept =0. Probabilities and 95 % confidence intervals are predicted by a GLM with gaussian error distribution.

Table 1. Effects of exploration speed (log10 mean speed cm/sec), sex, and the interaction of the
two on the estimated arrival day (day number since January 1st) in the Wadden Sea. Bold font
indicates confidence intervals do not overlap with zero.

Predictors	Estimates	95% CI
Intercept	203.37	195.31 - 211.43
Exploration speed	14.34	0.86 - 27.82
Sex (Male)	10.49	0.91 - 20.06
Exploration speed * Sex	-7.46	-23.47 - 8.60
R ²	0.134	



Figure 2. (a) Histogram of number of red knots on their estimated arrival date (January 1st is day 1). Colours indicate females and males. (b) Exploration speed (log10 mean speed cm/s) measured in the mobile arena (x axis) predicts the estimated arrival date to the Wadden Sea based on carbon isotope d13 of their blood (y axis). Females (orange) arrive earlier than males (green). Probabilities and 95 % confidence intervals are predicted by a GLM with gaussian error distribution. Note that interaction effect is non-significant.

Discussion

In this study, we investigated whether post-migration arrival timing of red knots in the Dutch Wadden Sea was related to exploratory behaviour. Red knots start primary moult in their wintering range thus, we first validated arrival day estimated from isotopic signatures with the start of the primary moult. In line with previous studies, we found that females arrived in the Dutch Wadden Sea earlier than males. Arrival timing was also predicted by exploration speed where faster exploring red knots arrived later than slower exploring red knots. Sex and exploration speed did not show an interaction with arrival date.

Individuals within the same species show large variation in the timing of migration, but the underlying causes often remain unclear. Later arrival to the wintering grounds can be caused by later departure from the breeding grounds, or by the amount of staging site use during migration (e.g., Trierweiler et al., 2014; Vardanis et al., 2011). Our finding on the sex differences in migration timing (also shown by Dietz et al., 2010) can be explained by the late departure from breeding grounds; female red knots are expected
to arrive earlier because they leave the breeding grounds right after the chicks are hatched, whereas males care for the chicks until independence (Whitfield and Brade, 1991). Our finding that faster exploring individuals - independent of sex - arrived later than slower explorers can also be caused by greater length of stays and/or more use of staging sites. Red knots show flexibility in their staging site use on the way from breeding to wintering grounds, and if they use staging, they stay 12-15 days (Dietz et al., 2010). Fastest exploring red knot arrived 14 days later than slower explorers on the moulting grounds in the Wadden Sea, which is in the range of expected delays if additional stops are made. Since exploration as a personality trait is closely related to space use and visiting different areas (e.g., van Overveld and Matthysen, 2010), faster exploring red knots might use more staging sites during migration than slower explorers, which would postpone arrival on the wintering grounds or by visiting more staging sites en route remains to be studied, e.g., by GPS-tracking birds of different personalities on their migration.

Many shorebirds moult their feathers right after they arrive to the marine wintering habitats (as in our findings and other studies Dietz et al., 2010). The gap in the wing during moult effects flight efficiency, and actively moulting birds may be more vulnerable to aerial predation (Hedenström, 2003). Indeed, migration timing in sandpipers is associated by the presence of their predators, peregrine falcon *Falco peregrinus* (Lank et al., 2003). In the Dutch Wadden Sea, the number of peregrine falcons tend to show a steep increase from 15 September onwards (van den Hout, 2009). Since red knots need ca. 70 days to moult their feathers fully (Dietz et al., 2013), earlier arrival of slower explorers in the Wadden Sea provides less overlap between moulting and the presence of peregrines. While faster exploring individuals have been shown to be less risk aversive and behave less cautiously than slower explorers in other studies (reviewed in Réale et al., 2010), how our faster-exploring late-arriving red knots deal with consequences on predation danger of the decreased flight efficiency due to moulting warrants further study.

By combining experimental approaches measuring personality with methods estimating arrival timing from isotope values, we tested whether exploration speed measured in a standardised setup could be extrapolated to a larger and more complex context like migratory behaviour. This study suggests that personality of an individual can explain part of the variation in the post-breeding migration timing. However, it remains to be studied how this timing difference is related to later departures form the breeding grounds and staging site ecology. As many migratory species are experiencing anthropogenic (including climatic) changes (Both, 2010; van Gils et al., 2016; Knudsen et al., 2011; Sillett et al., 2000), understanding the factors effecting migratory timing and patterns of individuals might help us understanding species adaptation to environmental changes (van Gils et al., 2016; Lisovski et al., 2021; Piersma and Lindström, 2004; Wikelski and Tertitski, 2016).

Acknowledgements

We thank Natuurmonumenten for using the field station on Griend and to conduct our study on the island. Skipper Dirk de Boer and his mates enabled regular supply with groceries from Terschelling. Furthermore, we thank the crews of the NIOZ research vessels RV *Navicula* and RV *Stern* for transport of people and equipment from and to Griend. We thank all the volunteers and students helped during data collection and stable isotope analysis. In particular, we thank Anne Dekinga, Luc de Monte, Job ten Horn, Marcel van der Meer and Ronald van Bommel. We thank Thomas Lameris with his help on arrival date estimation. This study was funded by the core funding of NIOZ and the NWO-Veni grant to AIB (VI.Veni.192.051).

Authors' Contributions

SE and AIB designed the study. SE collected and analysed the data. SE drafted the first version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to writing of the final manuscript. None of the authors have a conflict of interest.



Supplementary Materials

Figure S1. Stable isotope ratios of carbon (δ 13C, x axis) and nitrogen (δ 15N, y axis) in red blood cells that were used in the analyses. Tundra and Wadden Sea expectations are indicated with blue hexagons.



Figure S2. Analysis without the outliers (exploration speed <-0.1,>1.2 Exploration speed (log10 mean speed cm/s) measured in the mobile arena (x axis) predicts the estimated arrival date to the Wadden Sea based on carbon isotope d13 of their blood (y axis). Females (orange) arrive earlier than males (green). Probabilities and 95 % confidence intervals are predicted by a GLM with gaussian error distribution. Note that interaction effect is non-significant.

Table S1. Results of the analysis without the outliers (exploration speed < -0.1,> 1.2). Effects of
exploration speed (log10 mean speed cm/sec), sex, and the interaction of the two on the estimated
arrival day (day number since January 1st) in the Wadden Sea.

Predictors	Estimates	95% CI
Intercept	203.37	195.36 - 211.38
Exploration speed	14.34	0.94 - 27.74
Sex (Male)	8.22	0.60 - 18.03
Exploration speed * Sex	-3.41	-19.95 - 13.12
R ²	0.149	



CHAPTER 6

General Discussion

Selin Ersoy

In this thesis, I attempted to identified individual differences in consistent exploratory behaviour in relation to foraging behaviour and diet, how exploration may develop during ontogeny and is maintained in wild populations, and what could be the movement consequences of the individual differences in exploration. To do so, I put laboratory experiments, field observations, stable isotope analysis, and movement tracking to task. In this final chapter, I make links to the previous chapters and discuss some of the main conclusions from different perspectives, rather than repeating the discussion sections of each chapter. While I acknowledge the limitations and shortcomings of my thesis, I also suggest what new ideas may emerge from it. In some places, I question the definition of potentially controversial key concepts in animal personality research and suggest directions for future studies.

What is exploration?

Exploration and boldness are the most studied personality traits (Réale et al., 2007) but are perhaps the traits that have the most overlapping definitions in the literature. Exploration is defined as "the action of searching information about a novel environment" (Verbeek et al., 1994) and is commonly assayed as the amount of movement an individual shows in "open-field test" (developed by Hall and Ballachey, 1932). Boldness is defined as "the propensity to take risks in novel situations" and is commonly assayed as individual's response to novel objects and novel environments (Brown and Braithwaite, 2004; Carter et al., 2012; Dingemanse et al., 2004). When exploration and/or boldness are measured in a novel environment test, results of the behavioural assays may reflect the same behaviour. In my experiments, red knots were assayed in a novel environment. I calculated exploration as the movement speed of an individuals in the experimental arena. However, I also observed that individuals with a slower exploration speed mainly stood on a patch and looked around (behaviours indicative of shyness or anxiety) while faster explorers showed various kinds of active behaviour including hopping between patches, walking, and running within patches, and both tactile (slow probing) and visual (fast scanning of surface) foraging behaviours. Therefore, it is likely that exploration and boldness in red knots are correlated when individuals are tested in a novel environment.

Exploration and foraging behaviour - two sides of the same coin?

Originally, exploration in a novel environment was suggested to demonstrate the adjustment of an individual to a novel environment (Verbeek et al., 1994) and exploration and foraging were considered as two different concepts. However, it has become increasingly common to link the concept of exploration to those of foraging and resource selection (e.g., Bijleveld et al., 2014; Coomes et al., 2022; van Overveld and Matthysen, 2010, Chapter 2). In many studies using an open-field test, the experimental arena resembles a natural foraging habitat to stimulate wild animals to "explore". For example, in studies investigating exploratory behaviour in great tits Parus major, tree branches were placed in an experimental arena (e.g., Verbeek et al., 1994), and in fish, open and vegetated spaces were provided in an experimental tank (e.g., Jones and Godin, 2010; Mazué et al., 2015). In my study, I used sand patches arranged in a sea water basin to study exploration behaviour in red knots (Chapter 2, following Bijleveld et al., 2014; Kok et al., 2019). Because of the nature of the experimental methods -i.e., structures are related to foraging habitat, despite no food being provided - exploration and foraging behaviour may be linked directly if the selection of specific food resources is the cause for variation in exploratory behaviour (Ingram et al., 2018). For example, hopping between tree branches may indicate resource-independent exploratory behaviour in great tits but could also be a proxy for foraging for caterpillars on tree branches in the wild (Cowie, 1977; Verbeek et al., 1994).

In Chapter 2, we found that slower exploring red knots (measured in experimental arena) mainly use tactile foraging in the wild, while faster exploring red knots use both tactile and visual foraging. In the experiments, slower exploring red knots (measured as speed of movement) did not show tactile foraging behaviour but stood on a patch and looked around (it may be caused by their anxiety or shyness during experiments), while faster exploring red knots showed visual and tactile foraging behaviour. The result from slower explorers would indicate that slowness/shyness may be an inherent trait, making individuals slow/shy across different contexts, thereby indirectly connecting exploration and foraging behaviours; the result from faster explorers suggests that exploration and foraging behaviours are more directly related. Whether the two behaviours are directly or indirectly connected, I suggest these exploration and foraging are related concepts, and that they can overlap depending on the (experimental) context.

Chapter 6

The connection between exploration and foraging behaviour could be driven by the physical activity level of an individual. According to the pace-of-life framework, fast exploring individuals in the "fast" pace-of-life are expected to have higher energy expenditure (Réale et al., 2010). The increased energy expenditure of fast explorers (reviewed in Careau et al., 2008) could be compensated by an increased energy gain associated with a foraging behaviour that provides high-energy food. For example, fast exploring individuals have high energetic cost (Careau and Garland, 2012) and are more likely to encounter profitable foraging opportunities and high-quality prey types (e.g., blue tits *Cyanistes caeruleus*; Herborn et al., 2010). High cost of exploration may then have potentially high foraging gain (Bell and Sih, 2007; Brydges et al., 2008). Indeed, we found that faster exploring visual foraging red knots mainly feed on high quality soft prey (Chapter 2). This feedback between the foraging behaviour and its successful outcome with high quality prey could explain how individuals maintain consistent individual variation in exploration with corresponding high levels of energy expenditure in the wild.

The development of exploration in a social context

If exploratory behaviour develops during ontogeny as a result of continuous interactions with the environment, I expected that the longer juvenile red knots practice their foraging strategies on the mudflats, the more consistent their exploratory behaviour may become. While we found that juvenile red knots have higher within-individual variation in exploration than adults, indicating that juveniles were still developing the personality trait, the number of days already spent in the Dutch Wadden Sea did not increase the consistency in juvenile exploratory behaviour (Chapter 3). Unfortunately, we could not catch and test the same juvenile in different time periods to measure the influence of time spent on the mudflats on consistency of exploration. Instead, we collected data from different juveniles at different times after their arrival in the wintering grounds (i.e., on the mudflats, between 14 to 33 days after arrival). Therefore, I could not account for individual variation in learning between juveniles in this thesis.

How quickly and which foraging strategy juveniles learn may depend on the social environment during development. In social animals, young ones mostly learn from watching experienced adults (Heyes, 1994; Watts, 1985); and juvenile red knots that forage in the same flock with adults may be more likely to learn certain foraging strategies faster than those that flock with other juveniles. To test the influence of the presence of adults on juvenile foraging strategy and learning speed, one should use an experimental setup to compare (1) a group of juveniles foraging by themselves for soft prey such as shrimp *Crangon crangon* and (2) another group of juveniles foraging by themselves for hard-shelled prey such as cockles *Cerastoderma edule* to (3) a group of juveniles foraging with experienced adults that use visual foraging to catch shrimp and (4) another group of juveniles foraging tactics these groups of juveniles will use when they became adults, how fast they learn certain foraging strategies, and how they differ in exploration speed could help to understand the development of exploratory behaviour and the role of social learning during ontogeny in red knots.

What can we learn from repeated measures?

An important aspect of personality traits is that the behaviour in question needs to be repeatedly measured over time and contexts (Réale et al., 2010; Stamps and Groothuis, 2010). However, there are several conceptual problems with repeated measures of an individual in identical experimental setup. First, some personality traits are defined as 'measures taken in a novel environment' such as, exploration of a novel environment and boldness to a novel object/environment. However, once an individual has undergone the first assay, the environment is no longer novel (Carter et al., 2013).

Second, underlying mechanisms of the repeated behaviour may not always be explicit. For example, some individuals are repeatedly active, and others are not active in the same experimental setup. This may be because the behaviour is inherent (as we often think and label it as 'personality trait') but it could also be that individual experience in the first assay influences the behaviour in the next assays. Whichever way an individual behaved in the first assay (active or non-active) may have positive (or not-negative) feedback (e.g., individual is not harmed during experiment). Therefore, if behaving in certain way avoids possible high costs associated with it, an individual may learn that the behaviour it showed in the first assay is a good strategy for that environment. Therefore, it may repeat the same behaviour in the next assay (pers. comm. T. G. G. Groothuis).

Third, an individual's experience in the first assay may increase or decrease its score as measured in the second assay (Box 2). For example, in my experimental setup to assay exploration, no food was provided, but there were sand patches suggesting hidden food in the arena. It is possible that some birds learn during the first assay that there is no

food to explore in the arena and therefore change their behaviour and become slower in the second assay. Or some birds may compensate for finding nothing in the first assay by switching strategy and become faster in the second assay (Box 2). To my knowledge, the robustness of results based on repeated measures of personality traits in an identical setup has not been questioned so far. It is possible that these repeated measures tell us more (or something else) than inherent behaviour of an individual.

Box 2. Slower (vs. faster) exploring juveniles on average are more likely to change their exploratory behaviour in repeated tests

Here, I investigated whether the average exploration score of an individual may predict the differences between two exploration measures in juvenile and adult red knots. I used data from 57 adults (Chapter 2) and 67 juveniles (Chapter 3) that were assayed in exploration speed (log10 cm/s) twice with on average 4 days between assays (range: 2-6 days). I built separate linear regression models for juveniles and adults. In both models, I fit the absolute difference between the exploration speed (log10 cm/s) measures as response variable and the mean of the two exploration test repeats as fixed effect.

I found that mean exploration speed (log10 cm/s) of adults did not predict the absolute difference between two measures. However, on average slower exploring juveniles were more likely to have different scores from the two exploration measures (*Est. 95% CI* = -0.22 (-0.41, -0.05), Figure 1). This could potentially be explained by adults and faster exploring juveniles being more likely to regulate their behaviour through inner routines whereas slower exploring juveniles may be more open for external cues, to which they adapt their behaviour (DiRienzo et al., 2012; Finger et al., 2016; Monnet et al., 2020).



Figure 1. Absolute difference between the two exploration speed measures (log10 cm/s, y axis) of juveniles (on the left) and adults (on the right) in response to the mean of the two measurements of exploration speed (log10 cm/s).

Repeatability and the level of aggregation

Repeatability of a behavioural trait is often measured as a ratio of among-individual variation divided by the sum of among- and within-individual variation. I showed that exploratory movement in controlled conditions was highly repeatable in red knots (mean speed in 20 min experiments R = 0.67, Chapter 2). Repeated observations of the foraging behaviour in the field were difficult to obtain, but stable isotopes from blood plasma samples reflecting short term diet (~14 days) and blood cell samples reflecting long term diet (~45 day) were highly correlated (Pearson's r for $\delta^{13}C= 0.77$ and $\delta^{15}N= 0.68$; Chapter 2), suggesting repeatable diet and foraging tactic use in the wild. However, the repeatability of mean movement speed of tide in the wild was much lower (R = 0.26; Chapter 4) than found in captivity, indicating that environmental (including social) factors may mask the expression of personality in fine-scale movement behaviour in the wild.

Studies investigating the repeatability of movement behaviour generally use aggregated data across a certain period (time scale ranges from day to year in spatial personalities; reviewed in Stuber et al., 2022; e.g., daily distance travelled Hertel et al., 2020; weekly home range Villegas-Ríos et al., 2018). So far, the repeatability across classes of spatial behaviour reported in the literature was very high (R=0.67) -0.82, meta-analysis from Stuber et al., 2022). Indeed, by aggregating our fine-scale, within-patch (patch = area where birds are stationary or walking, i.e., between flight movements; Chapter 4) movement data into time classes of different length, i.e., per patch, tide, day, and week, I found that the repeatability of individual within-patch movement speed increased and varied considerably: R=0.08 per patch, R=0.26 per tide, R=0.32 per day, and R=0.49 per week (Box 3). This could be because environmental noise is likely to average out in aggregated data such as daily, weekly, or monthly. Under natural conditions, movement patterns can change depending on environmental factors. For example, individuals may move more similarly during a predator attack or during a storm causing low among-individual variation, and it may be difficult to find personality-related movement differences if the time scale of the tracking method is sufficiently detailed to capture those moments.

The observed variation in repeatability between aggregation classes (i.e., patch, tide, day, week) further indicates that repeatability values between different studies on the different levels of aggregation are incomparable. Additionally, changes in

Chapter 6

repeatability between aggregation classes may well depend on the biology of the species. For example, red knots may be very responsive and their behaviour within a tide may be dictated by environmental factors (e.g., storms, predation risk, foraging in a group; Oudman et al., 2018). During each high tide, red knots are forced to gather at roost sites and in the following low tide, group composition changes and individuals may move differently. This may be the reason why red knots show lower repeatability within a tide than between tides. Species that have more routine-like behaviour such as territorial individuals (e.g., oystercatchers *Haematopus ostralegus*; Bakker et al., 2021) may be less responsive to small scale differences in the environment as they are likely to follow their own individual routines and thus, the repeatability may not differ as much with the level of aggregation (pers. comm. A. I. Bijleveld).

Box 3. Repeatability of movement behaviour increases with the level of aggregation

To investigate the differences in repeatability at different aggregation levels, I used the movement data from three years (2018, 2019, 2020) collected from in a total of 321 red knots that were tracked between August and November in the Dutch Wadden Sea. I aggregated mean movement speed (duration divided by distance travelled) in a residence patch (areas where birds are stationary or walking; Chapter 4) in four different levels (i.e., patch (~minutes), low tide (~6 hours), day, and week), using each as a response variable in mixed models with *gaussian* distribution in the R package *lme4*. Response variables were log10 transformed prior to the analysis to fit normality assumptions. I added Bird ID as random effect and I controlled for year, night/day ratio, and the mean water level of the tide by including them as fixed effects. Tide ID was added as a random effect in models where response variables were mean speed per patch and per low tide. Repeatability was calculated by dividing among-individual variation by the sum of among-individual, among-tide (if added), and residual (i.e., within-individual) variation, respectively (Nakagawa and Schielzeth, 2010).

I found that the repeatability of individual within-patch movement speed increased and varied considerably (Figure B3): R=0.08 per patch, R=0.26 per low tide, R=0.32 per day, and R=0.49 per week. Among-individual variance was 0.00 per patch, 0.01 per low tide, 0.01 per day, 0.02 per week. Residual variance was 0.08 per patch, 0.02 per low tide, 0.01 per day, 0.01 per week.



Figure B3. Figure shows the repeatability and variance components of movement speed in residence patch across aggregation levels. Black line shows repeatability estimate, red line shows residual variance, and blue line shows among-individual variance.

Movement outside of the Dutch Wadden Sea

Faster exploring red knots mainly eat higher quality soft prey and have smaller gizzard muscles (Chapter 2, Bijleveld et al., 2014). However, soft prey such as shrimp is available in the mudflats of the Wadden Sea only during summer months and completely disappears in October (van Gils et al., 2005b; Penning et al., 2021). After summer, faster exploring red knots may therefore completely switch to hard-shelled prey or leave the Wadden Sea area to search for soft prey somewhere else. During winter months, red knots with smaller gizzards have been shown to use a larger area in the wild and travel between the Netherlands, England, and Germany, whereas red knots with larger gizzards tend to stay in the Dutch Wadden Sea (Bijleveld et al., 2014). Accordingly, faster and slower exploring red knots can be expected to differ in their large-scale movement patterns during winter (as suggested by Bijleveld et al., 2014).

If faster exploring red knots leave the Dutch Wadden Sea at the end of summer and slower explorers stay in the area over winter, we can expect to find differences in average exploratory behaviour between summer and winter populations of red knots in the Dutch Wadden Sea. To test this, we captured 30 red knots between 6-9 February 2019 and measured their exploration speed in the mobile experimental unit right after the capture. We then compared the group of red knots caught in winter to another group of 71 red knots caught by the end of summer and tested between 12-18 September 2018. We found that red knots that were caught in winter were on average slower exploring than the red knots that were caught in summer (*Est.* = -0.21, *Intercept* = 0.62, p < 0.01, Figure 1). This preliminary result supports the idea that before winter, faster exploring red knots are more likely to leave the Dutch Wadden Sea than slower exploring red knots. Alternative explanation for the decrease in exploration speed in population level between summer and winter could be that red knots decrease in exploratory behaviour on an individual level, and they all become slower in winter. However, this is unlikely because repeatability of exploratory behaviour measured in experiments are high across summer-winter measurements (Bijleveld et al., 2014; Kok et al., 2019; Chapter 2). It should be noted that we only had one capture event in winter and the sample size in winter (N=30) was lower than in summer (N=71). Increasing the winter sampling size of the red knot population and collecting data across several years would help to make more accurate conclusions



Figure 1. Comparison between groups of red knots caught in summer (N=71; September) and winter (N=30; February) that were assayed in their exploration in mobile unit within days after capture. Boxplot summarizes the distribution of a continuous variable and notably displays the median and standard errors of each group.

Large scale movement may be driven by competition

Fast exploring individuals have been shown to move longer distances in search of food in other species (bullheads Cottus perifretum Kobler et al., 2009, blue tits Cvanistes *caeruleus* Herborn et al., 2010). However, it is not clear what drives these fast explorers to move longer distances. Competition between conspecifics may drive displacements of individuals (Bergmüller and Taborsky, 2010). It is possible that faster explorers are less dominant than slow explorers, and by moving elsewhere, they avoid foraging competition in the local group (Bijleveld et al., 2012). While no clear relationship between exploration and dominance in foraging competition can be found in the literature (Dingemanse and de Goede, 2004; Fox et al., 2009; Verbeek et al., 1996), it is possible that slower exploring individuals are more competitive and can capitalise on the benefits associated with foraging in a group. In an experimental setup, we found that slower exploring red knots took longer to find food than faster explorers when they were tested individually, but found food sooner than faster explorers in group foraging scenarios (Box 1). This may suggest that slower exploring red knots use social cues to find food and are more successful at finding food while foraging in a group than when foraging alone. By which social mechanisms individual differences in exploratory behaviour and space use are influenced needs to be studied further and will likely provide interesting insights into the origin and maintenance of among-individual variation between members of the same population.

Conclusion

The work presented in this thesis provides a comprehensive definition of consistent individual differences in exploratory behaviour and gives new insights to understand the origin and maintenance of this behavioural trait in the wild. My findings suggest that experience during ontogeny (i.e., exposure to a certain physical or social environment) can be important for the development of personalities in juvenile red knots. For adults, exploratory behaviour assayed in experimental setups is highly consistent within individuals and can predict a suit of other behaviours in different contexts in the wild. That is, variation in explorative personality type (i.e., slow vs. fast explorer) predicts foraging tactics and dietary choice in the wild. Hence, my work provides a new potential explanation for variation in foraging niche specialisation between individuals in the same population. Exploratory behaviour also relates to variation in movement across different temporal and spatial scales in previously unforeseen ways. Specifically, slow

and fast explorers show divergent movement patterns during the day and night and differ in arrival times from migration. This thesis fills a critical gap in the literature to link an experimentally measured personality trait to real-world behavioural strategies and demonstrates the importance of studying personality across contexts. Future challenges will be to (1) apply similar personality research to other taxa to generalise or challenge the findings presented here and in other recent studies and (2) obtain demographic rates (i.e., reproduction and survival) of different personality types to assess their relative contributions to overall population dynamics. Ultimately, understanding the causes, maintenance, and consequences of animal personalities should further our understanding of population responses to environmental change, population and community dynamics, and speciation.

Acknowledgements

I thank master and bachelor students that I had pleasure to worked with throughout my PhD. Particularly the preliminary results from Haley Shephard and Daphne Hannen's projects helped me further discussions in the subject. Capture in winter would have been impossible without the efforts of Anne Dekinga, Job ten Horn, Luc de Monte, Nino Maag, and Daphne Hannen. I particularly thank Wim Jan Boon for picking me up with Stern from Griend in the stormiest weather in winter. I thank Nino Maag for discussions, corrections on the text, and his support on finishing this chapter. I thank Emma Penning for proofreading. I thank my supervisors Allert Bijleveld, Ton Groothuis and Theunis Piersma for their valuable comments. I am grateful for in-depth discussions with Ton Groothuis on the meaning of exploration and Allert Bijleveld on the aggregation of movement data.

General discussion



References

A

- Araújo, M.S., Bolnick, D.I., and Layman, C.A. (2011). The ecological causes of individual specialisation. Ecol. Lett. *14*, 948–958. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01662.x.
- Araya-Ajoy, Y.G., and Dingemanse, N.J. (2017). Repeatability, heritability, and age-dependence of seasonal plasticity in aggressiveness in a wild passerine bird. J. Anim. Ecol. 86, 227–238. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12621.

B

- Baker, M.R., Goodman, A.C., Santo, J.B., and Wong, R.Y. (2018). Repeatability and reliability of exploratory behavior in proactive and reactive zebrafish, *Danio rerio*. Sci. Rep. 8, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-30630-3.
- Baker, A.J., González, P.M., Piersma, T., Niles, L.J., do Nascimento, I. de L.S., Atkinson, P.W., Clark, N.A., Minton, C.D.T., Peck, M.K., and Aarts, G. (2004). Rapid population decline in red knots: fitness consequences of decreased refuelling rates and late arrival in Delaware Bay. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 271, 875–882. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2003.2663.
- Bakker, W., Ens, B.J., Dokter, A., van der Kolk, H.-J., Rappoldt, K., van de Pol, M., Troost, K., van der Veer, H.W., Bijleveld, A.I., van der Meer, J., Oosterbeek, K., Jongejans, E., and Allen, M.A. (2021). Connecting foraging and roosting areas reveals how food stocks explain shorebird numbers. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 259, 107458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2021.107458.
- Barbosa, A. (1995). Foraging strategies and their influence on scanning and flocking behaviour of waders. J. Avian Biol. 26, 182–186. https://doi.org/10.2307/3677317.
- Barbosa, A., and Moreno, E. (1999). Evolution of foraging strategies in shorebirds: an ecomorphological approach. Auk 116, 712–725. https://doi.org/10.2307/4089332.
- Barraquand, F., and Benhamou, S. (2008). Animal movements in heterogeneous landscapes: identifying profitable places and homogeneous movement bouts. Ecology 89, 3336–3348. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-0162.1.
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., and Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using *lme4*. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01.
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., Christensen, R.H.B., Singmann, H., Dai, B., Scheipl, F., and Grothendieck, G. (2011). Package 'Ime4': linear mixed-effects models using S4 classes. R package version 1.1-29.
- Beardsworth, C.E., Gobbens, E., van Maarseveen, F., Denissen, B., Dekinga, A., Nathan, R., Toledo, S., and Bijleveld, A.I. (2021). Validating ATLAS: A regional-scale high-throughput tracking system. Methods Ecol. Evol. 00, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13913.
- Beauchamp, G. (2014). Social predation: how group living benefits predators and prey Academic Press, Waltham MA, USA.
- Bell, A.M., and Sih, A. (2007). Exposure to predation generates personality in threespined sticklebacks *Gasterosteus aculeatus*. Ecol. Lett. 10, 828–834. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01081.x.
- Bell, A.M., Hankison, S.J., and Laskowski, K.L. (2009). The repeatability of behaviour: a metaanalysis. Anim. Behav. 77, 771–783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2008.12.022.
- Bergmüller, R., and Taborsky, M. (2010). Animal personality due to social niche specialisation. Trends Ecol. Evol. 25, 504–511. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2010.06.012.

- Bierbach, D., Laskowski, K.L., and Wolf, M. (2017). Behavioural individuality in clonal fish arises despite near-identical rearing conditions. Nat. Commun. 8, 15361. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms15361.
- Bijleveld, A.I. (2015). Untying the knot: mechanistically understanding the interactions between social foragers and their prey. PhD Thesis. Rijksuniversiteit Groningen.
- Bijleveld, A.I., Folmer, E.O., and Piersma, T. (2012). Experimental evidence for cryptic interference among socially foraging shorebirds. Behav. Ecol. 23, 806–814. https://doi. org/10.1093/beheco/ars034.
- Bijleveld, A.I., Massourakis, G., van der Marel, A., Dekinga, A., Spaans, B., van Gils, J.A., and Piersma, T. (2014). Personality drives physiological adjustments and is not related to survival. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 281, 20133135. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.3135.
- Bijleveld, A.I., van Gils, J.A., Jouta, J., and Piersma, T. (2015). Benefits of foraging in small groups: An experimental study on public information use in red knots *Calidris canutus*. Behav. Processes 117, 74–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2014.09.003.
- Bijleveld, A.I., MacCurdy, R.B., Chan, Y.-C., Penning, E., Gabrielson, R.M., Cluderay, J., Spaulding, E.L., Dekinga, A., Holthuijsen, S., ten Horn, J., Brugge, M., van Gils, J.A., Winkler, D.W., and Piersma T. (2016). Understanding spatial distributions: negative densitydependence in prey causes predators to trade-off prey quantity with quality. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 283. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.1557.
- Bijleveld, A.I., van Maarseveen, F., Denissen, B., Dekinga, A., Penning, E., Ersoy, S., Gupte, P., de Monte, L., ten Horn, J., Bom, R., Toledo, S., Nathan, R., and Beardsworth, C.E. (2021). WATLAS: high resolution and real-time tracking of many small birds in the Dutch Wadden Sea. bioRxiv 2021.11.08.467683. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.11.08.467683.
- Biro, P.A., and Stamps, J.A. (2008). Are animal personality traits linked to life-history productivity? Trends Ecol. Evol. 23, 361–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.04.003.
- Bolnick, D.I., Svanbäck, R., Fordyce, J.A., Yang, L.H., Davis, J.M., Hulsey, C.D., and Forister, M.L. (2003). The ecology of individuals: incidence and implications of individual specialization. Am. Nat. 161, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1086/343878.
- Bolnick, D.I., Yang, L.H., Fordyce, J.A., Davis, J.M., and Svanbäck, R. (2002). Measuring individual-level resource specialization. Ecology 83, 2936–2941. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[2936:milrs]2.0.co;2.
- Boon, A.K., Réale, D., and Boutin, S. (2008). Personality, habitat use, and their consequences for survival in North American red squirrels *Tamiasciurus hudsonicus*. Oikos 117, 1321–1328. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2008.16567.x.
- Both, C. (2010). Flexibility of timing of avian migration to climate change masked by environmental constraints en route. Curr. Biol. 20, 243–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2009.11.074.
- Boyd, H., and Piersma, T. (2001). Changing balance between survival and recruitment explains population trends in Red Knots *Calidris canutus islandica* wintering in Britain, 1969–1995. Ardea 89, 301–317.
- Bremner-Harrison, S., Prodohl, P.A., and Elwood, R.W. (2004). Behavioural trait assessment as a release criterion: boldness predicts early death in a reintroduction programme of captive-bred swift fox *Vulpes velox*. Anim. Conserv. 7, 313–320. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1367943004001490.
- Bridger, D., Bonner, S.J., and Briffa, M. (2015). Individual quality and personality: bolder males are less fecund in the hermit crab *Pagurus bernhardus*. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 282, 20142492. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.2492.

- Brown, C., and Braithwaite, V.A. (2004). Size matters: a test of boldness in eight populations of the poeciliid *Brachyraphis episcopi*. Anim. Behav. 68, 1325–1329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. anbehav.2004.04.004.
- Brydges, N.M., Colegrave, N., Heathcote, R.J.P., and Braithwaite, V.A. (2008). Habitat stability and predation pressure affect temperament behaviours in populations of three-spined sticklebacks. J. Anim. Ecol. 77, 229–235. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2007.01343.x.
- Bürkner, P.-C. (2017). brms: An R package for Bayesian multilevel models using stan. J. Stat. Softw. 80, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v080.i01.
- Buckley, N.J. (1996). Food finding and the influence of information, local enhancement, and communal roosting on foraging success of north american vultures. Auk 113, 473–488. https:// doi.org/10.2307/4088913.
- Burton, N.H.K., and Armitage, M.J.S. (2005). Differences in the diurnal and nocturnal use of intertidal feeding grounds by Redshank *Tringa totanus*. Bird Study 52, 120–128. https://doi. org/10.1080/00063650509461381.

С

- Cabrera, D., Nilsson, J.R., and Griffen, B.D. (2021). The development of animal personality across ontogeny: a cross-species review. Anim. Behav. *173*, 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. anbehav.2021.01.003.
- Careau, V., and Garland, T.Jr. (2012). Performance, personality, and energetics: correlation, causation, and mechanism. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 85, 543-571. https://doi. org/10.1086/666970.
- Careau, V., Thomas, D., Humphries, M.M., and Réale, D. (2008). Energy metabolism and animal personality. Oikos *117*, 641–653. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2008.16513.x.
- Carlson, B.E., and Tetzlaff, S.J. (2020). Long-term behavioral repeatability in wild adult and captive juvenile turtles *Terrapene carolina*: implications for personality development. Ethology 126, 668–678. https://doi.org/10.1111/eth.13024.
- Carneiro, A.P.B., Bonnet-Lebrun, A.-S., Manica, A., Staniland, I.J., and Phillips, R.A. (2017). Methods for detecting and quantifying individual specialisation in movement and foraging strategies of marine predators. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 578, 151–166.
- Carpenter, B., Gelman, A., Hoffman, M.D., Lee, D., Goodrich, B., Betancourt, M., Brubaker, M., Guo, J., Li, P., and Riddell, A. (2017). Stan: a probabilistic programming language. J. Stat. Softw 76, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v076.i01.
- Carter, A.J., Goldizen, A.W., and Tromp, S.A. (2010). Agamas exhibit behavioral syndromes: bolder males bask and feed more but may suffer higher predation. Behav. Ecol. 21, 655–661. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arq036.
- Carter, A.J., Marshall, H.H., Heinsohn, R., and Cowlishaw, G. (2012). How not to measure boldness: novel object and antipredator responses are not the same in wild baboons. Anim. Behav. 84, 603–609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.06.015.
- Carter, A.J., Feeney, W.E., Marshall, H.H., Cowlishaw, G., and Heinsohn, R. (2013). Animal personality: what are behavioural ecologists measuring? Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 88, 465–475. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12007.
- Carter, A.J., Marshall, H.H., Heinsohn, R., and Cowlishaw, G. (2013b). Personality predicts decision making only when information is unreliable. Anim. Behav. 86, 633–639. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.07.009.

- Caut, S., Angulo, E., and Courchamp, F. (2009). Variation in discrimination factors (Δ15N and Δ13C): the effect of diet isotopic values and applications for diet reconstruction. J. Appl. Ecol. 46, 443–453. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01620.x.
- Ceia, F.R., and Ramos, J.A. (2015). Individual specialization in the foraging and feeding strategies of seabirds: a review. Mar. Biol. *162*, 1923–1938. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-015-2735-4.
- Chan, Y.-C. (2021). Struggles ashore: migration ecology of threatened shorebirds in the East Asian–Australasian Flyway. PhD Thesis. Rijksuniversiteit Groningen.
- Chapman, B.B., Hulthén, K., Blomqvist, D.R., Hansson, L.-A., Nilsson, J.-Å., Brodersen, J., Anders Nilsson, P., Skov, C., and Brönmark, C. (2011). To boldly go: individual differences in boldness influence migratory tendency. Ecol. Lett. 14, 871–876. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01648.x.
- Charnov, E.L. (1976). Optimal foraging, the marginal value theorem. Theor. Popul. Biol. 9, 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-5809(76)90040-X.
- Christie, M.R., McNickle, G.G., French, R.A., and Blouin, M.S. (2018). Life history variation is maintained by fitness trade-offs and negative frequency-dependent selection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 115, 4441–4446. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1801779115.
- Christianen, M.J.A., Middelburg, J.J., Holthuijsen, S.J., Jouta, J., Compton, T.J., van der Heide, T., Piersma, T., Sinninghe Damsté, J.S., van der Veer, H.W., Schouten, S., and Olff, H. (2017). Benthic primary producers are key to sustain the Wadden Sea food web: stable carbon isotope analysis at landscape scale. Ecology 98, 1498–1512. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.1837.
- Clark, C.W., and Mangel, M. (1986). The evolutionary advantages of group foraging. Theor. Popul. Biol. *30*, 45–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-5809(86)90024-9.
- Conklin, J.R., Verkuil, Y.I., Battley, P.F., Hassell, C.J., ten Horn, J., Johnson, J.A., Tomkovich, P.S., Baker, A.J., Piersma, T., and Fontaine, M.C. (2022). Global flyway evolution in red knots *Calidris canutus* and genetic evidence for a *Nearctic refugium*. Mol. Ecol. https://doi. org/10.1111/mec.16379.
- Coomes, J.R., Davidson, G.L., Reichert, M.S., Kulahci, I.G., Troisi, C.A., and Quinn, J.L. (2022). Inhibitory control, exploration behaviour and manipulated ecological context are associated with foraging flexibility in the great tit. J. Anim. Ecol. 91, 320–333. https://doi. org/10.1111/1365-2656.13600.
- Costa, P.T., and McCrae, R.R. (1992). Four ways five factors are basic. Pers. Individ. Dif. 13, 653–665. https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(92)90236-I.
- Costa, P.T.Jr., and McCrae, R.R. (1994). Stability and change in personality from adolescence through adulthood. In C.F. Halverson, Jr., G.A. Kohnstamm, and R.P. Martin (Eds.), The developing structure of temperament and personality from infancy to adulthood (pp. 139– 150). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Cote, J., Clobert, J., Brodin, T., Fogarty, S., and Sih, A. (2010a). Personality-dependent dispersal: characterization, ontogeny and consequences for spatially structured populations. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 365, 4065–4076. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0176.
- Cote, J., Fogarty, S., Weinersmith, K., Brodin, T., and Sih, A. (2010b). Personality traits and dispersal tendency in the invasive mosquitofish *Gambusia affinis*. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 277, 1571–1579. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2009.2128.
- Cresswell, W. (1994). Age-dependent choice of redshank *Tringa totanus* feeding location: profitability or risk? J. Anim. Ecol. *63*, 589–600. https://doi.org/10.2307/5225.
- Cowie, R.J. (1977). Optimal foraging in great tits *Parus major*. Nature 268, 137–139. https://doi.org/10.1038/268137a0.

D

- Dall, S.R.X., Houston, A.I., and McNamara, J.M. (2004). The behavioural ecology of personality: consistent individual differences from an adaptive perspective. Ecol. Lett. 7, 734–739. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00618.x.
- Dall, S.R.X., Bell, A.M., Bolnick, D.I., and Ratnieks, F.L.W. (2012). An evolutionary ecology of individual differences. Ecol. Lett. 15, 1189–1198. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2012.01846.x.
- Darwin, C. (1859). On the origin of species: by means of natural selection. John Murray, London, UK.
- Dekinga, A., and Piersma, T. (1993). Reconstructing diet composition on the basis of faeces in a mollusc-eating wader, the Knot *Calidris canutus*. Bird Study *40*, 144–156. https://doi. org/10.1080/00063659309477140.
- Dekinga, A., Dietz, M.W., Koolhaas, A., and Piersma, T. (2001). Time course and reversibility of changes in the gizzards of red knots alternately eating hard and soft food. J. Exp. Biol. 204, 2167–2173.
- Delany, S., Scott, D., Dodman, T., and Stroud, D. (2009). An atlas of wader populations in Africa and Western Eurasia. Br. Birds *102*, 639–642.
- Delaney, D.M., Hoekstra, L.A., and Janzen, F.J. (2020). Becoming creatures of habit: Among- and within-individual variation in nesting behaviour shift with age. J. Evol. Biol. *33*, 1614–1624. https://doi.org/10.1111/jeb.13701.
- Dietz, M.W., Dekinga, A., Piersma, T., and Verhulst, S. (1999). Estimating organ size in small migrating shorebirds with ultrasonography: an intercalibration exercise. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 72, 28–37. https://doi.org/10.1086/316648.
- Dietz, M.W., Spaans, B., Dekinga, A., Klaassen, M., Korthals, H., van Leeuwen, C., and Piersma, T. (2010). Do red knots *Calidris canutus islandica* routinely skip Iceland during southward migration? Condor 112, 48–56. https://doi.org/10.1525/cond.2010.090139.
- Dietz, M.W., Rogers, K.G., and Piersma, T. (2013). When the seasons don't fit: speedy molt as a routine carry-over cost of reproduction. PLoS One 8, e53890. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0053890.
- Dill, L.M. (1983). Adaptive flexibility in the foraging behavior of fishes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 40, 398–408. https://doi.org/10.1139/f83-058
- Dingemanse, N.J., Both, C., Drent, P.J., van Oers, K., and van Noordwijk, A.J. (2002). Repeatability and heritability of exploratory behaviour in great tits from the wild. Anim. Behav. 64, 929–938. https://doi.org/10.1006/anbe.2002.2006.
- Dingemanse, N.J., Both, C., van Noordwijk, A.J., Rutten, A.L., and Drent, P.J. (2003). Natal dispersal and personalities in great tits *Parus major*. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 270, 741–747. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2002.2300.
- Dingemanse, N.J., and de Goede, P. (2004). The relation between dominance and exploratory behavior is context-dependent in wild great tits. Behav. Ecol. *15*, 1023–1030. https://doi. org/10.1093/beheco/arh115.
- Dingemanse, N.J., Both, C., Drent, P.J., and Tinbergen, J.M. (2004). Fitness consequences of avian personalities in a fluctuating environment. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 271, 847–852. https://doi. org/10.1098/rspb.2004.2680.
- Dingemanse, N.J., and Wolf, M. (2010). Recent models for adaptive personality differences: a review. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B *365*, 3947–3958. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0221.

- Dingemanse, N.J., Hertel, A.R., and Royauté, R. (2022). Moving away from repeatability: a comment on Stuber et al. Behav. Ecol. arac006. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arac006.
- DiNuzzo, E.R., and Griffen, B.D. (2020). The effects of animal personality on the ideal free distribution. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 287, 20201095. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.1095.
- DiRienzo, N., Pruitt, J.N., and Hedrick, A.V. (2012). Juvenile exposure to acoustic sexual signals from conspecifics alters growth trajectory and an adult personality trait. Anim. Behav. 84, 861–868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.07.007.
- Dochtermann, N.A., and Royauté, R. (2019). The mean matters: going beyond repeatability to interpret behavioural variation. Anim. Behav. *153*, 147–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. anbehav.2019.05.012.
- Dochtermann, N.A., Schwab, T., and Sih, A. (2015). The contribution of additive genetic variation to personality variation: heritability of personality. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 282, 20142201. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.2201.
- Drent, P.J., van Oers, K., and van Noordwijk, A.J. (2003). Realized heritability of personalities in the great tit *Parus major*. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 270, 45–51. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rspb.2002.2168.
- Durell, S.E.A. le V.D. (2000). Individual feeding specialisation in shorebirds: population consequences and conservation implications. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 75, 503–518. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185x.2000.tb00053.x
- Durell, S.E.A. le V.D., Goss-Custard, J.D., and Caldow, R.W.G. (1993). Sex-related differences in diet and feeding method in the oystercatcher *Haematopus ostralegus*. J. Anim. Ecol. 62, 205–215. https://doi.org/10.2307/5495

Е

- Eccard, J.A., Mendes Ferreira, C., Peredo Arce, A., and Dammhahn, M. (2021). Top-down effects of foraging decisions on local, landscape and regional biodiversity of resources (DivGUD). Ecol. Lett. 25, 3-16. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13901.
- Edenbrow, M., and Croft, D.P. (2011). Behavioural types and life history strategies during ontogeny in the mangrove killifish, *Kryptolebias marmoratus*. Anim. Behav. *82*, 731–741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2011.07.003.
- Elgar, M.A. (1986). The establishment of foraging flocks in house sparrows: risk of predation and daily temperature. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. *19*, 433–438.
- Endler, J.A. (1986). Natural selection in the wild. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Engeszer, R.E., Ryan, M.J., and Parichy, D.M. (2004). Learned social preference in zebrafish. Curr. Biol. *14*, 881–884. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2004.04.042.
- Ens, B.J., Bunskoeke, E.J., Hoekstra, R., Hulscher, J.B., Kersten, M., and de Vlas, S.J. (1996). Prey choice and search speed: Why simple optimality fails to explain the prey choice of Oystercatchers *Haematopus ostralegus* feeding on *Nereis diversicolor* and *Macoma balthica*. Ardea 84A, 73–90.
- Ersoy, S., Beardsworth, C.E., Dekinga, A., van der Meer, M.T.J., Piersma, T., Groothuis, T.G.G., and Bijleveld, A.I. (2022). Exploration speed in captivity predicts foraging tactics and diet in free-living red knots. J. Anim. Ecol. 91, 356–366. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13632.

F

- Finger, J.S., Dhellemmes, F., Guttridge, T.L., Kurvers, R.H.J.M., Gruber, S.H., and Krause, J. (2016). Rate of movement of juvenile lemon sharks in a novel open field, are we measuring activity or reaction to novelty? Anim. Behav. *116*, 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. anbehav.2016.03.032.
- Fox, R.A., Ladage, L.D., Roth, T.C., and Pravosudov, V.V. (2009). Behavioral profile predicts dominance status in mountain chickadees. Anim. Behav. 77, 1441–1448. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.02.022.
- Fraser, D.F., Gilliam, J.F., Daley, M.J., Le, A.N., and Skalski, G.T. (2001). Explaining leptokurtic movement distributions: intrapopulation variation in boldness and exploration. Am. Nat. 158, 124–135. https://doi.org/10.1086/321307
- Fratkin, J.L., Sinn, D.L., Patall, E.A., and Gosling, S.D. (2013). Personality consistency in dogs: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 8, e54907. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054907.
- Friard, O., and Gamba, M. (2016). BORIS: a free, versatile open-source event-logging software for video/audio coding and live observations. Methods Ecol. Evol. 7, 1325–1330. https://doi. org/10.1111/2041-210x.12584
- Fürtbauer, I. (2015). Consistent individual differences in haemolymph density reflect risk propensity in a marine invertebrate. R Soc Open Sci 2, 140482. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rsos.140482.

G

- Gaston, K.J. (2019). Nighttime ecology: the "nocturnal problem" revisited. Am. Nat. 193, 481–502. https://doi.org/10.1086/702250.
- Gharnit, E., Bergeron, P., Garant, D., and Réale, D. (2020). Exploration profiles drive activity patterns and temporal niche specialization in a wild rodent. Behav. Ecol. *31*, 772–783. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/araa022.
- Gosling, S.D. (2001). From mice to men: what can we learn about personality from animal research? Psychological Bulletin 127, 45-86. https://doi.org/10.1037//0033-2909.127.1.45.
- Goulson, D., and Darvill, B. (2004). Niche overlap and diet breadth in bumblebees; are rare species more specialized in their choice of flowers? Apidologie *35*, 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1051/apido:2003062
- Griffen, B.D., and Mosblack, H. (2011). Predicting diet and consumption rate differences between and within species using gut ecomorphology. J. Anim. Ecol. 80, 854–863. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01832.x
- Groothuis, T.G.G., and Trillmich, F. (2011). Unfolding personalities: the importance of studying ontogeny. Dev. Psychobiol. *53*, 641–655. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20574.
- Gupte, P.R., Beardsworth, C.E., Spiegel, O., Lourie, E., Toledo, S., Nathan, R., and Bijleveld, A.I. (2022). A guide to pre-processing high-throughput animal tracking data. J. Anim. Ecol. 91, 287–307. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13610.

Н

- Hall, C., and Ballachey, L.E. (1932). A study of the rat's behavior in a field; a contribution to method in comparative psychology. Univ. of California Press, Berkeley.
- Harris, S., Raya Rey, A., Zavalaga, C., and Quintana, F. (2014). Strong temporal consistency in the individual foraging behaviour of imperial shags *Phalacrocorax atriceps*. Ibis 156, 523–533. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12159
- Harris, S.M., Descamps, S., Sneddon, L.U., Bertrand, P., Chastel, O., and Patrick, S.C. (2019). Personality predicts foraging site fidelity and trip repeatability in a marine predator. J. Anim. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13106.
- Harrison, X.A., Blount, J.D., Inger, R., Norris, D.R., and Bearhop, S. (2011). Carry-over effects as drivers of fitness differences in animals. J. Anim. Ecol. 80, 4–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2656.2010.01740.x.
- Hasselquist, D., Montràs-Janer, T., Tarka, M., and Hansson, B. (2017). Individual consistency of long-distance migration in a songbird: significant repeatability of autumn route, stopovers and wintering sites but not in timing of migration. J. Avian Biol. 48, 91–102. https://doi. org/10.1111/jav.01292.
- Heape, W. (1931). Emigration, migration, and nomadism. Heffer and Sons, Cambridge, UK.
- Hedenström, A. (2003). Flying with holey wings. J. Avian Biol. 34, 324–327. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.0908-8857.2003.03324.x.
- Heinrich, B. (1976). The foraging specializations of individual bumblebees. Ecol. Monogr. 46, 105–128. https://doi.org/10.2307/1942246.
- Heinsohn, R.G. (1991). Slow learning of foraging skills and extended parental care in cooperatively breeding white-winged choughs. Am. Nat. 137, 864–881. https://doi.org/10.1086/285198
- Herborn, K.A., Macleod, R., Miles, W.T.S., Schofield, A.N.B., Alexander, L., and Arnold, K.E. (2010). Personality in captivity reflects personality in the wild. Anim. Behav. 79, 835–843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.12.026.
- Hertel, A.G., Niemelä, P.T., Dingemanse, N.J., and Mueller, T. (2020). A guide for studying among-individual behavioral variation from movement data in the wild. Mov Ecol 8, 30. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-020-00216-8.
- Hertel, A.G., Royauté, R., Zedrosser, A., and Mueller, T. (2021). Biologging reveals individual variation in behavioural predictability in the wild. J. Anim. Ecol. 90, 723–737. https://doi. org/10.1111/1365-2656.13406.
- Hespenheide, H.A. (1973). Ecological inferences from morphological data. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 4, 213–229. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2096811.
- Heyes, C.M. (1994). Social learning in animals: categories and mechanisms. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 69, 207–231. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185x.1994.tb01506.x.
- Hinde, R.A. (1952). The behaviour of the great tit *Parus Major* and some other related species. Behaviour. Supplement, 2, III–201.
- Hinde, R.A. (1959). Behaviour and speciation in birds and lower vertebrates. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 34, 85–127. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185x.1959.tb01303.x
- Hobson, K.A. (2008). Applying isotopic methods to tracking animal movements. K.A. Hobson, L.I. Wassenaar (Eds.), Tracking Animal Migration with Stable Isotopes, Elsevier (2008), pp. 45-78 https://doi.org/10.1016/S1936-7961(07)00003-6.
- Hogan, J.A. (2017). The study of behavior: organization, methods, and principles. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

I

Ingram, T., Costa-Pereira, R., and Araújo, M.S. (2018). The dimensionality of individual niche variation. Ecology 99, 536–549. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2129.

J

- Jackson, A.L., Inger, R., Parnell, A.C., and Bearhop, S. (2011). Comparing isotopic niche widths among and within communities: SIBER - Stable Isotope Bayesian Ellipses in R. J. Anim. Ecol. 80, 595–602. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01806.x.
- Jetz, W., Tertitski, G., Kays, R., Mueller, U., Wikelski, M., and Supporting authors (2022). Biological Earth observation with animal sensors. Trends Ecol. Evol. 37, 293–298. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2021.11.011.
- Jones, K.A., and Godin, J.-G.J. (2010). Are fast explorers slow reactors? Linking personality type and anti-predator behaviour. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 277, 625–632. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rspb.2009.1607.
- Jonzén, N., Lindén, A., Ergon, T., Knudsen, E., Vik, J.O., Rubolini, D., Piacentini, D., Brinch, C., Spina, F., Karlsson, L., Stervander, M., Andersson, A., Waldenström, J., Lehikoinen, A., Edvardsen, E., Solvang, R., and Stenseth N.C. (2006). Rapid advance of spring arrival dates in long-distance migratory birds. Science 312, 1959–1961. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1126119.
- Jourdan, C., Fort, J., Pinaud, D., Delaporte, P., Gernigon, J., Lachaussée, N., Lemesle, J.-C., Pignon-Mussaud, C., Pineau, P., Robin, F., Rousseau, P., and Bocher, P. (2021). Nycthemeral movements of wintering shorebirds reveal important differences in habitat uses of feeding areas and roosts. Estuaries Coasts 44, 1454–1468. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-020-00871-5.

K

- Kerfoot, W.B. (1967). Correlation between ocellar size and the foraging activities of bees *Hymenoptera; Apoidea*. Am. Nat. 101, 65–70. https://doi.org/10.1086/282470
- Kilgour, R.J., McAdam, A.G., Betini, G.S., and Norris, D.R. (2018). Experimental evidence that density mediates negative frequency-dependent selection on aggression. J. Anim. Ecol. 87, 1091–1101. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12813.
- Kim, S.L., Tinker, M.T., Estes, J.A., and Koch, P.L. (2012). Ontogenetic and among-individual variation in foraging strategies of northeast Pacific white sharks based on stable isotope analysis. PLoS One 7, e45068. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0045068.
- Klaassen, M., Piersma, T., Korthals, H., Dekinga, A., and Dietz, M.W. (2010). Single-point isotope measurements in blood cells and plasma to estimate the time since diet switches. Funct. Ecol. 24, 796–804. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01689.x
- Knudsen, E., Lindén, A., Both, C., Jonzén, N., Pulido, F., Saino, N., Sutherland, W.J., Bach, L.A., Coppack, T., Ergon, T., et al. (2011). Challenging claims in the study of migratory birds and climate change. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 86, 928–946. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00179.x.
- Knudsen, R., Primicerio, R., Amundsen, P.A., and Klemetsen, A. (2010). Temporal stability of individual feeding specialization may promote speciation. J. Anim. Ecol. 79, 161–168. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2009.01625.x

- Kobler, A., Engelen, B., Knaepkens, G., and Eens, M. (2009). Temperament in bullheads: do laboratory and field explorative behaviour variables correlate? Naturwissenschaften 96, 1229–1233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00114-009-0581-2.
- Kok, E. (2020). Why Knot?: Exploration of variation in long-distance migration. PhD Thesis. Rijksuniversiteit Groningen.
- Kok, E.M.A., Burant, J.B., Dekinga, A., Manche, P., Saintonge, D., Piersma, T., and Mathot, K.J. (2019). Within-individual canalization contributes to age-related increases in trait repeatability: a longitudinal experiment in red knots. Am. Nat. 194, 455–469. https://doi. org/10.1086/704593.
- Koolhaas, J.M., Korte, S.M., de Boer, S.F., van der Vegt, B.J., van Reenen, C.G., Hopster, H., de Jong, I.C., Ruis, M.A., and Blokhuis, H.J. (1999). Coping styles in animals: current status in behavior and stress-physiology. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 23, 925–935. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0149-7634(99)00026-3.
- Kraan, C., Dekinga, A., and Piersma, T. (2011). Now an empty mudflat: past and present benthic abundances in the western Dutch Wadden Sea. Helgol. Mar. Res. 65, 51–58. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10152-010-0200-9.
- Kraan, C., van der Meer, J., Dekinga, A., and Piersma, T. (2009). Patchiness of macrobenthic invertebrates in homogenized intertidal habitats: hidden spatial structure at a landscape scale. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 383, 211–224. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07994.
- Kraan, C., Aarts, G., van der Meer, J., and Piersma, T. (2010). The role of environmental variables in structuring landscape-scale species distributions in seafloor habitats. Ecology 91, 1583– 1590. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-2040.1.
- Kurvers, R.H.J.M., van Oers, K., Nolet, B.A., Jonker, R.M., van Wieren, S.E., Prins, H.H.T., and Ydenberg, R.C. (2010). Personality predicts the use of social information. Ecol. Lett. 13, 829–837. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01473.x.
- Kurvers, R.H.J.M., Prins, H.H.T., van Wieren, S.E., van Oers, K., Nolet, B.A., and Ydenberg, R.C. (2010). The effect of personality on social foraging: shy barnacle geese scrounge more. Proc. Biol. Sci. 277, 601–608. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2009.1474.

L

Lack, D. (1961). Darwin's Finches. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

- Laland, K.N., Uller, T., Feldman, M.W., Sterelny, K., Müller, G.B., Moczek, A., Jablonka, E., and Odling-Smee, J. (2015). The extended evolutionary synthesis: its structure, assumptions and predictions. Proc. Biol. Sci. 282, 20151019. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.1019.
- Lank, D.B., Butler, R.W., Ireland, J., and Ydenberg, R.C. (2003). Effects of predation danger on migration strategies of sandpipers. Oikos 103, 303–319. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12314.x.
- Leclerc, M., van der Wal, E., Zedrosser, A., Swenson, J.E., Kindberg, J., and Pelletier, F. (2016). Quantifying consistent individual differences in habitat selection. Oecologia 180, 697–705. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-015-3500-6.
- Leyrer, J., Lok, T., Brugge, M., Dekinga, A., Spaans, B., van Gils, J.A., Sandercock, B.K., and Piersma, T. (2012). Small-scale demographic structure suggests preemptive behavior in a flocking shorebird. Behav. Ecol. 23, 1226–1233. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/ars106.
- Lima, S.L., and Dill, L.M. (1990). Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and prospectus. Can. J. Zool. *68*, 619–640.

- Lisovski, S., Gosbell, K., Minton, C., and Klaassen, M. (2021). Migration strategy as an indicator of resilience to change in two shorebird species with contrasting population trajectories. J. Anim. Ecol. 90, 2005–2014. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13393.
- Luna, Á., Palma, A., Sanz-Aguilar, A., Tella, J.L., and Carrete, M. (2019). Personality-dependent breeding dispersal in rural but not urban burrowing owls. Sci. Rep. 9, 2886. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-019-39251-w.
- Luttbeg, B., and Sih, A. (2010). Risk, resources and state-dependent adaptive behavioural syndromes. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B *365*, 3977–3990. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0207.

Μ

- Mazué, G.P.F., Dechaume-Moncharmont, F.-X., and Godin, J.-G.J. (2015). Boldness–exploration behavioral syndrome: interfamily variability and repeatability of personality traits in the young of the convict cichlid *Amatitlania siquia*. Behav. Ecol. 26, 900–908. https://doi. org/10.1093/beheco/arv030.
- Marchetti, C., and Drent, P.J. (2000). Individual differences in the use of social information in foraging by captive great tits. Anim. Behav. 60, 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1006/anbe.2000.1443.
- Mathot, K.J., Dekinga, A., and Piersma, T. (2017). An experimental test of state-behaviour feedbacks: gizzard mass and foraging behaviour in red knots. Funct. Ecol. *31*, 1111–1121. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12827.
- Mettke-Hofmann, C., Ebert, C., Schmidt, T., Steiger, S., and Stieb, S. (2005). Personality traits in resident and migratory warbler species. Behaviour 142, 1357–1375.
- McDermott, D.R., Chips, M.J., McGuirk, M., Armagost, F., DiRienzo, N., and Pruitt, J.N. (2014). Boldness is influenced by sublethal interactions with predators and is associated with successful harem infiltration in Madagascar hissing cockroaches. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 68, 425–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-013-1657-8.
- McNeil, R., and Rodriguez, J.R.S. (1996). Nocturnal foraging in shorebirds. Int. Wader Studies 8, 114–121.
- McElreath, R., and Strimling, P. (2006). How noisy information and individual asymmetries can make 'personality' an adaptation: a simple model. Anim. Behav. 72, 1135–1139. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2006.04.001.
- Michelangeli, M., Payne, E., Spiegel, O., Sinn, D., Leu, S.T., Gardner, M., and Sih, A. (2021). Personality, spatiotemporal ecological variation, and resident/explorer movement syndromes in the sleepy lizard. J. Anim. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13616.
- Milot, E., Cohen, A.A., Vézina, F., Buehler, D.M., Matson, K.D., and Piersma, T. (2014). A novel integrative method for measuring body condition in ecological studies based on physiological dysregulation. Methods Ecol. Evol. 5, 146–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210x.12145
- Monnet, G., Rosenfeld, J.S., and Richards, J.G. (2020). Adaptive differentiation of growth, energetics and behaviour between piscivore and insectivore juvenile rainbow trout along the Pace-of-Life continuum. J. Anim. Ecol. *89*, 2717–2732. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13326.
- Moore, J.W., and Semmens, B.X. (2008). Incorporating uncertainty and prior information into stable isotope mixing models. Ecol. Lett. *11*, 470–480. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01163.x.
- Myers, J.P. (1981). A test of three hypotheses for latitudinal segregation of the sexes in wintering birds. Can. J. Zool. 59, 1527–1534. https://doi.org/10.1139/z81-207.

- Nakagawa, S., and Schielzeth, H. (2010). Repeatability for Gaussian and non-Gaussian data: a practical guide for biologists. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 85, 935–956. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2010.00141.x
- Nathan, R., Monk, C.T., Arlinghaus, R., Adam, T., Alós, J., Assaf, M., Baktoft, H., Beardsworth, C.E., Bertram, M.G., Bijleveld, A.I., et al. (2022). Big-data approaches lead to an increased understanding of the ecology of animal movement. Science 375, eabg1780. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.abg1780.
- Nettleship, D.N. (1974). The breeding of the knot *Calidris canutus* at Hazen Camp, Ellesmere Island, N. W. T. Polarforschung 44, 8–26.
- Newsome, S.D., Tinker, M.T., Monson, D.H., Oftedal, O.T., Ralls, K., Staedler, M.M., Fogel, M.L., and Estes, J.A. (2009). Using stable isotopes to investigate individual diet specialization in California sea otters *Enhydra lutris nereis*. Ecology *90*, 961–974. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1812.1.
- Nicolaus, M., Tinbergen, J.M., Bouwman, K.M., Michler, S.P.M., Ubels, R., Both, C., Kempenaers, B., and Dingemanse, N.J. (2012). Experimental evidence for adaptive personalities in a wild passerine bird. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 279, 4885–4892. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2012.1936.

0

- Oaten, A. (1977). Optimal foraging in patches: a case for stochasticity. Theor. Popul. Biol. 12, 263–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-5809(77)90046-6.
- O'Brien, J.W., Evans, B.I., and Browman, H.I. (1989). Flexible search tactics and efficient foraging in saltatory searching animals. Oecologia *80*, 100–110. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00789938.
- Odling-Smee, F.J., Laland, K.N., and Feldman, M.W. (2013). Niche construction: the neglected process in evolution. Princeton University Press, Princeton. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400847266.
- Osborn, A., and Briffa, M. (2017). Does repeatable behaviour in the laboratory represent behaviour under natural conditions? A formal comparison in sea anemones. Anim. Behav. *123*, 197–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.10.036.
- Oudman, T. (2017). Red knot habits: An optimal foraging perspective on tidal life at Banc d'Arguin. PhD Thesis. Rijksuniversiteit Groningen.
- Oudman, T., Bijleveld, A.I., Kavelaars, M.M., Dekinga, A., Cluderay, J., Piersma, T., and van Gils, J.A. (2016). Diet preferences as the cause of individual differences rather than the consequence. J. Anim. Ecol. 85, 1378–1388. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12549.
- Oudman, T., Piersma, T., Ahmedou Salem, M.V., Feis, M.E., Dekinga, A., Holthuijsen, S., ten Horn, J., van Gils, J.A., and Bijleveld, A.I. (2018). Resource landscapes explain contrasting patterns of aggregation and site fidelity by red knots at two wintering sites. Mov. Ecol. 6, 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-018-0142-4.

Р

- Page, G., and Whitacre, D.F. (1975). Raptor predation on wintering shorebirds. Condor 77, 73–83. https://doi.org/10.2307/1366760.
- Parent, C.E., Agashe, D., and Bolnick, D.I. (2014). Intraspecific competition reduces niche width in experimental populations. Ecol. Evol. 4, 3978–3990. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1254

- Parnell, A.C., Inger, R., Bearhop, S., and Jackson, A.L. (2010). Source partitioning using stable isotopes: coping with too much variation. PLoS One 5, e9672. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0009672
- Pastell, M. (2016). CowLog cross-platform application for coding behaviours from video. J. Open Res. Softw. 4, e15. http://doi.org/10.5334/jors.113
- Patrick, S.C., Pinaud, D., and Weimerskirch, H. (2017). Boldness predicts an individual's position along an exploration-exploitation foraging trade-off. J. Anim. Ecol. 86, 1257–1268. https:// doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12724.
- Penning, E., Govers, L.L., Dekker, R., and Piersma, T. (2021). Advancing presence and changes in body size of brown shrimp *Crangon crangon* on intertidal flats in the western Dutch Wadden Sea, 1984–2018. Mar. Biol. *168*, 160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-021-03967-z.
- Perals, D., Griffin, A.S., Bartomeus, I., and Sol, D. (2017). Revisiting the open-field test: what does it really tell us about animal personality? Anim. Behav. 123, 69–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. anbehav.2016.10.006.
- Pérez-Escudero, A., Vicente-Page, J., Hinz, R.C., Arganda, S., and de Polavieja, G.G. (2014). idTracker: tracking individuals in a group by automatic identification of unmarked animals. Nat. Methods 11, 743–748. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2994
- Piersma, T. (1994). Close to the edge: Energetic bottlenecks and the evolution of migratory pathways in knots. PhD Thesis. Rijksuniversiteit Groningen.
- Piersma, T. (2007). Using the power of comparison to explain habitat use and migration strategies of shorebirds worldwide. J. Ornithol. *148*, 45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-007-0240-3.
- Piersma, T., and Lindström, Å. (2004). Migrating shorebirds as integrative sentinels of global environmental change. Ibis 146, 61–69.
- Piersma, T., van Aelst, R., Kurk, K., Berkhoudt, H., and Maas, L.R.M. (1998). A new pressure sensory mechanism for prey detection in birds: the use of principles of seabed dynamics? Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 265, 1377–1383. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1998.0445
- Piersma, T., Dekinga, A., and Nebel, S. (1999). Reversible size-changes in stomachs of shorebirds: when, to what extent, and why. Acta Ornithol. *34*, 175–181.
- Piersma, T., and van Gils, J.A. (2011). The flexible phenotype: a body-centred integration of ecology, physiology, and behaviour. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.
- Piersma, T., Hoekstra, R., Dekinga, A., Koolhaas, A., Wolf, P., Battley, P., and Wiersma, P. (1993). Scale and intensity of intertidal habitat use by knots *Calidris canutus* in the Western Wadden Sea in relation to food, friends and foes. Neth. J. Sea Res. 31, 331–357. https://doi. org/10.1016/0077-7579(93)90052-T.
- Piersma, T., Koolhaas, A., and Dekinga, A. (1993b). Interactions between stomach structure and diet choice in shorebirds. Auk 110, 552–564. https://doi.org/10.2307/4088419.
- Piersma, T., Verkuil, Y., and Tulp, I. (1994). Resources for long-distance migration of knots *Calidris canutus islandica* and *C. c. canutus*: how broad is the temporal exploitation window of benthic prey in the western and eastern Wadden Sea? Oikos 71, 393–407. https://doi. org/10.2307/3545827.
- Polverino, G., Cigliano, C., Nakayama, S., and Mehner, T. (2016). Emergence and development of personality over the ontogeny of fish in absence of environmental stress factors. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 70, 2027–2037. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-016-2206-z.

Q

Quaintenne, G., van Gils, J.A., Bocher, P., Dekinga, A., and Piersma, T. (2011). Scaling up ideals to freedom: are densities of red knots across western Europe consistent with ideal free distribution? Proc. Biol. Sci. 278, 2728–2736. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2011.0026.

R

- Rakhimberdiev, E., van den Hout, P.J., Brugge, M., Spaans, B., and Piersma, T. (2015). Seasonal mortality and sequential density dependence in a migratory bird. J. Avian Biol. 46, 332–341. https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.00701.
- Réale, D., Gallant, B.Y., Leblanc, M., and Festa-Bianchet, M. (2000). Consistency of temperament in bighorn ewes and correlates with behaviour and life history. Anim. Behav. 60, 589–597. https://doi.org/10.1006/anbe.2000.1530.
- Réale, D., Reader, S.M., Sol, D., McDougall, P.T., and Dingemanse, N.J. (2007). Integrating animal temperament within ecology and evolution. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 82, 291–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2007.00010.x.
- Réale, D., Garant, D., Humphries, M.M., Bergeron, P., Careau, V., and Montiglio, P.-O. (2010a). Personality and the emergence of the pace-of-life syndrome concept at the population level. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 365, 4051–4063. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0208.
- Réale, D., Dingemanse, N.J., Kazem, A.J.N., and Wright, J. (2010b). Evolutionary and ecological approaches to the study of personality. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 365, 3937–3946. https://doi. org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0222.
- Rejt, Ł. (2001). Feeding activity and seasonal changes in prey composition of urban Peregrine Falcons *Falco peregrinus*. AORN J. 36, 165–169. https://doi.org/10.3161/068.036.0201.
- Ringler, N.H. (1983). Variation in foraging tactics of fishes. In Predators and Prey in Fishes: Proceedings of the 3rd Biennial Conference on the Ethology and Behavioral Ecology of Fishes, Held at Normal, Illinois, U.S.A., May 19–22, 1981, D.L.G. Noakes, D.G. Lindquist, G.S. Helfman, and J.A. Ward, eds. Dordrecht: Springer, The Netherlands, pp. 159–171.
- Robinson, S.K., and Holmes, R.T. (1982). Foraging behavior of forest birds: the relationships among search tactics, diet, and habitat structure. Ecology 63, 1918. https://doi.org/10.2307/1940130

S

- Schirmer, A., Herde, A., Eccard, J.A., and Dammhahn, M. (2019). Individuals in space: personality-dependent space use, movement and microhabitat use facilitate individual spatial niche specialization. Oecologia 189, 647–660. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-019-04365-5.
- Shaw, A.K. (2020). Causes and consequences of individual variation in animal movement. Mov. Ecol. 8, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-020-0197-x.
- Sheppard, C.E., Inger, R., McDonald, R.A., Barker, S., Jackson, A.L., Thompson, F.J., Vitikainen, E.I.K., Cant, M.A., and Marshall, H.H. (2018). Intragroup competition predicts individual foraging specialisation in a group-living mammal. Ecol. Lett. 21, 665–673. https://doi. org/10.1111/ele.12933.
- Senner, N.R., Verhoeven, M.A., Abad-Gómez, J.M., Alves, J.A., Hooijmeijer, J.C.E.W., Howison, R.A., Kentie, R., Loonstra, A.H.J., Masero, J.A., Rocha, A., Stager, M., and Piersma, T. (2019). High migratory survival and highly variable migratory behavior in black-tailed godwits. Front. Ecol. Evol. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00096.

- Sih, A., Bell, A., and Johnson, J.C. (2004). Behavioral syndromes: an ecological and evolutionary overview. Trends Ecol. Evol. 19, 372–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2004.04.009.
- Sih, A., Mathot, K.J., Moirón, M., Montiglio, P.-O., Wolf, M., and Dingemanse, N.J. (2015). Animal personality and state-behaviour feedbacks: a review and guide for empiricists. Trends Ecol. Evol. 30, 50–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.11.004.
- Sillett, T.S., Holmes, R.T., and Sherry, T.W. (2000). Impacts of a global climate cycle on population dynamics of a migratory songbird. Science 288, 2040–2042. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.288.5473.2040.
- Sinn, D.L., Apiolaza, L.A., and Moltschaniwskyj, N.A. (2006). Heritability and fitness-related consequences of squid personality traits. J. Evol. Biol. 19, 1437–1447. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1420-9101.2006.01136.x.
- Slagsvold, T., and Wiebe, K.L. (2007). Learning the ecological niche. Proc. Biol. Sci. 274, 19–23. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.3663
- Smith, B.R., and Blumstein, D.T. (2008). Fitness consequences of personality: a meta-analysis. Behav. Ecol. *19*, 448–455. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arm144.
- Spiegel, O., Leu, S.T., Bull, C.M., and Sih, A. (2017). What's your move? Movement as a link between personality and spatial dynamics in animal populations. Ecol. Lett. 20, 3-18. https:// doi.org/10.1111/ele.12708.
- Stamps, J.A., and Groothuis, T.G.G. (2010a). Developmental perspectives on personality: implications for ecological and evolutionary studies of individual differences. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 365, 4029–4041. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0218.
- Stamps, J.A., and Groothuis, T.G.G. (2010b). The development of animal personality: relevance, concepts and perspectives. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 85, 301–325. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1469-185X.2009.00103.x.
- Stamps, J.A., and Krishnan, V.V. (2014). Combining information from ancestors and personal experiences to predict individual differences in developmental trajectories. Am. Nat. 184, 647–657. https://doi.org/10.1086/678116.
- Stamps, J.A., and Krishnan, V.V. (2017). Age-dependent changes in behavioural plasticity: insights from Bayesian models of development. Anim. Behav. 126, 53–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. anbehav.2017.01.013.
- Stanley, C.Q., MacPherson, M., Fraser, K.C., McKinnon, E.A., and Stutchbury, B.J.M. (2012). Repeat tracking of individual songbirds reveals consistent migration timing but flexibility in route. PLoS One 7, e40688. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0040688.
- Stirling, D.G., Réale, D., and Roff, D.A. (2002). Selection, structure and the heritability of behaviour: selection, structure and heritability. J. Evol. Biol. 15, 277–289. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1420-9101.2002.00389.x.
- Stock, B.C., and Semmens, B.X. (2016). MixSIAR GUI User Manual. Version 3.1 (Github). https://github.com/brianstock/MixSIAR. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1209993
- Stock, B.C., Jackson, A.L., Ward, E.J., Parnell, A.C., Phillips, D.L., and Semmens, B.X. (2018). Analyzing mixing systems using a new generation of Bayesian tracer mixing models. PeerJ 6, e5096. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5096.
- Stuber, E.F., Carlson, B.S., and Jesmer, B.R. (2022). Spatial personalities: a meta-analysis of consistent individual differences in spatial behavior. Behav. Ecol. 33, 477–486. https://doi. org/10.1093/beheco/arab147.

- Т
- Tinbergen, N. (1963). On aims and methods of Ethology. Z. Tierpsychol. 20, 410–433. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1963.tb01161.x.
- Tinker, M.T., Costa, D.P., Estes, J.A., and Wieringa, N. (2007). Individual dietary specialization and dive behaviour in the California sea otter: using archival time-depth data to detect alternative foraging strategies. Deep Sea Res. 54, 330-342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dsr2.2006.11.012.
- Toledo, S., Mendel, S., Levi, A., Vortman, Y., Ullmann, W., Scherer, L.-R., Pufelski, J., van Maarseveen, F., Denissen, B., Bijleveld, A., et al. (2022). Vildehaye: a family of versatile, widely-applicable, and field-proven lightweight wildlife tracking and sensing tags. arXiv:2206.06171v1 [cs.NI]. https://doi.org/10.1109%2Fipsn54338.2022.00008.
- Toscano, B.J., Gownaris, N.J., Heerhartz, S.M., and Monaco, C.J. (2016). Personality, foraging behavior and specialization: integrating behavioral and food web ecology at the individual level. Oecologia *182*, 55–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-016-3648-8.
- Tremmel, M., and Müller, C. (2012). Insect personality depends on environmental conditions. Behav. Ecol. 24, 386–392. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/ars175.
- Trierweiler, C., Klaassen, R.H.G., Drent, R.H., Exo, K.-M., Komdeur, J., Bairlein, F., and Koks, B.J. (2014). Migratory connectivity and population-specific migration routes in a longdistance migratory bird. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 281, 20132897. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rspb.2013.2897.

U

Urszán, T.J., Garamszegi, L.Z., Nagy, G., Hettyey, A., Török, J., and Herczeg, G. (2018). Experience during development triggers between-individual variation in behavioural plasticity. J. Anim. Ecol. 87, 1264–1273. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12847.

V

- Valone, T.J. (2007). From eavesdropping on performance to copying the behavior of others: a review of public information use. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. *62*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-007-0439-6.
- van Gils, J.A. (2004). Foraging decisions in a digestively constrained long-distance migrant, the red knot *Calidris canutus*. PhD Thesis. Rijksuniversiteit Groningen.
- van Gils, J.A., and Piersma, T. (1999). Day- and night-time movements of radiomarked Red Knots staging in the western Wadden Sea in July-August 1995. Wader Study Group Bull. *89*, 36–44.
- van Gils, J.A., Piersma, T., Dekinga, A., and Dietz, M.W. (2003). Cost-benefit analysis of mollusceating in a shorebird. II. Optimizing gizzard size in the face of seasonal demands. J. Exp. Biol. 206, 3369–3380. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00546
- van Gils, J.A., Rooij, S.R.D.E., van Belle, J., van der Meer, J., Dekinga, A., Piersma, T., and Drent, R. (2005). Digestive bottleneck affects foraging decisions in red knots *Calidris canutus*. I. Prey choice: prey choice under a digestive constraint. J. Anim. Ecol. 74, 105–119. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2004.00903.x.
- van Gils, J.A., Dekinga, A., van den Hout, P.J., Spaans, B., and Piersma, T. (2007). Digestive organ size and behavior of red knots *Calidris canutus* indicate the quality of their benthic food stocks. Isr. J. Ecol. Evol. 53, 329–346. https://doi.org/10.1560/IJEE.53.3.329.
- van Gils, J.A., Lisovski, S., Lok, T., Meissner, W., Ożarowska, A., de Fouw, J., Rakhimberdiev, E., Soloviev, M.Y., Piersma, T., and Klaassen, M. (2016). Body shrinkage due to Arctic warming reduces red knot fitness in tropical wintering range. Science 352, 819–821. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.aad6351.
- van de Waal, E., Borgeaud, C., and Whiten, A. (2013). Potent social learning and conformity shape a wild primate's foraging decisions. Science *340*, 483–485. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1232769.
- van den Hout, P.J. (2009). Mortality is the tip of an iceberg of fear: Peregrines *Falco peregrinus* and shorebirds in the Wadden Sea. Limosa *82*, 122–133.
- van den Hout, P.J., van Gils, J.A., Robin, F., van der Geest, M., Dekinga, A., and Piersma, T. (2014). Interference from adults forces young red knots to forage for longer and in dangerous places. Anim. Behav. 88, 137–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.11.020.
- van Oers, K., Drent, P.J., de Goede, P., and van Noordwijk, A.J. (2004). Realized heritability and repeatability of risk-taking behaviour in relation to avian personalities. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. 271, 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2003.2518.
- van Overveld, T., and Matthysen, E. (2010). Personality predicts spatial responses to food manipulations in free-ranging great tits *Parus major*. Biol. Lett. 6, 187–190. https://doi. org/10.1098/rsbl.2009.0764.
- van Valen, L. (1965). Morphological variation and width of ecological niche. Am. Nat. 99, 377– 390. https://doi.org/10.1086/282379.
- Vardanis, Y., Klaassen, R.H.G., Strandberg, R., and Alerstam, T. (2011). Individuality in bird migration: routes and timing. Biol. Lett. 7, 502–505. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2010.1180.
- Verbeek, M.E.M., Drent, P.J., and Wiepkema, P.R. (1994). Consistent individual differences in early exploratory behaviour of male great tits. Anim. Behav. 48, 1113–1121. https://doi. org/10.1006/anbe.1994.1344.
- Villegas-Ríos, D., Réale, D., Freitas, C., Moland, E., and Olsen, E.M. (2018). Personalities influence spatial responses to environmental fluctuations in wild fish. J. Anim. Ecol. 87, 1309–1319. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12872.

W

- Walther, G.-R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T.J.C., Fromentin, J.-M., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., and Bairlein, F. (2002). Ecological responses to recent climate change. Nature 416, 389–395. https://doi.org/10.1038/416389a.
- Watts, D.P. (1985). Observations on the ontogeny of feeding behavior in mountain gorillas Gorilla gorilla beringei. Am. J. Primatol. 8, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.1350080102.
- Webber, Q.M.R., Laforge, M.P., Bonar, M., Robitaille, A.L., Hart, C., Zabihi-Seissan, S., and van der Wal, E. (2020). The ecology of individual differences empirically applied to space-use and movement tactics. Am. Nat. 196, E1-E15. https://doi.org/10.1086/708721.
- Weiser, A.W., Orchan, Y., Nathan, R., Charter, M., Weiss, A.J., and Toledo, S. (2016). Characterizing the accuracy of a self-synchronized reverse-GPS wildlife localization system. In 2016 15th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Information Processing in Sensor Networks (IPSN), 1–12.
- West-Eberhard, M.J. (2005). Developmental plasticity and the origin of species differences. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0501844102.
- Whitfield, D.P., and Brade, J.J. (1991). The breeding behaviour of the Knot *Calidris canutus*. Ibis *133*, 246–255. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1991.tb04566.x.

- Wikelski, M., and Tertitski, G. (2016). Living sentinels for climate change effects. Science 352, 775–776. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf6544.
- Williams, H.J., and Safi, K. (2021). Certainty and integration of options in animal movement. Trends Ecol. Evol. *36*, 990–999. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2021.06.013.
- Wilson, A.J. (2018). How should we interpret estimates of individual repeatability? Evol Lett 2, 4–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/ev13.40.
- Wilson, M.R. (1998). Adaptive individual differences within single populations. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B *353*, 199–205. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1998.0202.
- Wilson, J.R., and Morrison, R.I.G. (1992). Staging studies of Knots Calidris canutus islandica in Iceland in the early1970s: body mass patterns. Wader Study Group Bulletin 64, 129–136.
- Wolf, M., and McNamara, J.M. (2012). On the evolution of personalities via frequency-dependent selection. Am. Nat. 179, 679–692. https://doi.org/10.1086/665656.
- Wolf, M., and Weissing, F.J. (2010). An explanatory framework for adaptive personality differences. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 365, 3959–3968. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0215.
- Wolf, M., and Weissing, F.J. (2012). Animal personalities: consequences for ecology and evolution. Trends Ecol. Evol. 27, 452–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2012.05.001.
- Wright, J., Bolstad, G.H., Araya-Ajoy, Y.G., and Dingemanse, N.J. (2018). Life-history evolution under fluctuating density-dependent selection and the adaptive alignment of pace-of-life syndromes. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 94, 230–247. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12451.

Z

- Zhang, S., Ma, Z., Feng, C., Melville, D.S., van Gils, J.A., and Piersma, T. (2019). Individual diet differences in a molluscivore shorebird are associated with the size of body instruments for internal processing rather than for feeding. J. Avian Biol. 50, e02255. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jav.02255.
- Zwarts, L.I. (1997). Waders and their estuarine food supplies. PhD Thesis. Rijksuniversiteit Groningen.
- Zwarts, L.I. (1985). The winter exploitation of fiddler crabs *Uca tangeri* by waders in Guinea-Bissau. Ardea 73, 3–12.
- Zwarts, L.I., Blomert, A.M., and Wanink, J.H. (1992). Annual and seasonal variation in the food supply harvestable by knot *Calidris canutus* staging in the Wadden Sea in late summer. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 83, 129–139. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps083113.

List of publications

- Ersoy, S., Beardsworth, C. E., Dekinga, A., van der Meer, M. T. J., Piersma, T., Groothuis, T. G. G., & Bijleveld, A. I. (2022). Exploration speed in captivity predicts foraging tactics and diet in free-living red knots. Journal of Animal Ecology 91, 356-366. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13632.
- Ersoy, S., Maag, N., Boehly, T., Boucherie, P.H., Bugnyar, T. (2021) Sex-specific parental care during post fledging in common ravens. Animal Behaviour *181*, 95-103 https://doi. org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2021.09.004.
- Čavojová, V & Ersoy, S. (2019) The role of scientific reasoning and religious beliefs in use of complementary and alternative medicine. Journal of Public Health 42, e239–e248. https:// doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdz120.

List of publications

Author contact information

Christine E. Beardsworth

NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research, Department of Coastal Systems, PO Box 59, 1790 AB Den Burg, Texel, The Netherlands Email: christine.beardsworth@nioz.nl

Allert I. Bijleveld

NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research, Department of Coastal Systems, PO Box 59, 1790 AB Den Burg, Texel, The Netherlands Email: allert.bijleveld@nioz.nl

Anne Dekinga

NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research, Department of Coastal Systems, PO Box 59, 1790 AB Den Burg, Texel, The Netherlands Email: anne.dekinga@nioz.nl

Elif Duran

Izmir University of Economics, Department of Psychology, Sakarya Cad. No:156, Balcova, 65330, İzmir, Turkey Email: elifduran35@outlook.com

Ton G. G. Groothuis

Groningen Institute for Evolutionary Life Sciences (GELIFES), University of Groningen, PO Box 11103, 9700 CC, Groningen, The Netherlands Email: a.g.g.groothuis@rug.nl

Pratik Gupte

Groningen Institute for Evolutionary Life Sciences (GELIFES), University of Groningen, PO Box 11103, 9700 CC, Groningen, The Netherlands Email: p.gupte@rug.nl

Selin Ersoy

NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research, Department of Coastal Systems, PO Box 59, 1790 AB Den Burg, Texel, The Netherlands

Groningen Institute for Evolutionary Life Sciences (GELIFES), University of Groningen, PO Box 11103, 9700 CC, Groningen, The Netherlands Email: selin.ersoy@gmail.com

Marcel T. J. van der Meer

NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research, Department of Marine Microbiology & Biogeochemistry, PO Box 59, 1790 AB Den Burg, Texel, The Netherlands Email: marcel.van.der.meer@nioz.nl

Theunis Piersma

NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research, Department of Coastal Systems, PO Box 59, 1790 AB Den Burg, Texel, The Netherlands Rudi Drent Chair in Global Flyway Ecology, Conservation Ecology Group, Groningen Institute for Evolutionary Life Sciences (GELIFES), University of Groningen, PO Box 11103, 9700 CC, Groningen, The Netherlands Email: theunis.piersma@nioz.nl

Aileen Roncoroni

NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research, Department of Coastal Systems, PO Box 59, 1790 AB Den Burg, Texel, The Netherlands Email: aileen.roncoroni@gmail.com

Summary

Individuals of all ages and sexes show behavioural traits that are consistent over time, but differ across individuals, and affect the expression of behaviours in different situations (hereafter: personality traits). This consistent behavioural traits have been shown to have consistent ecological and evolutionary consequences. Therefore, identifying the variation in personality traits, understanding the origin of the variation, and how it is maintained in natural populations is important. The work presented in this thesis provides a comprehensive definition of consistent individual differences in exploratory behaviour as a personality trait and gives new insights to understand the origin and maintenance of this behavioural trait in the wild.

We studied red knots (*Calidris canutus islandica*) that breed in the high Arctic of northern Greenland and north-east Canada and winter in the large mudflat areas of western Wadden Sea Researchers has been studying red knots for several decades, providing a thorough understanding of the species' diet, habitat preferences, survival rates, migration routes, and behavioural and morphological flexibilities and limitations. Red knots show high individual consistency in exploration behaviour in captivity, and exploratory personality has been linked to diet choice and space use in the wild. We adapted the existing experimental setup to assay exploration to be used in the field so that we were able to eliminate the effects of captivity and relate experimentally quantified personalities to individual post-release movement and foraging patterns. We combined personality assays in controlled settings with field observations of foraging tactics, stable isotope for diet analysis and migration timing, and movement tracking to investigate the associations between exploration, foraging, diet, and movement in the wild.

To identify the variation in exploration as a personality trait, **Chapter Two** investigates the connection between exploration, foraging behaviour, and diet. We assessed how personality measured in controlled settings predicts foraging tactics and diet in the wild. Combining laboratory experiments, field observations and stable isotope analyses, we found that faster exploring red knots use more visual foraging tactics and eat soft prey while slower exploring red knots rely mainly on tactile foraging and feed on hard-shelled prey.

To understand the origin of the variation in exploration, **Chapter Three** investigated how relation between exploration and diet develops during ontogeny. We compared repeatability and consistency of exploratory behaviour and diet width of juvenile and adult red knots after their arrival from breeding grounds to wintering grounds. We asked whether the amount of time that juveniles on a marine diet was correlated with consistency of exploratory behaviour. We found that juvenile red knots have a more diverse diet, lower repeatability, and larger within-individual variation in exploration than adults, while among-individual variation in exploration did not differ between age groups. Slower (vs. faster) exploring juveniles had larger variance in their exploration repeats however, variation in juvenile exploration tests did not covary with the amount of time that juveniles were on a marine diet in the Wadden Sea.

To understand how personality traits measured in artificial context can predict movement behaviour in the wild, **Chapter Four** investigated personality-related movement patterns in different contexts (day and night) in the wild. We assessed exploration speed of red knots in controlled settings and then released the same birds with ATLAS transmitters to investigate fine-scale movement in the field. We found that faster exploring red knots differed in movement patterns at night more than slower explorers; specifically, faster (vs. slower) exploring knots visited fewer patches but travelled further between the patches, and stayed longer, travelled longer, and displaced further in patches at night. In contrast, movement parameters during the day did not differ between individuals according to exploration scores.

To investigate how individuals living in groups can benefit from using social information about foraging opportunities, **Box 1** investigated the link between personality and foraging success in group foraging scenarios. We conducted experiments to investigate the relationship between exploratory personality and foraging success (i.e., speed of finding food) of captive red knots. We found that faster-exploring individuals were also faster in finding food than slower explorers, when tested individually. All individuals found food faster when in a group than tested individually. However, slower exploring knots became faster in finding food than faster explorers with increasing group size.

To understand whether exploration measured in experimental setups could be extrapolated to a larger and more complex context, **Chapter Five** investigated the link between exploration and migratory behaviour. We studied the post-breeding arrival Summary

timing in the Dutch Wadden Sea of red knots and asked whether arrival timing was related to the exploratory behaviour. Because males take care of the broods after hatching, we also investigated differences in arrival timing between the sexes. We found that females arrived in the Wadden Sea earlier than males. Arrival timing was also correlated with exploration speed where faster exploring red knots arrived later than slower exploring red knots. Sex and exploration speed did not show an interaction with arrival date.

In **Chapter Seven**, the General Discussion, I summarise the main findings from the previous chapters and discuss some of the main conclusions from different perspectives. I further question the definition of potentially controversial key concepts in animal personality research and suggest directions for future studies. Finally, this thesis contributes to current and future studies with filling a gap in the literature to link an experimentally measured personality trait to real-world behavioural strategies and demonstrates the importance of studying personality across contexts.

Samenvatting

Individuen van alle leeftijden en geslachten vertonen consistente gedragsverschillen. Deze consistente gedragsvariaties tussen tussen individuen (hierna; 'persoonlijkheidskenmerken') komen tot uiting op verschillende manieren in verschillende situaties en blijken ecologische en evolutionaire consequenties te hebben. Het is daarom belangrijk om niet allen de variatie in persoonlijkheidskenmerken te bepalen, maar ook het ontstaan ervan te begrijpen en te onderzoeken hoe deze individuële variatie in natuurlijke populaties wordt behouden.

Wij bestudeerden kanoeten (Calidris canutus islandica) die in het poolgebied van Noord-Groenland en het noordoosten van Canada broeden en overwinteren in de grote slikgebieden van het westelijk deel van de Waddenzee. Onderzoekers hebben kanoeten al tientallen jaren bestudeerd, waardoor er veel informatie beschikbaar is over dieet, voorkeur voor habitat, overleving, migratieroutes, en flexibiliteit en limitaties in gedrag en morfologie. In gevangenschap laten kanoeten laten een hoge individuele consistentie zien in exploratief gedrag. De mate van exploratie is bovendien gerelateert aan dieetkeuze en ruimtelijk gebruik in het wild. Wij hebben een bestaande experimentele opzet aangepast zodat het mogelijk was om exploratie ook te testen in het veld. Op deze manier konden we de effecten van vervoer en langdurige gevangenschap vermijden en de experimenteel bepaalde persoonlijkheid van elk individu vergelijken met ruimtelijk gebruik en foerageerpatronen na vrijlating. We combineerden persoonlijkheidstesten in een gecontroleerde omgeving met veldobservaties van foerageertactieken, stabiele isotopen voor dieetanalyse en de timing van migratie, en volgden ruimtelijk gebruik d.m.v. zendertjes om de verbanden tussen exploratie, foerageergedrag, dieet en ruimtelijk gebruik in het wild te bestuderen.

Om de variatie in exploratie te identificeren als persoonlijkheidskenmerken, onderzoeken we in **Hoofdstuk twee** het verband tussen exploratiegedrag, foerageergedrag, en dieet. We hebben onderzocht hoe persoonlijkheid, gemeten in een gecontroleerde omgeving, foerageertactieken en het dieet in het wild kan voorspellen. Door laboratoriumexperimenten, veldobservaties, en stabiele isotopen analyses te combineren, ontdekten we dat kanoeten met een snellere exploratie-score meer visuele foerageertactieken gebruiken en zachtere prooidieren eten (schaaldieren zoals garnalen en krabbetjes), terwijl kanoeten met een langzamere exploratie-score hoofdzakelijk op de tast foerageren op prooidieren met een harde schaal (schelpdieren zoals nonnetjes). Samenvatting

Om te begrijpen waar de variatie in exploratiegedrag vandaan komt, onderzoeken we in **Hoofdstuk drie** hoe de relatie tussen exploratie en dieet ontstaat tijdens de ontwikkeling (otogenie) van een individu. We hebben de herhaalbaarheid en consistentie van gemeten exploratie gedrag en de variëteit in dieet vergeleken tussen juveniele kanoeten en volwassen kanoeten, nadat zij uit de broedgebieden arriveerden in overwinteringsgebieden. We bekijken of de ervaring met een marine dieet van juveniele kanoeten gecorreleerd is met de consistentie van het gemeten exploratiegedrag. We concluderen dat juveniele kanoeten een grotere verscheidenheid aan prooien eten, een lagere herhaalbaarheid van exploratie laten zien, en een grotere variatie tussen individuen in exploratiegedrag vertonen ten opzichte van volwassen kanoeten. Tegelijkertijd verschilt de variatie in exploratiegedrag tussen individuen van dezelfde leeftijdsgroepen niet. Juvenielen met een langzamere exploratie-score (versus snellere) vertoonden een grotere variantie in de herhalingen van hun exploratie-scores, echter, deze variatie in juveniele exploratie-scores zijn niet gecorreleerd aan de tijd die zij, terugekeerd van de toendra, alin de Waddenzee hebben doorgebracht.

Om te begrijpen hoe persoonlijkheidskenmerken, gemeten in een kunstmatige context, gedrag en bewegingspatronen in het wild kunnen voorspellen, analyseren we in **Hoofdstuk vier** hoe persoonlijkheid is gerelateerd aan bewegingspatronen in verschillende contexten (dag en nacht) in het wild. We beoordeelden exploratie-scores van kanoeten in een gecontroleerde setting waarna we dezelfde vogels uitrustten met een ATLAS-zendertje om nauwkeurig hun bewegingen in het veld te volgen. We zagen dat kanoeten met snellere exploratie-scores 's nachts verschillen in bewegingspatronen van kanoeten met een langzamere exploratie-score; in het bijzonder, kanoeten met een snelle exploratie-score bezochten 's nachts minder voedselgebieden maar legden grotere afstanden af tussen de gebieden, waar ze langer verbleven en langer onderweg naar toe waren. Dit in tegenstelling tot overdag, waarin we geen significante verschillen zagen in bewegingspatronen tussen individuen met verschillende exploratiescores.

Om te onderzoeken hoe individuen die in groepen leven kunnen profiteren van het gebruik van sociale informatie over foerageermogelijkheden, onderzocht **Box 1** de relatie tussen persoonlijkheid en foerageersucces foerageerscenarios in groepen. We hebben experimenten uitgevoerd om de relatie tussen exploratieve persoonlijkheid en foerageersucces (snelheid van het vinden van voedsel) van kanoeten in gevangenschap te onderzoeken. We vonden dat sneller verkennende individuen ook sneller waren in het vinden van voedsel dan langzamere individuen wanneer ze individueel werden getest. Alle individuen vonden sneller voedsel in een groep dan als ze alleen getest werden. Echter, langzamere verkennende kanoeten werden sneller in het vinden van voedsel dan snellere verkenners met een toenemende groepsgrootte.

Om te begrijpen of exploratie gemeten in experimentele opstellingen geëxtrapoleerd zouden kunnen worden naar een grotere en complexere context, onderzocht **Hoofdstuk vijf** de relatie tussen exploratie en migratie gedrag. We onderzochten de aankomst timing in de Nederlandse Waddenzee van kanoeten na het broeden en vroegen ons af of aankomst timing gerelateerd was aan verkenningsgedrag. Omdat mannetjes voor het broedsel zorgen na het uitkomen hebben we ook het verschil in aankomst timing tussen de geslachten bekeken. We vonden dat vrouwtjes eerder in de Waddenzee aankomen dan mannetjes. Aankomst timing was ook gecorreleerd aan verkenningssnelheid: snellere verkennende kanoeten kwamen later aan dan langzaam verkennende kanoeten. Geslacht en verkenningssnelheid waren niet gecorreleerd met aankomstdatum.

In **Hoofdstuk zeven**, de algemene discussie, vat ik de belangrijkste bevindingen uit de voorgaande hoofdstukken samen en bespreek ik enkele van de belangrijkste conclusies vanuit verschillende perspectieven. Verder zet ik vraagtekens bij de definitie van potentieel controversiële sleutelconcepten in het persoonlijkheidsonderzoek van dieren en suggereer ik richtingen voor vervolgonderzoek. Ten slotte draagt dit proefschrift bij aan huidige en toekomstige studies door het opvullen van een gat in de literatuur om een experimenteel gemeten persoonlijkheidseigenschap te koppelen aan *real-world* gedragsstrategieën en toont het belang van het bestuderen van persoonlijkheid in verschillende contexten.



Acknowledgements/Teşekkürler

My PhD research with red knots was a dream come true. From the early years of my studies, I have always wanted to investigate the individual behaviour of animals. This project, red knots, and the people I have privileged to worked with provided me a great opportunity and finishing this thesis has left me with a great feeling of fulfilment. There are many people who supported me during my PhD, and I hope I haven't forgotten anyone.

First and foremost, I would like to thank the person who made this project so enjoyable, **Allert**. Thank you for sharing your enthusiasm, scientific and non-scientific discussions, always making me feel supported, and for becoming a friend. I am very grateful for you giving me a lot of independence in the fieldwork, data collection, and analyses. I have learned so much from you and I am proud to be your first academic child!

I would like to thank my promoters **Theunis** and **Ton**. **Theunis**, thank you for being very supportive, consultation on scientific questions, and being very fast in responding to emails and giving feedbacks. **Ton**, thank you for scientific discussions, picking my brain, and pushing me to think out of the box. I have learned so much from both of you and I am grateful for your supports.

Dear professors of the reading committee (Melanie Dammhahn, Judy Shamoun-Baranes, Christiaan Both), thank you so much for taking your time and assessing my PhD. Dear Orr Spiegel, thank you for being in my assessment committee during the defence. Thank you Suus, Evy, Mees and Theunis for translating the summary to Dutch. Thank you Suus for the wonderful art you made for the cover of my thesis!

Christine, I still cannot believe we share the same birthday, and I am only 2hr older than you! Working from home with you was the most productive parts of my PhD. Without your input, this thesis would never be the same. Thank you for commenting on and improving my manuscripts, and never making me feel lonely during corona quarantine periods. I have learned so much from you and I am so happy that you are becoming a PI to pass your skills to many more students.

My dear paranymph **Emma**, I am so happy that we shared an amazing time on Griend. I have learned so much from you on fieldwork, shorebirds, and organisation. I am so happy that we even have a collaboration out of that time together. Thank you for your friendship, support, and being my home in Groningen.

Paranymph'cim **Zeynep**, NIOZ'a vardigim ilk gunden son gunume kadar yanimda oldugun icin cok tesekkur ederim. Senin destegin, yardimlarin, guzel arkadasligin olmasaydi Texel benim icin ayni yer olmazdi, iyi ki varsin!

All the research presented here is based on data collected on **Griend** islet in the Dutch Wadden Sea, and numerous people have been involve to make my research possible. First, I want to thank master and bachelor students who did their project with me. **Haley**, **Daphne**, **Maartje**, **Aileen**, and **Elif**, it was great to work with you! **Dieke**, **Robbie**, **Nino**, **Jan** and **Jort** thank you for volunteering and helping me on the data collection! **Emma**, **Benjamin**, **Roeland**, **Christine**, **Calu**, **Evy**, **Pratik**, **Martijn**, **Anita**, thank you for your help in the field. **Anne**, **Job**, and **Luc**, I am grateful for your help and efforts on catching and caring for red knots. **Frank**, **Bas**, **Ran**, **Sivan**, thank you for your help designing and maintaining the **WATLAS** tracking system. Without you I would not have this immense dataset to work with. **WimJan**, thank you for transporting me back and forth from Griend in the most stormy weathers on **Stern**. **RV Navicula** (**Bram**, **Klaas-Jan**, **Hein**), thank you for making the fieldwork comfortable.

There is a large group of people at **NIOZ**, who gave me support in scientific and nonscientific questions, and brighten my lunch and coffee breaks in the office or sometimes after office hours, at the beach or the pub. I was the first PhD student of Allert but his group at NIOZ is growing bigger and bigger. **Christine**, **Evy**, **Jenna**, **Emma**, **Roeland**, **Paula**, **Hailley**, and shorter-term students **Mees**, **Verissa**, **Jynthe**, **Margot**, **Calu**, **Elif**, **Kelly**, **Aileen**, **Hailey**, **Sterre**, **Lotte**, **Daphne**, **Maartje**, thank you for the fun weekly meetings. It was great to be part of the team! **Bruna**, even though we are not finishing together, it was great to start our PhD's together and share our first home on Texel. **Mark**, thanks for being a wonderful office mate and friend (and Dante's friend). **Misha**, thanks for being my cohort buddy. **Clea**, thank you for always asking out-of-the-box questions, coming up with last-minute plans, and exciting ideas! Ginny, **Hebo**, and **Shoudong**, thank you for amazing Chinese dinners! **Tim**, **Tom**, **Carljin**, **Jeroen**, **Tjitske**, **Sterre**, **Solveig**, thank you for keeping the COS PhD spirits up. **Eva**, thanks for introducing me to exploration measurements and your scientific advice on juvenile chapter. **Thomas**, thank you for showing me how to calculate arrival date from isotope data, and many other scientific advice. **Roos**, thank you for nice discussions and maybe we will get back to the survival paper one day! **Marie**, even though it was short, it was great to share the office with you. Thank you for your everyday chocolate offers! **Tamar**, thank you for taking me to catch and handle spoonbill babies, it was an experience of a lifetime! **Anieke**, thank you for nice scientific and non-scientific conversations, your tips on scientific writing and preparing a CV. **Jan**, thank you for sharing your enthusiasm both on science and parties. **Darcie**, thank you for making me laugh every time I see you on my way to my office, and being so nice and welcoming. **Marcel** and **Ronald**, thank you for teaching me all the secrets of isotopes. **Anja**, thank you for wonderful discussions on the gut microbiome, I hope that project will be finalised soon (with or without me). **Jan-Berend** and **Meta**, NIOZ is a different place with and without you (Meta), thank you for letting us stay in your beach house, that was amazing! I am also thankful for the advice, discussions, and help from **Jaroen**, **Kiki**, **Valerie**, **Matthijs**, **Martin**, and **Paolo**.

I was so fortunate to have beautiful friends that I could call them my family on Texel. **Zey**, sen olmasaydin Turk yemeklerini epey ozlerdim. Bana borek yapmayi, bahcede sebze yetistirmeyi ogrettigin icin cok tesekkurler, iyi ki ev arkadasim ve corona partnerim oldun! **Suus**, thank you for wonderful conversations over red wine, being down to earth, and making me laugh all the time. **Diana**, **Ale** (and **Iara**), thank you so much for sharing delicious food and drinks, fun parties -especially my 30th birthday-, and your wonderful friendship. **Ginny**, thank you for pushing me to do more sports, giving me scientific advice when I needed, and it's so great that we share our life not only on Texel but also now in Sempach. **Misha** and **Lena**, thank you for wonderful bbq's and spontaneous beer drinking on the verge, you are still Dante's favourite! **Jess** and **Philip**, thank you for all the homemade beer, dinners and being there whenever we needed help. **Tini** and **Luc**, thank you for delicious fish, dinners, spontaneous conversations, and taking over the garden and making it so beautiful!

I would also like to thank my chosen family, my dear friends for many years that gave me strength and have always supported me. **Ezgi**, **Duygu**, **Oyku**, **Selin**, **Irem**, yillardir hep yanimda oldugunuz icin cok tesekkurler, sizinle buyudum. Iyi ki varsiniz. **Sara**, **Tim**, **Tanja**, **Dave**, **Rita**, **Ryan**, **Rute**, **Philip**, **Debbie**, **Robbie**, thank you for your support and friendship since Kalahari. **Eliska** and **Ondra**, thank you for visiting me in all different locations. **Thomas** and **Therese**, thank you for your friendship, sharing the sauna steams, and all the reggae music. **Megan**, **Paul**, (and **Leo**), thank you for your endless support and being our home in Zurich. **Marlene** (Mami), **Cyrill**, **Regula**, **Lino**, **Lucy**, **Levin**, **Nathalie**, thank you so much for your support, love, and making me feel home in Switzerland, through Nino, you also become my family in Switzerland. **Bruno** and **Evelyn**, thank you for your support and being our home in Germany.

Annecim ve babacim, sizin desteginiz ve bana kattiklariniz icin ne kadar tesekkur etsem azdir. Her hayalimi desteklediginiz, Kars'tan Ingiltere'ye, Afrika'dan Avrupa'ya kadar surekli yanima oldugunuzu hatirlattiginiz icin cok tesekkur ederim. Umarim bu tez, verdiklerinizin biraz da karsiligi olabilir. Abicim ve Atlas'cim iyi ki varsiniz ve iyi ki yanimdasiniz. Dante'cim, uzumlu kekim, thank you for making me go out to get fresh air every day.

And my love, my life partner, my **Nino**. Meeting you in Kalahari was the best outcome of my scientific adventures. Thank you so much for all the love and support you gave me before and during my PhD. We even became husband and wife at the end of this PhD! Thank you for taking me out to the wild, and enjoying the sounds, smells, and wonders of nature with me. Thank you for feeding me and keeping me sane towards the end of my thesis. I look forward to many more adventures in my life with you.